UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

Quarterly Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the quarterly period ended **September 26, 2014**

Commission File Number: 001-09249	
GRACO	INC.
(Exact name of registrant as	specified in its charter)
Minnesota	41-0285640
(State of incorporation)	(I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)
88 - 11 th Avenue N.E. Minneapolis, Minnesota (Address of principal executive offices)	<u>55413</u> (Zip Code)
(612) 623-6 (Registrant's telephone number	6000 er, including area code)
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports require of 1934 during the preceding 12 months, and (2) has been subject to such fi	
Yes <u>X</u> N	lo
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically a File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation the registrant was required to submit and post such files).	
Yes <u>X</u> N	lo
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" a	
Large Accelerated Filer X	Accelerated Filer
Non-accelerated Filer	Smaller reporting company
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined	d in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).
Yes	No <u>X</u>

59,469,000 shares of the Registrant's Common Stock, \$1.00 par value, were outstanding as of October 15, 2014.

INDEX

			<u>Page Number</u>
PART I	FINANCIA	AL INFORMATION	
	Item 1.	<u>Financial Statements</u>	
		Consolidated Statements of Earnings Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Consolidated Balance Sheets Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	3 3 4 5 6
	Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	17
	Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	24
	Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	24
PART II	OTHER IN	IFORMATION	
	Item 1A.	Risk Factors	25
	Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	26
	Item 6.	<u>Exhibits</u>	27
SIGNATU	<u>JRES</u>		
EXHIBIT	S		

PART I Item 1. GRACO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

(Unaudited) (In thousands except per share amounts)

	Thirteen We	eeks Ended	Thirty-nine Weeks Ended			
	Sep 26,	Sep 27,	Sep 26,	Sep 27,		
	2014	2013	2014	2013		
Net Sales	\$ 302,614	\$ 277,035	\$ 915,125	\$ 832,101		
Cost of products sold	136,800	126,162	413,149	371,845		
Gross Profit	165,814	150,873	501,976	460,256		
Product development	13,785	12,508	40,349	37,396		
Selling, marketing and distribution	47,466	44,297	143,311	132,207		
General and administrative	25,656	24,342	78,856	74,213		
Operating Earnings	78,907	69,726	239,460	216,440		
Interest expense	4,566	4,450	13,830	13,837		
Other expense (income), net	(8,210)	(8,425)	(22,402)	(23,671)		
Earnings Before Income Taxes	82,551	73,701	248,032	226,274		
Income taxes	23,000	17,600	71,500	60,200		
Net Earnings	\$ 59,551	\$ 56,101	\$ 176,532	\$ 166,074		
Per Common Share						
Basic net earnings	\$ 0.99	\$ 0.91	\$ 2.92	\$ 2.71		
Diluted net earnings	\$ 0.97	\$ 0.89	\$ 2.85	\$ 2.65		
Cash dividends declared	\$ 0.28	\$ 0.25	\$ 0.83	\$ 0.75		

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Unaudited) (In thousands)

	Thi	irteen We	Ended	Th	irty-nine W	Veeks Ended		
	Se	p 26,	S	Sep 27,	Sep 26,		(Sep 27,
	2	014		2013 2014		2014	2014 20	
Net Earnings	\$	59,551	\$	56,101	\$	176,532	\$	166,074
Other comprehensive income (loss)								
Cumulative translation adjustment	(:	12,888)		8,866		(14,882)		3,011
Pension and postretirement medical liability								
adjustment		1,463		2,304		3,876		7,090
Income taxes								
Pension and postretirement medical liability								
adjustment		(490)		(835)		(1,354)		(2,555)
Other comprehensive income (loss)	(:	11,915)		10,335		(12,360)		7,546
Comprehensive Income	\$	47,636	\$	66,436	\$	164,172	\$	173,620

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

GRACO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited) (In thousands)

		Sep 26, 2014	Dec 27, 2013
ASSETS			
Current Assets			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	28,737	\$ 19,756
Accounts receivable, less allowances of \$6,900 and \$6,300		214,670	183,293
Inventories		149,023	133,787
Deferred income taxes		21,338	18,827
Investment in businesses held separate		421,767	422,297
Other current assets		8,976	 14,633
Total current assets		844,511	792,593
Property, Plant and Equipment			
Cost		429,430	407,887
Accumulated depreciation		(269,835)	(256,170)
Property, plant and equipment, net	-	159,595	 151,717
Goodwill		221,737	189,967
Other Intangible Assets, net		153,206	147,940
Deferred Income Taxes		22,787	20,366
Other Assets		25,982	24,645
Total Assets	\$	1,427,818	\$ 1,327,228
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY			
Current Liabilities			
Notes payable to banks	\$	6,161	\$ 9,584
Trade accounts payable		37,612	34,282
Salaries and incentives		36,071	38,939
Dividends payable		16,500	16,881
Other current liabilities		63,569	69,167
Total current liabilities		159,913	168,853
Long-term Debt		508,750	408,370
Retirement Benefits and Deferred Compensation		93,480	94,705
Deferred Income Taxes		19,634	20,935
Shareholders' Equity			
Common stock		59,672	61,003
Additional paid-in-capital		374,628	347,058
Retained earnings		270,450	272,653
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)		(58,709)	(46,349)
Total shareholders' equity		646,041	 634,365
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity	\$	1,427,818	\$ 1,327,228

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

GRACO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited) (In thousands)

	Thirty-nine Weeks Ended				
		Sep 26,		Sep 27,	
		2014		2013	
Cash Flows From Operating Activities					
Net Earnings	\$	176,532	\$	166,074	
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities					
Depreciation and amortization		27,621		27,748	
Deferred income taxes		(7,079)		(5,873)	
Share-based compensation		13,810		11,178	
Excess tax benefit related to share-based payment arrangements		(3,700)		(5,100)	
Change in					
Accounts receivable		(31,632)		(23,685)	
Inventories		(12,889)		(11,012)	
Trade accounts payable		2,058		2,771	
Salaries and incentives		(3,323)		114	
Retirement benefits and deferred compensation		3,813		9,819	
Other accrued liabilities		7,661		11,189	
Other		(2,468)		(2,188)	
Net cash provided by operating activities		170,404		181,035	
Cash Flows From Investing Activities					
Property, plant and equipment additions		(25,284)		(15,218)	
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired		(65,219)		-	
Proceeds from sale of assets		-		1,600	
Investment in businesses held separate		530		4,516	
Other		(991)		(770)	
Net cash used in investing activities		(90,964)		(9,872)	
Cash Flows From Financing Activities	-	, ,		<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	
Borrowings (payments) on short-term lines of credit, net		(3,611)		1,265	
Borrowings on long-term line of credit		485,230		313,560	
Payments on long-term line of credit		(384,850)		(465,725)	
Payments of debt issuance costs		(890)		-	
Excess tax benefit related to share-based payment arrangements		3,700		5,100	
Common stock issued		21,987		33,598	
Common stock repurchased		(141,857)		(28,438)	
Cash dividends paid		(50,007)		(45,834)	
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities	-	(70,298)		(186,474)	
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash		(161)		1,458	
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		8,981		(13,853)	
Cash and cash equivalents		0,301		(10,000)	
Beginning of year		19,756		31,120	
End of period	Ф		Ф		
End of henon	\$	28,737	\$	17,267	

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

GRACO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

1. The consolidated balance sheet of Graco Inc. and Subsidiaries (the "Company") as of September 26, 2014 and the related statements of earnings for the thirteen and thirty-nine weeks ended September 26, 2014 and September 27, 2013, and cash flows for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 26, 2014 and September 27, 2013 have been prepared by the Company and have not been audited.

In the opinion of management, these consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments (consisting of only normal recurring adjustments) necessary to present fairly the financial position of the Company as of September 26, 2014, and the results of operations and cash flows for all periods presented.

Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles have been condensed or omitted. Therefore, these statements should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company's 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The results of operations for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results that will be realized for the full fiscal year.

2. The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share (in thousands, except per share amounts):

	T	Thirteen Weeks Ended				Thirty-nine Weeks Ended			
	S	Sep 26, 2014	Ş	Sep 27, 2013		Sep 26, 2014		Sep 27, 2013	
Net earnings available to common shareholders	\$	59,551	\$	56,101	\$	176,532	\$	166,074	
Weighted average shares outstanding for basic earnings per share		59,928		61,333		60,401		61,222	
Dilutive effect of stock options computed using the treasury stock method and the average market price		1,614		1,663		1,602		1,526	
Weighted average shares outstanding for diluted earnings per share		61,542		62,996		62,003		62,748	
Basic earnings per share	\$	0.99	\$	0.91	\$	2.92	\$	2.71	
Diluted earnings per share	\$	0.97	\$	0.89	\$	2.85	\$	2.65	

Stock options to purchase 617,000 and 387,000 shares were not included in the September 26, 2014 and September 27, 2013 computations of diluted earnings per share, respectively, because they would have been anti-dilutive.

3. Information on option shares outstanding and option activity for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 26, 2014 is shown below (in thousands, except per share amounts):

	Option Shares	Weighted Average Exercise Price		Average Exercise		Options Exercisable	A E	eighted verage xercise Price
Outstanding, December 27, 2013	5,149	\$	41.03	3,311	\$	33.20		
Granted	475		74.62					
Exercised	(358)		34.15					
Canceled	(32)		60.39					
Outstanding, September 26, 2014	5,234	\$	44.44	3,549	\$	34.96		

The Company recognized year-to-date share-based compensation of \$13.8 million in 2014 and \$11.2 million in 2013. As of September 26, 2014, there was \$16.1 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested options, expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.8 years.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions and results:

	Thirty-nine Weeks Ended				
	Sep 26,	Sep 27,			
	2014	2013			
Expected life in years	6.5	6.5			
Interest rate	2.0 %	1.2 %			
Volatility	36.1 %	36.3 %			
Dividend yield	1.5 %	1.7 %			
Weighted average fair value per share	\$ 24.83	\$ 18.29			

Under the Company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan, the Company issued 193,000 shares in 2014 and 197,000 shares in 2013. The fair value of the employees' purchase rights under this Plan was estimated on the date of grant. The benefit of the 15 percent discount from the lesser of the fair market value per common share on the first day and the last day of the plan year was added to the fair value of the employees' purchase rights determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions and results:

	Thirty-nine We	eeks Ended
	Sep 26,	Sep 27,
	2014	2013
Expected life in years	1.0	1.0
Interest rate	0.1 %	0.2 %
Volatility	21.4 %	26.0 %
Dividend yield	1.4 %	1.7 %
Weighted average fair value per share	\$ 17.81	\$ 14.16

4. The components of net periodic benefit cost for retirement benefit plans were as follows (in thousands):

	-	Thirteen Wo	eeks	Ended	Thirty-nine Weeks Ended			
	- 5	Sep 26,	,	Sep 27,		Sep 26,		Sep 27,
		2014		2013		2014		2013
Pension Benefits								
Service cost	\$	1,707	\$	1,948	\$	5,146	\$	5,538
Interest cost		3,909		3,627		11,985		10,625
Expected return on assets		(5,311)		(4,625)		(15,941)		(13,874)
Amortization and other		1,341		2,964		4,029		8,256
Net periodic benefit cost	\$	1,646	\$	3,914	\$	5,219	\$	10,545
Postretirement Medical								
Service cost	\$	115	\$	160	\$	365	\$	470
Interest cost		181		228		736		721
Amortization		(229)		(32)		(483)		(134)
Net periodic benefit cost	\$	67	\$	356	\$	618	\$	1,057

5. Changes in components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax were (in thousands):

	Pension and Post- retirement			umulative anslation		Takal
Thirteen Weeks Ended		Medical_	A	djustment		Total
September 27, 2013						
Beginning balance	\$	(76,650)	\$	(9,884)	\$	(96 E24)
Other comprehensive income before	Φ	(70,030)	Φ	(9,004)	Φ	(86,534)
reclassifications		_		8,866		8,866
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other				0,000		0,000
comprehensive income		1,469		_		1,469
Ending balance	\$	(75,181)	\$	(1,018)	\$	(76,199)
Litating balance	<u> </u>	(13,101)	Ψ	(1,010)	Ψ	(10,133)
Thirteen Weeks Ended						
September 26, 2014						
Beginning balance	\$	(48,583)	\$	1,789	\$	(46,794)
Other comprehensive income before						
reclassifications		-		(12,888)		(12,888)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other						
comprehensive income		973		-		973
Ending balance	\$	(47,610)	\$	(11,099)	\$	(58,709)
Thirty-nine Weeks Ended						
September 27, 2013						
Beginning balance	\$	(79,716)	\$	(4,029)	\$	(83,745)
Other comprehensive income before		, ,		, ,		
reclassifications		-		3,011		3,011
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other						
comprehensive income		4,535		-		4,535
Ending balance	\$	(75,181)	\$	(1,018)	\$	(76,199)
Thirty-nine Weeks Ended						
September 26, 2014						
Beginning balance	\$	(50,132)	\$	3,783	\$	(46,349)
Other comprehensive income before	—	(00,202)	Ψ	0,100	Ψ.	(10,010)
reclassifications		_		(14,882)		(14,882)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other				, ,)		(,===/
comprehensive income		2,522		-		2,522
Ending balance	\$	(47,610)	\$	(11,099)	\$	(58,709)
3	÷	(,)	÷	, , 7	÷	(,)

Amounts related to pension and postretirement medical adjustments are reclassified to pension cost, which is allocated to cost of products sold and operating expenses based on salaries and wages, approximately as follows (in thousands):

		Thirteen W	eeks E	nded	Т	Thirty-nine Weeks Ended			
	Sep 26,		S	Sep 27,		ep 26,	S	ep 27,	
	2014		2	2013		2014		2013	
Cost of products sold	\$	536	\$	824	\$	1,412	\$	2,577	
Product development		234		368		616		1,131	
Selling, marketing and distribution		427		663		1,116		1,987	
General and administrative		266		449		732		1,395	
Total before tax	\$	1,463	\$	2,304	\$	3,876	\$	7,090	
Income tax (benefit)		(490)		(835)		(1,354)		(2,555)	
Total after tax	\$	973	\$	1,469	\$	2,522	\$	4,535	

6. The Company has three reportable segments: Industrial (which aggregates five operating segments), Contractor and Lubrication. Sales and operating earnings by segment were as follows (in thousands):

	Thirteen We	eeks E	Ended	Thirty-nine Weeks Ended				
	Sep 26,		Sep 27,		Sep 26,		Sep 27,	
	2014		2013		2014		2013	
Net Sales		_						
Industrial	\$ 174,251	\$	156,654	\$	532,440	\$	480,500	
Contractor	99,414		92,942		295,441		269,068	
Lubrication	28,949		27,439		87,244		82,533	
Total	\$ 302,614	\$	277,035	\$	915,125	\$	832,101	
Operating Earnings								
Industrial	\$ 54,959	\$	49,429	\$	167,737	\$	156,178	
Contractor	23,358		21,459		69,897		62,370	
Lubrication	6,369		5,497		19,803		17,285	
Unallocated corporate (expense)	(5,779)		(6,659)		(17,977)		(19,393)	
Total	\$ 78,907	\$	69,726	\$	239,460	\$	216,440	

Assets by segment were as follows (in thousands):

	Sep 26, 2014		Dec 27, 2013
Industrial	\$ 651,060	\$	591,135
Contractor	185,280		152,300
Lubrication	82,933		82,503
Unallocated corporate	508,545		501,290
Total	\$ 1,427,818	\$	1,327,228

Geographic information follows (in thousands):

	Thirteen We	eeks Ended	Thirty-nine Weeks Ended				
	Sep 26,	Sep 27,	Sep 26,	Sep 27,			
	2014	2013	2014	2013			
Net sales							
(based on customer location)							
United States	\$ 150,015	\$ 132,503	\$ 440,097	\$ 383,756			
Other countries	152,599	144,532	475,028	448,345			
Total	\$ 302,614	\$ 277,035	\$ 915,125	\$ 832,101			
	Sep 26,	Dec 27,					
	2014	2013					
Long-lived assets							
United States	\$ 130,021	\$ 120,262					
Other countries	29,574	31,455					
Total	\$ 159,595	\$ 151,717					

7. Major components of inventories were as follows (in thousands):

	Sep 26, 2014	Dec 27, 2013
Finished products and components	\$ 77,136	\$ 65,963
Products and components in various		
stages of completion	42,943	41,458
Raw materials and purchased components	72,613	69,051
	192,692	176,472
Reduction to LIFO cost	(43,669)	(42,685)
Total	\$ 149,023	\$ 133,787

8. Information related to other intangible assets follows (dollars in thousands):

	Estimated				Foreign						
	Life (years) Cost				cumulated ortization		urrency anslation		Book Value		
September 26, 2014											
Customer relationships	3 - 14	\$	118,975	\$	(19,274)	\$	(3,730)	\$	95,971		
Patents, proprietary technology and product											
documentation	5 - 11		18,125		(6,684)		(382)		11,059		
Trademarks, trade names and other	5		175		(35)				140		
			137,275		(25,993)		(4,112)		107,170		
Not Subject to Amortization:											
Brand names			47,800		-		(1,764)		46,036		
Total		\$	185,075	\$	(25,993)	\$	(5,876)	\$	153,206		
December 27, 2013											
Customer relationships	3 - 14	\$	121,205	\$	(26,377)	\$	1,458	\$	96,286		
Patents, proprietary technology and product											
documentation	3 - 11		16,125		(5,869)		118		10,374		
Trademarks, trade names and other	5		175		(9)				166		
			137,505		(32,255)		1,576		106,826		
Not Subject to Amortization:											
Brand names			40,400		-		714		41,114		
Total		\$	177,905	\$	(32,255)	\$	2,290	\$	147,940		

Amortization of intangibles for the quarter was \$2.6 million in 2014 and \$3.1 million in 2013, and for the year-to-date was \$8.5 million in 2014 and \$9.6 million in 2013. Estimated annual amortization expense is as follows: \$11.0 million in 2014, \$10.3 million in 2015, \$10.0 million in 2016, \$9.7 million in 2017, \$9.7 million in 2018 and \$65.0 million thereafter.

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill in 2014 were as follows (in thousands):

	Industrial			ontractor	Lι	ıbrication	Total
Beginning balance	\$	157,738	\$	12,732	\$	19,497	\$ 189,967
Additions from business acquisitions		37,340		-		-	37,340
Foreign currency translation		(5,570)		-		-	(5,570)
Ending balance	\$	189,508	\$	12,732	\$	19,497	\$ 221,737

In the first quarter of 2014, the Company paid \$65 million cash to acquire a manufacturer of fluid management solutions for environmental monitoring and remediation, markets where Graco had little or no previous exposure. The acquired business expands and complements the Company's Industrial segment. The purchase price was allocated based on estimated fair values, including \$37 million of goodwill, \$22 million of other identifiable intangible assets and \$6 million of net tangible assets.

See note 14 for information on another business acquisition completed subsequent to the end of the third quarter.

9. Components of other current liabilities were (in thousands):

	 Sep 26, 2014	 Dec 27, 2013
Accrued self-insurance retentions	\$ 6,993	\$ 6,381
Accrued warranty and service liabilities	7,628	7,771
Accrued trade promotions	6,360	7,245
Payable for employee stock purchases	6,731	7,908
Customer advances and deferred revenue	9,772	11,693
Income taxes payable	2,445	4,561
Other	23,640	23,608
Total other current liabilities	\$ 63,569	\$ 69,167

A liability is established for estimated future warranty and service claims that relate to current and prior period sales. The Company estimates warranty costs based on historical claim experience and other factors including evaluating specific product warranty issues. Following is a summary of activity in accrued warranty and service liabilities (in thousands):

	Thirty-nine	
	Weeks Ended Sep 26, 2014	Year Ended Dec 27, 2013
Balance, beginning of year	\$ 7,771	\$ 7,943
Assumed in business acquisition	12	-
Charged to expense	4,531	6,119
Margin on parts sales reversed	1,691	3,819
Reductions for claims settled	(6,377)	(10,110)
Balance, end of period	\$ 7,628	\$ 7,771

10. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and fair value measurement level were as follows (in thousands):

	Level	Sep 26, 2014	Dec 27, 2013
Assets			
Cash surrender value of life insurance	2	\$ 13,004	\$ 12,611
Forward exchange contracts	2	39	291
Total assets at fair value		\$ 13,043	\$ 12,902
Liabilities			
Deferred compensation	2	\$ 2,589	\$ 2,296
Forward exchange contracts	2	=	-
Total liabilities at fair value		\$ 2,589	\$ 2,296

Contracts insuring the lives of certain employees who are eligible to participate in certain non-qualified pension and deferred compensation plans are held in trust. Cash surrender value of the contracts is based on performance measurement funds that shadow the deferral investment allocations made by participants in certain deferred compensation plans. The deferred compensation liability balances are valued based on amounts allocated by participants to the underlying performance measurement funds.

Long-term notes payable with fixed interest rates have a carrying amount of \$300 million and an estimated fair value of \$320 million as of September 26, 2014 and \$320 million as of December 27, 2013. The fair value of variable rate borrowings approximates carrying value. The Company uses significant other observable inputs to estimate fair value (level 2 of the fair value hierarchy) based on the present value of future cash flows and rates that would be available for issuance of debt with similar terms and remaining maturities.

11. In April 2012, the Company completed the purchase of the finishing businesses of Illinois Tool Works Inc. ("ITW"). The acquisition included powder finishing and liquid finishing equipment operations, technologies and brands (separately, the "Powder Finishing" and "Liquid Finishing" businesses). Results of the Powder Finishing businesses have been included in the Industrial segment since the date of acquisition. Pursuant to a March 2012 order, the Liquid Finishing businesses were to be held separate from the rest of Graco's businesses while the United States Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") considered a settlement with Graco and determined which portions of the Liquid Finishing business Graco must divest.

Subsequent to the end of the third quarter of 2014, the FTC approved a final decision and order that became effective on October 9, 2014. Pursuant to the final order, Graco must sell the Liquid Finishing business assets within 180 days of the effective date. On October 8, 2014, the Company announced it had signed a definitive agreement to sell the Liquid Finishing business assets for \$590 million cash, subject to regulatory approval and other customary closing conditions. The sale transaction is expected to close no later than the first quarter of 2015, in compliance with the FTC's final decision and order. Graco will continue to hold the Liquid Finishing businesses separate and maintain them as viable and competitive until the sale process is complete.

The Liquid Finishing business assets are held as a cost-method investment on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Income is recognized based on dividends received from after-tax earnings of Liquid Finishing and included in other expense (income) on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Dividends received in 2014 totaled \$9 million in the third quarter and \$24 million year-to-date, consistent with amounts received in the comparable periods of 2013. Once the Company completes the sale of its investment, there will be no further dividends from Liquid Finishing.

The Company evaluates its cost-method investment for other-than-temporary impairment at each reporting period. As of September 26, 2014, the Company evaluated its investment in Liquid Finishing and determined that there was no impairment.

Sales and operating earnings of the Liquid Finishing businesses were as follows (in thousands):

		Thirteen W	/eeks I	Ended	Thirty-nine V	Veeks	eeks Ended/		
	_	Sep 26, Sep 27, 2014 2013			 Sep 26, 2014	Sep 27, 2013			
Net Sales	\$	68,746	\$	75,879	\$ 208,208	\$	210,922		
Operating Earnings		13,733		16,734	43,627		46,712		

12. On June 26, 2014, the Company executed an amendment to its revolving credit agreement, extending the expiration date to June 26, 2019, and increasing the amount of credit available to \$500 million, a \$50 million increase.

Under the amended agreement, the base rate applied to borrowings is an annual rate equal to a margin ranging from zero percent to 0.875 percent (down from zero to 1 percent under the prior agreement), depending on the Company's cash flow leverage ratio, plus the highest of (i) the bank's prime rate, (ii) the federal funds rate plus 0.5 percent or (iii) one-month LIBOR plus 1.5 percent. In general, LIBOR-based loans bear interest at LIBOR plus 1 percent to 1.875 percent (down from 1 to 2 percent), depending on the Company's cash flow leverage ratio.

Fees on the undrawn amount of the loan commitment decreased to a range of 0.15 percent to 0.30 percent (down from 0.15 percent to 0.40 percent), depending on the Company's cash flow leverage ratio.

13. In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued a final standard on revenue from contracts with customers. The new standard sets forth a single comprehensive model for recognizing and reporting revenue. The new standard is effective for the Company in its fiscal year 2017, and permits the use of either a retrospective or a cumulative effect transition method. The Company is evaluating the effect of the new standard on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures, and has not yet selected a transition method.

14. On October 1, 2014, the Company acquired the stock of Alco Valves Group (Alco) for £72 million cash, subject to normal post-closing purchase price adjustments. Alco is a United Kingdom (U.K.) based manufacturer of high quality, high pressure valves used in the oil and natural gas industry and in other industrial processes. Alco's products and business relationships will enhance Graco's position in the oil and natural gas industry and complement Graco's core competencies of designing and manufacturing advanced flow control technologies. Alco revenues for the most recent trailing twelve months were approximately £19 million. Results of Alco operations will be included in the Company's Industrial segment starting from the date of acquisition.

Item 2.

GRACO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

The Company designs, manufactures and markets systems and equipment to move, measure, control, dispense and spray fluid and coating materials. Management classifies the Company's business into three reportable segments: Industrial, Contractor and Lubrication. Key strategies include developing and marketing new products, expanding distribution globally, opening new markets with technology and channel expansion and completing strategic acquisitions.

The following Management's Discussion and Analysis reviews significant factors affecting the Company's results of operations and financial condition. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Acquisition in 2012

In April 2012, the Company completed the purchase of the finishing businesses of Illinois Tool Works Inc. ("ITW"). The acquisition included powder finishing and liquid finishing equipment operations, technologies and brands (separately, the "Powder Finishing" and "Liquid Finishing" businesses). Results of the Powder Finishing businesses have been included in the Industrial segment since the date of acquisition. Pursuant to a March 2012 order, the Liquid Finishing businesses were to be held separate from the rest of Graco's businesses while the United States Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") considered a settlement with Graco and determined which portions of the Liquid Finishing business Graco must divest.

Subsequent to the end of the third quarter of 2014, the FTC approved a final decision and order that became effective on October 9, 2014. Pursuant to the final order, Graco must sell the Liquid Finishing business assets within 180 days of the effective date. On October 8, 2014, the Company announced it had signed a definitive agreement to sell the Liquid Finishing business assets for \$590 million cash, subject to regulatory approval and other customary closing conditions. The sale transaction is expected to close no later than the first quarter of 2015, in compliance with the FTC's final decision and order. Graco will continue to hold the Liquid Finishing businesses separate and maintain them as viable and competitive until the sale process is complete.

The Liquid Finishing business assets are held as a cost-method investment on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Income is recognized based on dividends received from after-tax earnings of Liquid Finishing and included in other expense (income) on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Dividends received in 2014 totaled \$9 million in the third quarter and \$24 million year-to-date, consistent with amounts received in the comparable periods of 2013. Once the Company completes the sale of its investment, there will be no further dividends from Liquid Finishing.

The Company evaluates its cost-method investment for other-than-temporary impairment at each reporting period. As of September 26, 2014, the Company evaluated its investment in Liquid Finishing and determined that there was no impairment.

Consolidated Results

Net sales, net earnings and earnings per share were as follows (in millions except per share amounts and percentages):

		Thirte	en V	Veeks End	ded		Thirty-nine Weeks Ended				
	Sep 26,		Sep 27,		%	Sep 26,		Sep 27,		%	
		2014		2013	Change	2014		2013		Change	
Net Sales	\$	302.6	\$	277.0	9%	\$	915.1	\$	832.1	10%	
Operating Earnings	\$	78.9	\$	69.7	13%	\$	239.5	\$	216.4	11%	
Net Earnings	\$	59.6	\$	56.1	6%	\$	176.5	\$	166.1	6%	
Diluted Net Earnings per Common Share	\$	0.97	\$	0.89	9%	\$	2.85	\$	2.65	8%	

Sales increased in all reportable segments and regions for both the quarter and the year-to-date, with double-digit percentage growth in the Americas. In Asia Pacific, a double-digit percentage increase for the quarter from the Industrial segment pushed the region to positive year-to-date sales growth. Gross margin rate for the quarter was up slightly from last year and year-to-date gross margin rate was slightly lower than last year. Operating earnings for the quarter increased 13 percent on a 9 percent increase in sales, but a higher effective income tax rate led to a smaller (6 percent) increase in net earnings.

The following table presents components of changes in sales:

	Quarter						
		Segment					
	Industrial	Contractor	Lubrication	Americas	EMEA	Asia Pacific	Total
Volume and Price	4 %	7 %	6 %	6 %	3 %	5 %	6 %
Acquisitions	6 %	- %	- %	6 %	- %	1 %	3 %
Currency	1 %	- %	- %	- %	1 %	1 %	- %
Total	11 %	7 %	6 %	12 %	4 %	7 %	9 %
			Year-	to-Date			
		Segment			Region		
			_			Asia	
	Industrial	<u>Contractor</u>	Lubrication	<u>Americas</u>	<u>EMEA</u>	<u>Pacific</u>	Total
Volume and Price	5 %	10 %	7 %	10 %	5 %	1 %	6 %
Acquisitions	5 %	- %	- %	5 %	- %	1 %	3 %
Currency	1 %	- %	(1) %	(1) %	3 %	- %	1 %
Total	11 %	10 %	6 %	14 %	8 %	2 %	10 %

Sales by geographic area were as follows (in millions):

	Thirteen Weeks Ended					Thirty-nine Weeks Ended				
	Sep 26,			Sep 27,		ер 26,	S	ep 27,		
	2014		2014			2013		2014		2013
Americas1	\$	175.2	\$	156.1	\$	518.8	\$	455.0		
EMEA ²		73.1		70.3		226.2		210.1		
Asia Pacific		54.3		50.6		170.1		167.0		
Consolidated	\$	302.6	\$	277.0	\$	915.1	\$	832.1		

- 1 North and South America, including the U.S.
- ² Europe, Middle East and Africa

Sales for the quarter increased 9 percent, including increases of 12 percent in the Americas, 4 percent in EMEA (3 percent at consistent translation rates) and 7 percent in Asia Pacific (6 percent at consistent translation rates). Year-to-date sales increased 10 percent, including increases of 14 percent in the Americas, 8 percent in EMEA (5 percent at consistent translation rates) and 2 percent in Asia Pacific. Sales from operations acquired in the fourth quarter of 2013 and the first quarter of 2014 totaled \$9 million for the quarter and \$26 million year-to-date, contributing 3 percentage points of growth in each of those periods.

Gross profit margin rate for the quarter was 55 percent, up slightly from the comparable period last year. Year-to-date gross margin rate was also 55 percent, slightly lower than last year due to the effects of purchase accounting, lower margins from acquired operations and changes in product mix.

Total operating expenses for the quarter were \$6 million (7 percent) higher than third quarter last year. Year-to-date operating expenses were \$19 million (8 percent) higher than last year. Increases for both the quarter and year-to-date are mostly due to expenses of acquired operations and spending on regional and product growth initiatives. As a percentage of sales, total operating expenses for both the quarter and year-to-date were down by one-half percentage point compared to comparable periods of last year.

Other expense (income) included dividends received from the Liquid Finishing businesses that are held separate from the Company's other businesses. Such dividends totaled \$9 million for the quarter and \$24 million year-to-date, consistent with the comparable periods of last year.

The effective income tax rate of 28 percent for the quarter was 4 percentage points higher than the comparable period last year. The increase resulted from the impacts of the federal R&D credit not being renewed for 2014 and the additional benefit from U.S. business credits in 2013. The effective year-to-date income tax rate of 29 percent was 2 percentage points higher than last year. Last year's rate included the favorable impact of the R&D credit that was renewed in 2013 retroactive to the beginning of 2012.

Segment Results

Certain measurements of segment operations compared to last year are summarized below:

Industrial

	Thirteen Weeks Ended				Т	Thirty-nine Weeks Ended			
	Sep 26, 2014			Sep 27, 2013		Sep 26, 2014		ep 27, 2013	
Net sales (in millions)									
Americas	\$	78.8	\$	69.0	\$	240.2	\$	205.4	
EMEA		54.1		51.5		164.4		151.6	
Asia Pacific		41.4		36.2		127.8		123.5	
Total	\$	174.3	\$	156.7	\$	532.4	\$	480.5	
Operating earnings as a percentage of net sales		32 %		32 %		32 %		33 %	

Industrial segment sales for the quarter increased 11 percent, with increases of 14 percent in the Americas, 5 percent in EMEA (3 percent at consistent translation rates) and 15 percent in Asia Pacific. Year-to-date sales increased 11 percent, with increases of 17 percent in the Americas, 8 percent in EMEA (5 percent at consistent translation rates) and 4 percent in Asia Pacific. Results for 2014 included the operations of QED Environmental Systems, acquired at the beginning of fiscal 2014, and EcoQuip, acquired at the end of fiscal 2013. Acquired operations contributed \$9 million to sales in this segment for the quarter and \$26 million year-to-date (6 percentage points of growth for the quarter and 5 percentage points for the year-to-date). Year-to-date operating margin rate for the Industrial segment decreased slightly compared to last year due to lower margins on acquired operations, including the impact of non-recurring acquisition-related inventory valuation adjustments, and other investments in regional and product expansion.

Contractor

	Thirteen Weeks Ended					Thirty-nine Weeks Ended				
	Sep 26, Sep 27, 2014 2013		•		·		•		ep 27, 2013	
Net sales (in millions)										
Americas	\$	73.7	\$	67.1	\$	211.4	\$	188.5		
EMEA		16.4		16.6		54.1		50.8		
Asia Pacific		9.3		9.2		29.9		29.8		
Total	\$	99.4	\$	92.9	\$	295.4	\$	269.1		
Operating earnings as a percentage of net sales		23 %		23 %		24 %		23 %		

Contractor segment sales for the quarter increased 7 percent, primarily from increases in the Americas. Year-to-date sales increased 10 percent with increases in the Americas and EMEA. Year-to-date operating margin rate in the Contractor segment was slightly higher than the rate last year. The favorable effects of higher sales volume and expense leverage were partially offset by unfavorable effects of product mix.

Lubrication

	Thirteen Weeks Ended				Thirty-nine Weeks Ended			
	Sep 26,		Sep 27,		Sep 26,		Sep 27,	
		2014		2013	2	2014		2013
Net sales (in millions)								_
Americas	\$	22.7	\$	20.0	\$	67.1	\$	61.1
EMEA		2.6		2.1		7.7		7.6
Asia Pacific		3.6		5.3		12.4		13.8
Total	\$	28.9	\$	27.4	\$	87.2	\$	82.5
Operating earnings as a percentage of net							-	
sales		22 %		20 %		23 %		21 %

Lubrication segment sales increased 6 percent for both the quarter and year-to-date, mostly from increases in the Americas. Higher sales volume, improved gross margin rate and expense leverage led to a higher year-to-date operating margin rate in the Lubrication segment.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Net cash provided by operating activities was \$170 million in 2014 and \$181 million in 2013. The increase in accounts receivable was \$8 million higher in the first nine months of 2014 than the increase in the comparable period of 2013. Accounts receivable and inventory balances have increased since the end of 2013 due to increases in business activity. Significant uses of cash in the first nine months of 2014 included \$142 million for purchases of Company common stock, \$65 million for a business acquisition and \$50 million of dividends paid to shareholders. Net borrowings on the Company's revolving line of credit increased long-term debt by \$100 million since the end of 2013.

On October 1, 2014, the Company used proceeds from its revolving line of credit to acquire the stock of Alco Valves Group (Alco) for £72 million cash, subject to normal post-closing purchase price adjustments. Alco is a United Kingdom (U.K.) based manufacturer of high quality, high pressure valves used in the oil and natural gas industry and in other industrial processes. Alco's products and business relationships will enhance Graco's position in the oil and natural gas industry and complement Graco's core competencies of designing and manufacturing advanced flow control technologies. Alco revenues for the most recent trailing twelve months were approximately £19 million. Results of Alco operations will be included in the Company's Industrial segment starting from the date of acquisition.

Pursuant to a final order from the FTC that became effective on October 9, 2014, Graco must sell the Liquid Finishing business assets acquired in 2012 within 180 days of the effective date. Graco will continue to hold the Liquid Finishing businesses separate and maintain them as viable and competitive until a sale process is complete. The Liquid Finishing business assets are held as a cost-method investment on Graco's balance sheet, and income is recognized based on dividends received from current earnings. Since the date of acquisition, the Company received \$64 million of dividends from current earnings of the Liquid Finishing businesses, including \$24 million in the first nine months of 2014. Once the Company completes the sale of its investment, there will be no further dividends from Liquid Finishing.

On October 8, 2014, the Company announced it had signed a definitive agreement to sell the Liquid Finishing business assets for \$590 million cash, subject to regulatory approval and other

customary closing conditions. The sale transaction is expected to close no later than the first quarter of 2015, in compliance with the FTC's final decision and order. Graco expects to use the proceeds from the sale of the Liquid Finishing assets for reduction of outstanding debt, ongoing share repurchases, and to make investments in strategic acquisitions that provide synergy opportunities.

On June 26, 2014, the Company executed an amendment to its revolving credit agreement, extending the expiration date to June 26, 2019, and increasing the amount of credit available to \$500 million, a \$50 million increase.

Under the amended agreement, the base rate applied to borrowings is an annual rate equal to a margin ranging from zero percent to 0.875 percent (down from zero to 1 percent under the prior agreement), depending on the Company's cash flow leverage ratio, plus the highest of (i) the bank's prime rate, (ii) the federal funds rate plus 0.5 percent or (iii) one-month LIBOR plus 1.5 percent. In general, LIBOR-based loans bear interest at LIBOR plus 1 percent to 1.875 percent (down from 1 to 2 percent), depending on the Company's cash flow leverage ratio. Fees on the undrawn amount of the loan commitment decreased to a range of 0.15 percent to 0.30 percent (down from 0.15 percent to 0.40 percent), depending on the Company's cash flow leverage ratio.

At September 26, 2014, the Company had various lines of credit totaling \$549 million, of which \$335 million was unused. Internally generated funds and unused financing sources are expected to provide the Company with the flexibility to meet its liquidity needs in 2014.

Outlook

We expect mid-single digit organic growth in the fourth quarter, consistent with the second half outlook announced previously. With the benefit of the three acquisitions that Graco has closed in the last year, including Alco Valves that was acquired in October, total company sales should grow at a double-digit pace in the final quarter of the year. We remain positive on the U.S. housing market and the U.S. economy, while macroeconomic conditions, ongoing geopolitical concerns and currency are expected to be a headwind in the EMEA region.

SAFE HARBOR CAUTIONARY STATEMENT

The Company desires to take advantage of the "safe harbor" provisions regarding forward-looking statements of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and is filing this Cautionary Statement in order to do so. From time to time various forms filed by our Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including our Form 10-K, our Form 10-Qs and Form 8-Ks, and other disclosures, including our 2013 Overview report, press releases, earnings releases, analyst briefings, conference calls and other written documents or oral statements released by our Company, may contain forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements generally use words such as "expect," "foresee," "anticipate," "believe," "project," "should," "estimate," "will," and similar expressions, and reflect our Company's expectations concerning the future. All forecasts and projections are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are based upon currently available information, but various risks and uncertainties may cause our Company's actual results to differ materially from those expressed in these statements. The Company undertakes no obligation to update these statements in light of new information or future events.

Future results could differ materially from those expressed, due to the impact of changes in various factors. These risk factors include, but are not limited to: changes in laws and regulations; economic conditions in the United States and other major world economies; our Company's growth strategies, which include making acquisitions, investing in new products, expanding geographically and targeting new industries; whether we are able to effectively and timely complete a divestiture of the acquired Liquid Finishing businesses, which has not been completed and remains subject to FTC approval; political instability; new entrants who copy our products or infringe on our intellectual property; supply interruptions or delays; risks incident to conducting business internationally; the ability to meet our customers' needs and changes in product demand; results of and costs associated with, litigation, administrative proceedings and regulatory reviews incident to our business; compliance with anti-corruption laws; the possibility of decline in purchases from few large customers of the Contractor segment; variations in activity in the construction and automotive industries; security breaches and natural disasters. Please refer to Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year 2013 for a more comprehensive discussion of these and other risk factors. These reports are available on the Company's website at www.graco.com/ir and the Securities and Exchange Commission's website at www.sec.gov. Shareholders, potential investors and other readers are urged to consider these factors in evaluating forward-looking statements and are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.

Investors should realize that factors other than those identified above and in Item 1A might prove important to the Company's future results. It is not possible for management to identify each and every factor that may have an impact on the Company's operations in the future as new factors can develop from time to time.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

There have been no material changes related to market risk from the disclosures made in the Company's 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

As of the end of the fiscal quarter covered by this report, the Company carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of its disclosure controls and procedures. This evaluation was done under the supervision and with the participation of the Company's President and Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, the Vice President, Controller and Information Systems, and the Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary. Based upon that evaluation, they concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

Changes in internal controls

During the quarter, there was no change in the Company's internal control over financial reporting that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

PART II OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Except as noted below, there have been no material changes to the Company's risk factors from those disclosed in the Company's 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Divestiture - Our acquisition of the finishing businesses of ITW includes a requirement that we divest the acquired Liquid Finishing businesses, which has not been completed and remains subject to FTC approval.

In April 2012, the Company completed the purchase of the finishing businesses of Illinois Tool Works Inc. ("ITW"). The acquisition included powder finishing and liquid finishing equipment operations, technologies and brands (separately, the "Powder Finishing" and "Liquid Finishing" businesses). Results of the Powder Finishing businesses have been included in the Industrial segment since the date of acquisition. Pursuant to a March 2012 order, the Liquid Finishing businesses were to be held separate from the rest of Graco's businesses while the United States Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") considered a settlement with Graco and determined which portions of the Liquid Finishing business Graco must divest. Subsequent to the end of the third quarter of 2014, the FTC approved a final decision and order that became effective on October 9, 2014. Pursuant to the final order, Graco must sell the Liquid Finishing business assets within 180 days of the effective date. On October 8, 2014, the Company announced it had signed a definitive agreement to sell the Liquid Finishing business assets for \$590 million cash, subject to regulatory approval and other customary closing conditions. The sale transaction is expected to close no later than the first quarter of 2015, in compliance with the FTC's final decision and order. Graco will continue to hold the Liquid Finishing businesses separate and maintain them as viable and competitive until the sale process is complete. We cannot be certain to what extent or when the required regulatory approval of a buyer and terms of the sale will be obtained, or whether the Company will be able to complete a divestiture in a time frame that is satisfactory to the FTC.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On September 14, 2012, the Board of Directors authorized the Company to purchase up to 6,000,000 shares of its outstanding common stock, primarily through open-market transactions. The authorization expires on September 30, 2015.

In addition to shares purchased under the Board authorizations, the Company purchases shares of common stock held by employees who wish to tender owned shares to satisfy the exercise price or tax due upon exercise of options or vesting of restricted stock.

Information on issuer purchases of equity securities follows:

					Maximum
				Total	Number of
				Number	Shares that
				of Shares	May Yet Be
				Purchased	Purchased
				as Part of	Under the
	Total	A۱	/erage	Publicly	Plans or
	Number		Price	Announced	Programs
	of Shares	Pa	aid per	Plans or	(at end of
Period	Purchased		Share	Programs	period)
1 00 0044 1 105 0044	100 710		70.00	100 710	0.004.440
Jun 28, 2014 – Jul 25, 2014	189,748	\$	76.93	189,748	3,604,412
Jul 26, 2014 – Aug 22, 2014	200,000	\$	75.44	200,000	3,404,412
7 dg 22, 2014	200,000	Ψ	10.44	200,000	0,404,412
Aug 23, 2014 – Sep 26, 2014	240,000	\$	76.04	240,000	3,164,412

Item 6. Exhibits

- 2.11 Agreement relating to the sale and purchase of the entire issued share capital of Xamol Limited to acquire Alco Valves Group, dated as of October 1, 2014 (excluding certain schedules and exhibits, which the Registrant agrees to furnish supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request).
- 2.2 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated October 7, 2014, by and among Carlisle Companies Incorporated, Carlisle Fluid Technologies, Inc., Graco Inc. and Finishing Brands Holdings Inc. (excluding schedules and exhibits, which the Registrant agrees to furnish supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request). (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's Report on Form 8-K filed on October 9, 2014.)
- 3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation as amended June 13, 2014. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Report on Form 8-K filed June 16, 2014.)
- 3.2 Restated Bylaws as amended February 14, 2014. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company's 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-K.)
- Decision and Order by the U.S. Federal Trade Commission in the matter of Graco Inc., Illinois Tool Works Inc. and ITW Finishing LLC. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Report on Form 8-K filed on October 8, 2014.)
- 31.1 Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).
- 31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).
 - Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 1350 of Title 18, U.S.C.
- 99.1 Press Release Reporting Third Quarter Earnings dated October 22, 2014.
- 101 Interactive Data File.

¹ Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment and have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

			GRACO INC.
Date:	October 22, 2014	By:	/s/ Patrick J. McHale
_	,		Patrick J. McHale President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
Date: _	October 22, 2014	Ву:	/s/ James A. Graner James A. Graner Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)
Date: _	October 22, 2014	Ву:	/s/ Caroline M. Chambers Caroline M. Chambers Vice President, Corporate Controller and Information Systems (Principal Accounting Officer)



DATED 1 OCTOBER

2014

(1) THE PERSONS AND SETTLEMENTS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE 1 AS THE SELLERS

- and -

(2) GRACO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS SARL

SUBJECT TO CONTRACT

AGREEMENT

relating to the sale and purchase of the entire issued share capital of Xamol Limited

CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED

[*] Indicates confidential portions omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

CONTENTS

1.	DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION	1
2.	SALE AND PURCHASE OF SHARES	9
3.	CONSIDERATION	9
4.	SETTLEMENT OF CONSIDERATION	9
5.	ESCROW SUM	10
6.	COMPLETION	10
7.	SELLERS' WARRANTIES, UNDERTAKINGS AND INDEMNITIES	10
8.	PURCHASER WARRANTIES AND UNDERTAKINGS	12
9.	ENVIRONMENTAL INDEMNITY	13
10.	SELLER LIMITATIONS	17
11.	RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS	18
12.	CONFIDENTIALITY AND ANNOUNCEMENTS	19
13.	ACCESS TO INFORMATION	21
14.	SELLERS' REPRESENTATIVE	21
15.	SELLERS' LIABILITY	22
16.	ASSIGNMENT AND SUCCESSORS	23
17.	THIRD PARTY RIGHTS	23
18.	COSTS AND EXPENSES	24
19.	PAYMENTS	24
20.	FURTHER ASSURANCE	24
21.	ENTIRE AGREEMENT	24
22.	EFFECT OF COMPLETION	25
23.	SEVERANCE	25
24.	VARIATION	25
25.	WAIVER AND CUMULATIVE REMEDIES	25
26.	REASONABLENESS	25
27.	COUNTERPARTS	26
28.	NOTICES	26
29.	AGENT FOR SERVICE	27
30.	GOVERNING LAW, JURISDICTION AND LANGUAGE	28
SCHI	EDULE 1: THE SELLERS, THE SHARES AND THE CONSIDERATION	29
	[Omitted]	29
SCHI	EDULE 2: WARRANTED INFORMATION	32
	[Omitted]	32
SCHI	EDULE 3: GENERAL WARRANTIES	44

SCHEDULE 4: TAX	57
Part 1: Tax Covenant	57
Part 2: Tax Warranties	69
SCHEDULE 5: SELLER LIMITATIONS	72
SCHEDULE 6: COMPLETION OBLIGATIONS	77
Part 1: Sellers' obligations on Completion	77
Part 2: Purchaser's obligations on Completion	79
SCHEDULE 7: COMPLETION STATEMENTS	80
Part 1: General	80
Part 2: Expert determination	83
Part 3: Pro formas	85
Part 4: Specific accounting treatments	87
SCHEDULE 8: ESCROW PROVISIONS	88
SCHEDULE 9: SENIOR EMPLOYEES	91
[Omitted]	91

Agreed Form documents Acknowledgement and Waiver

Announcement

Board minutes: Purchaser Board minutes: Xamol Limited Board minutes: Subsidiaries

Data room index Deeds of Variation Disclosure Letter

EMI Shares Sale Agreements Escrow Agreement Funds Flow

Lomax Employment Agreement
Post-Completion powers of attorney re Shares

THIS AGREEMENT is made on 1 OCTOBER 2014

BETWEEN:

- (1) THE PERSONS AND SETTLEMENTS whose names and addresses are set out in parts 1 and 2 of schedule 1 (together "Sellers", and each a "Seller"); and
- **GRACO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS SARL**, a company incorporated and registered pursuant to and under the laws of Luxembourg which has its registered office at 13-15 Avenue de la Liberté, L-1931 Luxembourg, Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg (**"Purchaser"**).

BACKGROUND:

- A Xamol Limited ("**Company**") is a company incorporated in England. Further information relating to the Company and its Subsidiaries is set out in parts 1 and 2 of schedule 2.
- B Each Seller owns the number of Shares set out opposite its name in column (2) of schedule 1.
- C Each Seller has agreed to sell its Shares and the Purchaser has agreed to purchase all of the Shares on the terms set out in this agreement.

IT IS AGREED:

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

In this agreement:

"Accounting Standards" means All Statements of Standard Accounting Practice, Financial Reporting Standards and Urgent Issues Task Force Abstracts issued or adopted by the Financial Reporting Council (or by its predecessor, the Accounting Standards Board), and extant at the Completion Date;

"Accounts" means:

- (a) the consolidated audited financial statements of the Company ("Principal Accounts");
- (b) the audited financial statements of Alco Canada ("Canada Accounts"); and
- (c) the audited financial statements of Alco Singapore ("Singapore Accounts");

in each case as at and for the financial year ended on the Accounts Date;

- "Accounts Date" means 31 October 2013;
- "Acquisition Dispute" means any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with this agreement, its subject matter or formation (including any non-contractual dispute or claim);
- "Acquisition Documents" means this agreement, the Disclosure Letter, the Agreed Form documents and any other documents to be delivered on Completion as set out in schedule 6;
- "**Agreed Form**", in relation to a document, means the form approved and for identification purposes initialled by (or on behalf of) the Sellers and the Purchaser:

- "Agreed Percentage" means 500,000/503,970 expressed as a percentage, being 99.21225%;
- "Alco Canada" means Alco Valves, Inc. (further details of which are set out in schedule 2);
- "Alco Singapore" means Alco Valves Singapore Pte Limited (further details of which are set out in schedule 2);
- "Authority" means a supra-national, national or sub-national authority, commission, department, agency, regulator or regulatory body in any jurisdiction;
- "Bank" means The Royal Bank of Scotland PLC;
- "Bank Debt" means the sum of £0, being the aggregate amount owed by the Group Companies to any bank (including principal, interest and fees and any early repayment charges arising as a result of the repayment of such amounts on Completion) up to and including the Completion Date;
- "Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday or Sunday on which commercial banks are open for general business in London;
- "Cash" means all amounts owed by Directors on their loan accounts to, dividends receivable by, and cash held by, the Group Companies as at Completion (whether in hand or at the bank or in transit) (including without limitation all uncleared lodgements and any unpresented cheques received prior to Completion and deducting any unpresented cheques and direct debits or standing orders paid or written prior to Completion). For the avoidance of doubt, (i) Cash may be a positive or a negative amount; (ii) any unpresented cheques written in favour of creditors and payments made by direct debit or by standing orders as at Completion shall be deducted from the creditors' balance as at Completion;
- "Claim" means any Warranty Claim or Tax Claim or claim under clause 7.8;
- **"Competing Business"** means any business which competes with or intends to compete with any business carried on by or intended to be carried on by any Group Company as at the Completion Date;
- "Completion" means completion of the sale and purchase of the Shares in accordance with this agreement;
- "Completion Date" means the date of this agreement;
- **"Completion Statements"** means the statements to be prepared and agreed, deemed agreed or determined in accordance with schedule 7;
- **"Completion Working Capital"** shall comprise all items included under the heading "Completion Working Capital" on the Completion Statements of the Group Companies as at close of business on the Completion Date as stated in the Completion Statements and in the form of the pro-forma attached at part 3 of schedule 7;
- **"Computer Systems"** means the computer systems used by any Group Company other than the internet and third party telecommunications networks;
- "Confidential Information" means all and any information that is not in the public domain and which relates to the business, trading, financial or other affairs of any Group Company (including information relating to the products, services or processes of any Group Company,

its customer and suppliers lists, price lists, plans and intentions, forecasts, trade secrets, know-how and technical information), whether such information is oral or in writing, electronic or other form and all and any information derived, or which may be derived, from any such information;

- **"Consideration"** means the consideration for the Shares set out in clause 3.1;
- "CTA 2010" has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1 of part 1 of schedule 4;
- "Customer" means any person who at any time during the period of two years ending on the Completion Date was a customer of any Group Company;
- "Data Room" has the meaning given to it in the definition of Due Diligence Information;
- "Debt" means all borrowings and indebtedness (including, without limitation, by way of acceptance credits, discounting or similar facilities, finance leases, loan stocks, bonds, debentures, notes, debt or inventory financing, or sale and finance leaseback arrangements, overdrafts, or other similar arrangements the purpose of which is to borrow money), together with any interest accrued on such amounts as at Completion, owed to any banking, financial, acceptance, credit, lending or other similar institution or organisation or any institutional investor, and corporation tax owed;
- "Deeds of Variation" means (i) the Deed of Variation, Consent and Rectification relating to Lease of Unit 4, Malbern Industrial Estate, Holland Street, Denton, Manchester M34 3WF to be made between (1) Alan Joseph Lomax, Stuart Andrew Lomax (2) Alco Components Limited (3) Gaynor Marianne Lomax; (ii) the Deed of Variation relating to Lease of Land and Buildings on the South West Side of Birds Royd Lane (known as Dove House) to be made between (1) Andrew Joseph Lomax and Gaynor Marianne Lomax and (2) Alco Valves Limited; and (iii) the Deed of Variation relating to Lease of Missions Works, Birds Royd Lane, Brighouse to be made between (1) Investaac Pension Trustees Limited and Stuart Andrew Lomax (2) Alco Valves Limited (the "SIPP Deed"), each in the Agreed Form;
- **"Defendant Claim"** means any demand, claim or action by a third party against the Purchaser Group which has given or is likely to give rise to a Non-Tax Claim;
- **"Disclosed"** means disclosed, with sufficient detail and clarity to allow the Purchaser to identify the nature and scope of the matter disclosed, in the Disclosure Letter or the Due Diligence Information;
- **"Disclosure Letter"** means the letter of the same date as this agreement from the Sellers to the Purchaser relating to the General Warranties and Tax Warranties;
- "Disputed Retention Claim" means any Retention Claim that is not a Settled Retention Claim;
- **"Due Diligence Information"** means the information and documents contained in the electronic data room maintained by BMC Smartroom in relation to the Group Companies and their respective businesses and assets as listed in the index in the Agreed Form (a download of which has, for evidential purposes, been delivered to the Purchaser's Lawyers on CD-ROM immediately before the signing of this agreement) ("**Data Room**");
- "EMI Options" has the meaning given to it in schedule 4;

- **"EMI Shares"** means up to 3970 ordinary shares in the capital of the Company issued or to be issued and allotted to the Employee Optionholders in the numbers set opposite their names in part 3 of schedule 1 immediately prior to Completion pursuant to exercise of the EMI Options copies of which are contained in the Data Room;
- **"EMI Shares Sale Agreements"** means the share sale agreements in the Agreed Form between the Purchaser and each Employee Optionholder to be entered into on Completion;
- "Employee Optionholders" means those individuals whose names and addresses are set out in part 3 of schedule 1;
- **"Escrow Account"** means an interest bearing deposit account with the Bank in the joint names of the Escrow Agents to be operated in accordance with clause 4 and the Escrow Agreement;
- "Escrow Agents" means the Purchaser's Lawyers and the Sellers' Lawyers;
- **"Escrow Agreement"** means the joint letter of instruction from the Purchaser and the Sellers to the Escrow Agents in relation to the Escrow Account in the Agreed Form;
- "Escrow Sum" means initially the sum of £7,220,000 (seven million two hundred and twenty thousand pounds) and then, after payment of such sum into the Escrow Account, the amount held in the Escrow Account for the time being after the deduction of any bank charges, fees, costs and expenses debited to the Escrow Account, but excluding any sums credited for interest;
- "Encumbrance" means any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other security interest and any option or right to acquire;
- **"Environment"** means all or any part of the air (including the air within buildings and man-made or natural structures above or below ground), water and land and any living organisms (including man, flora and fauna) or systems supported by those media;
- **"Environmental Laws"** means all laws relating to the protection, prevention of harm to, pollution or remediation of the Environment in any applicable jurisdiction;
- "General Warranties" means the warranties given by the Sellers in schedule 3;
- "General Warranty Claim" means any claim in relation to or for any breach of the General Warranties;
- "Group Companies" means the Company and the Subsidiaries, and "Group Company" means any of them;
- **"Hazardous Substance"** means any natural or artificial material or substance, noise, ion, vapour, electromagnetic charge or radiation, either alone or in combination, which is capable of causing harm to or having a deleterious effect on the Environment (including, in relation to man, any offence to any of his senses or property) or is a controlled, special, hazardous, polluting, toxic or dangerous substance or waste;
- "Initial Cash Consideration" has the meaning given to it in clause 3.1;
- "Individual Seller" means those persons whose names and addresses are set out in part 1 of schedule 1;

"Individual Warranties" means the warranties given by each Individual Seller in clause 7.1 and by each Trustee Seller in clause 7.2;

"IP" means:

- (a) rights to inventions, patents, know-how and trade secrets, registered and unregistered designs, copyrights, database rights, design rights, trade marks, service marks, trade names, business names, brand names, get-up, logos, domain names and URLs, including the goodwill attached thereto and all applications to register or to apply to register any of them; and
- (b) rights having equivalent or similar effect to the above items in any jurisdiction;
- "Judgment" means any judgment, order, decree, award, ruling or decision from any court, tribunal or arbitrator;
- "Key Supplier" means (i) [*], (ii) [*] and (iii) [*];
- **"Lomax Employment Agreement"** means the fixed term employment agreement in the Agreed Form to be entered into by Stuart Lomax and the Company on Completion;
- "Management Accounts" means the unaudited balance sheets of the Company and each of the Subsidiaries as at the Management Accounts Date and the unaudited consolidated profit and loss accounts of the Company and each of the Subsidiaries for the period from the Accounts Date to the Management Accounts Date in each case as included in the Due Diligence Information;
- "Management Accounts Date" means 30 June 2014;
- "Minority Acquisition Arrangements" means the arrangements under which the Company has agreed to acquire the entire issued share capital of each of Alco Canada and Alco Singapore and 2,500 ordinary shares in Alco Process Valves Limited for a total consideration of £2,355,882, details of which have been Disclosed;
- "Net Cash" means the amount (if any) by which the value of Cash exceeds the value of Debt;
- "Net Debt" means the amount (if any) by which the value of Debt exceeds the value of Cash;
- "Non-Tax Claim" means any Claim other than a Tax Claim;
- "Notice" has the meaning given to it in clause 28.1;
- **"Pension Benefits"** means any pension, allowance, lump sum or other similar benefit on death, disability, retirement or termination of employment (whether voluntary or not) for the benefit of any of the Group Companies' employees, former employees or any of their respective dependants;
- "Pension Scheme" means the Group's stakeholder pension scheme details of which have been provided in the Data Room;
- "Property" means the leasehold property detailed in part 3 of schedule 2;
- [*] Indicates confidential portions omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

- **"Purchaser Group"** means each or any of (a) the Purchaser, any parent undertaking of the Purchaser for the time being, and any undertaking which for the time being is a subsidiary undertaking of the Purchaser or of any such parent undertaking, and (b) with effect from Completion, each Group Company (and **"member of the Purchaser Group"** shall be construed accordingly);
- "Purchaser's Lawyers" means Faegre Baker Daniels LLP of 7 Pilgrim Street, London EC4V 6LB;
- **"Recovery Claim"** means any right which any member of the Purchaser Group has or becomes entitled to (whether under any insurance policy or by way of payment, discount, credit, set-off, claim, counterclaim, relief or otherwise) to recover from any third party any amount in relation to any matter or thing that has given or is likely to give rise to a Non-Tax Claim;
- "Release Date" means the date being the first anniversary of the date of this Agreement;
- "Relevant Proportion", in relation to a Seller, means the proportion set opposite that Seller's name in column (4) of schedule 1;
- **"Reorganisation"** means the pre-sale distributions made by Alco Hi-Tek Limited and Alco Valves Inc. and the transactions contemplated by the Minority Acquisition Agreements;
- **"Reorganisation Documents"** means the various agreements, deeds and other documents entered into for the purposes of approving and giving effect to the Reorganisation;
- **"Representatives"** means, in relation to any person, its directors, officers, employees, legal, accounting, financial and other advisers, consultants, agents or brokers (as applicable);
- "Restricted Area" means any territory in which any Group Company carried on business at the Completion Date;
- "Retention Claim" means a Claim which has been notified to the Sellers before the Release Date;
- "Sale Proceeds", in relation to a Seller, means the aggregate amount of Consideration received by that Seller;
- "Sellers' Lawyers" means DLA Piper UK LLP of Princes Exchange, Princes Square, Leeds LS1 4BY;
- "Sellers' Representative" means Stuart Lomax (or such other person appointed by the Sellers in accordance with clause 14.5);
- "Senior Employee" means the employees of the Group listed in schedule 9;
- "Settled Retention Claim" means a Retention Claim or part of a Retention Claim which:
- (a) is agreed in writing between the Purchaser and the Sellers' Representative;

- (b) is finally determined by an English court of competent jurisdiction and, in relation to which, all rights of appeal have been exhausted or are debarred by the passage of time; or
- (c) the Purchaser has confirmed in writing to the Sellers has been withdrawn or abandoned;

and, where paragraph (c) applies, the value of that Settled Retention Claim shall be deemed to be nil;

"Shares" means together the 26,090 ordinary shares of £0.10p each; 26,090 A ordinary shares of £0.10p each; 26,090 B ordinary shares of £0.10p each; 26,090 C ordinary shares of £0.10p each; 61,970 D ordinary Shares of £0.10p each; 114,150 E ordinary shares of £0.10p each; 70,830 F ordinary shares of £0.10p each; 70,820 G ordinary shares of £0.10p each and 77,870 H ordinary shares of £0.10p each in the capital of the Company;

"Subsidiaries" means the subsidiaries of the Company detailed in part 2 of schedule 2, and "Subsidiary" means any of them;

"Target Working Capital" means £9,370,000 (pounds nine million three hundred and seventy thousand);

"Tax" has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1 of part 1 of schedule 4;

"Tax Claim" means any demand or claim under the Tax Covenant or any claim in relation to or for any breach of the Tax Warranties;

"Tax Covenant" means any covenant set out in paragraph 2 of part 1 of schedule 4;

"Tax Warranties" means the warranties given by the Sellers in relation to Tax in part 2 of schedule 4;

"TCGA" means the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992;

"Title Warranties" means the warranties given by the Sellers in paragraph 1 of schedule 3;

"Trust Documents" means in relation to each Trust, the trust deed (if any) relating to the Trust;

"Trustee Sellers" means together the trustees of each of the Trusts (in their capacity as such), as named in part 2 of schedule 1 and **"Trustee Seller"** shall be interpreted and construed accordingly;

"Trusts" means each of the S&G Lomax Settlement, the A Lomax 1998 Settlement and the A Lomax Voluntary Settlement referred to in part 2 of schedule 1 and **"Trust"** shall be interpreted and construed accordingly;

"VAT" has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1 of part 1 of schedule 4;

"Warranties" means the General Warranties and the Tax Warranties; and

"Warranty Claim" means any claim, whether in contract or otherwise, in relation to or for any breach of the Warranties.

- 1.1 In this agreement (unless the context requires otherwise):
 - the terms "company", "body corporate", "subsidiary", "holding company", "undertaking", "subsidiary undertaking", "parent undertaking" and "group undertaking" have the meanings given to them in the Companies Act 2006; but, for the purposes of section 1159(1) of the Companies Act 2006, a company shall be treated as a member of another company if any shares in that other company are registered in the name of either (a) a person by way of security (where the company has provided the security) or (b) a person as nominee for the company;
 - 1.1.2 a person shall be deemed to be connected with another if that person is so connected within the meaning of section 1122 CTA 2010; and
 - 1.1.3 "including", "includes" or "in particular" means including, includes or in particular without limitation.
- 1.2 In this agreement (unless the context requires otherwise), any reference to:
 - any party comprising more than one person includes each person constituting that party, and any reference to the Sellers includes each Seller;
 - any gender includes all genders, the singular includes the plural (and vice versa), and a person includes an individual, body corporate, association, partnership, firm, trust or Authority (whether or not having a separate legal personality);
 - 1.2.3 any professional firm or company includes any firm or company effectively succeeding to the whole, or substantially the whole, of its practice or business;
 - any time of day or date is to that time or date in the United Kingdom;
 - 1.2.5 a specific statute or statutory provision is to that statute or provision as in force at the date of this agreement, and any subordinate legislation made under it in force at that date;
 - 1.2.6 writing or written includes any method of representing or reproducing words in a legible form.
- 1.3 In this agreement (unless the context requires otherwise), any reference:
 - 1.3.1 to a clause or schedule is to a clause of or schedule to this agreement;
 - 1.3.2 to a part or paragraph is to a part or paragraph of a schedule to this agreement;
 - 1.3.3 within a schedule to a part is to a part of that schedule; and
 - 1.3.4 within a part of a schedule to a paragraph is to a paragraph of that part of that schedule.
- 1.4 This agreement incorporates the schedules to it.
- 1.5 The contents list, headings and any descriptive notes are for ease of reference only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of this agreement.

SALE AND PURCHASE OF SHARES

- 2.1 Subject to the terms of this agreement, each Seller shall sell and the Purchaser shall purchase the number of Shares set out opposite such Seller's name in column (3) of schedule 1 with effect from Completion.
- 2.2 The Shares shall be sold free from all Encumbrances and together with all rights attached or accruing to them at Completion.
- 2.3 Each Seller waives any right of pre-emption or other restriction on transfer in respect of the Shares or any of them.

3. CONSIDERATION

2.

- 3.1 The consideration payable by the Purchaser for the Shares is:
 - 3.1.1 £69,292,684 (sixty nine million two hundred and ninety two thousand six hundred and eighty four pounds) (**"Initial Cash Consideration"**);
 - 3.1.2 **plus** an amount equal to the Agreed Percentage of the excess in Completion Working Capital above the Target Working Capital (if any) or **less** an amount equal to the shortfall in Completion Working Capital below the Target Working Capital (if any);
 - 3.1.3 **plus** an amount equal to the Agreed Percentage of the absolute value of Net Cash (if any) or **less** an amount equal to the absolute value of Net Debt (if any).
- 3.2 The Consideration shall be treated as adjusted by any payment made in respect of any General Warranty Claim or Tax Claim.

4. SETTLEMENT OF CONSIDERATION

- 4.1 On Completion the Purchaser shall pay:
 - 4.1.1 the Initial Cash Consideration less an amount equal to the Escrow Sum to the Sellers in cash in the Relevant Proportions; and
 - 4.1.2 the Escrow Sum into the Escrow Account.
- 4.2 Within five Business Days of the agreement, deemed agreement or determination of the Completion Statements in accordance with schedule 7:
 - 4.2.1 if the Consideration exceeds the Initial Cash Consideration then an amount equal to the excess shall be paid by the Purchaser to the Sellers; and
 - 4.2.2 if the Consideration is less than the Initial Cash Consideration, then the amount by which the Initial Cash Consideration exceeds the Consideration shall be paid by the Sellers to the Purchaser.
- 4.3 Any payment due to the Purchaser pursuant to clause 4.2.2 shall be settled by release to the Purchaser of such sum from the Escrow Account and the Sellers shall promptly give all necessary written instructions to the Escrow Agents to effect such payment in accordance with this agreement and the terms of the Escrow Agreement.

4.4 Any payments due to or due from the Sellers pursuant to clause 4.2 shall be paid or received by them in the Relevant Proportions.

5. ESCROW SUM

The provisions of schedule 8 shall apply in relation to the Escrow Sum.

6. COMPLETION

- 6.1 Completion of the sale and purchase of the Shares shall take place at the offices of the Sellers' Lawyers on the Completion Date immediately after this agreement is entered into.
- 6.2 On Completion:
 - 6.2.1 each Seller shall comply with its obligations in part 1 of schedule 6; and
 - 6.2.2 the Purchaser shall comply with its obligations in part 2 of schedule 6.
- 6.3 The Purchaser shall not be obliged to complete the purchase of any of the Shares unless the purchase of all of the Shares is completed simultaneously, but so that completion of the purchase of some of the Shares will not affect the rights of the Purchaser with respect to the other Shares.

7. SELLERS' WARRANTIES, UNDERTAKINGS AND INDEMNITIES

- 7.1 Each Individual Seller severally warrants to the Purchaser that:
 - 7.1.1 it is the sole legal and beneficial owner of the Shares set out opposite its name in column (2) of part 1 of schedule 1;
 - 7.1.2 there is no Encumbrance affecting any of the Shares set out opposite its name in column (2) of part 1 of schedule 1, nor any agreement to create any such Encumbrance;
 - 7.1.3 it has the legal right, full power and authority and all necessary consents and authorisations to enter into and to perform its obligations under this agreement and each other Acquisition Document to which it is or will be party;
 - 7.1.4 this agreement and each other Acquisition Document to which it is or will be party constitutes, or will when executed constitute, legal, valid and binding obligations on it in accordance with their respective terms;
 - 7.1.5 there are no agreements, arrangements, Judgments or any other restrictions of any kind that prohibit or restrict its ability to enter into and to perform its obligations under this agreement and each other Acquisition Document to which it is or will be party or subject;
 - 7.1.6 it has not been adjudged bankrupt and no petition has been presented for a bankruptcy order to be made against it, nor has any application, arrangement or order been made against or entered into by it under the Insolvency Act 1986.
- 7.2 Each Trustee Seller warrants to the Purchaser that:

- 7.2.1 such Trustee Sellers are the sole legal owners of the Shares set opposite the name of the Trustee Sellers and the Trust in column (2) of part 2 of schedule 1 and have the right to sell and transfer the full legal and beneficial interest in such Shares;
- 7.2.2 under the terms of the Trust Documents, such Trustee Sellers have the power and authority to enter into and perform their obligations under this agreement;
- 7.2.3 this agreement constitutes legal, valid and binding obligations on such Trustee Sellers in respect of the Shares held by them as Trust assets; and
- 7.2.4 there are no agreements, arrangements or Judgments that prohibit or restrict the ability of the Trustee Sellers to enter into and to perform its obligations under this agreement.
- 7.3 The Sellers jointly and severally warrant to the Purchaser as at the date of this agreement in the terms set out in schedule 3 and part 2 of schedule 4.
- 7.4 Each of the Warranties and the Individual Warranties is separate and independent.
- 7.5 The only Warranties given by the Sellers in relation to the subject matter set out in column (1) of the table below are those set out opposite such subject matter in column (2), and none of the other Warranties shall be, or shall be deemed to be, whether directly or indirectly, a Warranty in relation to such subject matter, provided that such limitation shall not apply to the Warranties given in paragraphs 7 or 8 of schedule 3.

(1) Warranties in relation to:	(2) Are only contained in:
Employees and Pension Benefits	paragraphs 28.1 to 33.6 (inclusive) of schedule 3
Environmental Matters	paragraphs 17.1 to 17.7 (inclusive) of schedule 3
Intellectual Property	paragraphs 19.1 to 19.9 (inclusive) of schedule 3
Property Matters	paragraph 16 of schedule 3
Tax	part 2 of schedule 4

- Any Warranty qualified by a reference (however expressed) to the knowledge or awareness of the Sellers shall be limited to (i) the actual knowledge or awareness of the Sellers and (ii) what the Sellers would have been aware of had they made reasonable enquiries of the directors of each Group Company, Stacey Steward and James Stangroom in relation to the General Warranties and Tax Warranties and no Seller shall be deemed to have any other actual, imputed or constructive knowledge regarding the subject matter of such Warranty.
- 7.7 Save in the case of fraud, wilful concealment or wilful misconduct, or when a Seller has a right or claim against another Seller under any right of contribution or indemnity to which it is entitled, each Seller undertakes to the Purchaser that it:
 - 7.7.1 has no rights against (and waives any rights it may have against); and
 - 7.7.2 shall not make any claim against (and waives any claim it may have against),

any Group Company or any of their directors, officers, employees, consultants or agents in respect of any misrepresentation, inaccuracy or omission in or from any information or advice provided by any such person for the purpose of assisting the Sellers to give any Warranty and/or prepare the Disclosure Letter and the parties agree that any member of the Purchaser Group will have the right to enforce this clause 7.7 in accordance with clause 15.

- 7.8 The Sellers shall indemnify and keep indemnified the Purchaser, the Group Companies and the respective directors and officers of each Group Company, and shall pay to the Purchaser a sum equal to, all liabilities, fines, penalties, costs, expenses, damages and losses and all reasonable professional costs and expenses ("Liabilities") suffered or incurred by the Purchaser, the Group Companies and the respective directors of each Group Company arising out of or in connection with:
 - any failure by any Group Company to maintain accurate, complete and up-to-date "company records" (as such term is defined in section 1134 of the Companies Act 2006), or any equivalent records required to be maintained in any other jurisdiction in which any Group Company is incorporated, at any time between the date of incorporation of such company and the Completion Date;
 - any Group Company (other than Alco Valves Singapore Pte Limited) being deemed to have created a permanent establishment or unregistered branch in Singapore without complying with legal requirements in relation to establishing and/or maintaining such permanent establishment or unregistered branch;
 - 7.8.3 the Reorganisation, any Reorganisation Document, or any transaction, act or arrangement forming part of the Reorganisation or which was undertaken by or on behalf of the Sellers or any Group Company to give effect to the Reorganisation and including (but without limitation):
 - 7.8.3.1 any liability as a result of a breach of applicable law or regulation or constitutional document; and
 - 7.8.3.2 any liability as a result of any person seeking at any time after Completion to challenge or reverse any of the transactions undertaken pursuant to the Reorganisation

provided that this clause 7.8.3 shall not apply in relation to any such Liabilities (i) payable under the provisions of the Reorganisation Documents themselves (ii) taken into account in the Completion Statements or (iii) otherwise taken into account in calculating sums payable under this agreement (as set out or referred to on the funds flow in the Agreed Form).

5.9 Stuart Lomax undertakes to the Purchaser to (i) procure that the SIPP Deed is duly executed by Investaac Pension Trustees Limited and delivered to the Purchaser within one month of the Completion Date; and (ii) to procure that a written resolution of the shareholders of Alco Valves (UK) Limited changing its name to Malox Limited is duly passed and submitted for filing to Companies House, together with the requisite fee, no later than one Business Day after the Completion Date.

PURCHASER WARRANTIES AND UNDERTAKINGS

The Purchaser warrants to each Seller that:

8.

8.1 it is validly existing and is duly incorporated under the laws of Luxembourg;

- 8.2 it has the legal right, full power and authority and all necessary consents and authorisations to enter into and to perform its obligations under this agreement and each other Acquisition Document to which it is or will be party;
- this agreement and each other Acquisition Document to which it is or will be party constitutes, or will when executed constitute, legal, valid and binding obligations on the Purchaser in accordance with their respective terms;
- there are no agreements (including its articles of association, by-laws or other constitutional documents), arrangements, Judgments or any other restrictions of any kind that prohibit or restrict the ability of the Purchaser to enter into and to perform its obligations under this agreement and each other Acquisition Document to which it is or will be party;
- it is acquiring the Shares for itself and not wholly or partly as agent or broker for any person other than a member of the Purchaser Group, and no other person shall be interested in the Shares. For the purposes of this clause, the word "interested" shall have the meaning given in Part 22 of the Companies Act 2006; and
- there are no agreements, arrangements or understandings (whether or not of a legally binding nature) for any of the Shares or any interest in any of them to be sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of to, or held for the benefit of, any person other than the Purchaser or another member of the Purchaser Group.

9. ENVIRONMENTAL INDEMNITY

- 9.1 Where a word or expression is defined both in clause 9.2 below and elsewhere in this agreement the definition in paragraph 9.2 below shall apply only to this clause.
- 9.2 In this clause:
 - **"Environmental Authority"** means the relevant authority or other agency having functions, duties, powers or responsibilities in relation to Environmental Laws;
 - "Environmental Claim" means any claim by the Purchaser or Protected Person for payment under clause 9.3;
 - **"Losses"** means the direct costs (including any irrecoverable VAT) payable or incurred by a Protected Person and arising from the carrying out of any Remedial Works and any costs reasonably and properly incurred by any Protected Person following receipt of a statutory notice served under Environmental Laws requiring Remedial Works to be undertaken by a Protected Person. or following a Protected Person being put on notice that an Environmental Authority is giving consideration to the possibility of serving such notice:
 - **"Hazardous Substances"** means any natural or manmade substance or organism which alone or in combination with others is capable of causing harm to the Environment;
 - "Property" means each of the Properties details of which are set out in part 3 of schedule 2 of this agreement;
 - "Protected Person" means the Purchaser or any member of the Purchaser's Group;
 - **"Remedial Works"** means the carrying out of works to the minimum reasonable standard required by an Environmental Authority acting under Environmental Law to remedy, remove

or abate any Hazardous Substances that are present in the ground, surface water or groundwater at the Property at the Completion Date.

- 9.3 Subject to the provisions contained in this clause, the Sellers shall jointly and severally indemnify and keep indemnified the Purchaser and Protected Persons (for and on behalf of itself and each other Protected Person) against all Losses which a Protected Person suffers or incurs after the Completion Date.
- 9.4 The Sellers shall only be liable for any Losses under clause 9.3 if and to the extent that:
 - 9.4.1 such Losses arise from the receipt by a Protected Person of an enforceable statutory notice served under Environmental Laws by an Environmental Authority requiring Remedial Works to be undertaken by a Protected Person; or
 - 9.4.2 Remedial Works are carried out by the Local Authority on behalf of a Protected Person which are preceded by or which result in the service of an enforceable statutory notice served by an Environmental Authority on a Protected Person; or
 - 9.4.3 a Protected Person is put on notice that an Environmental Authority is giving consideration to the possibility of serving notice under Environmental Laws requiring Remedial Works to be undertaken by a Protected Person and the Protected Person suffers losses defending or countering such initial assertions that the Protected Person may be liable for clean up under the contaminated land regime set out in Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; or
 - 9.4.4 where the Sellers and Purchaser agree that the indemnity shall apply because the Sellers and Purchaser have reached agreement to voluntarily carry out the Remediation Works following an approach by any Environmental Authority.
- 9.5 Any payment made in respect of an Environmental Claim shall include any amount necessary to ensure that after any taxation of the payment in the hands of the recipient the recipient is left with the same amount it would have had if the payment was not subject to taxation.
- 9.6 Should any conflict arise between any apportionment of environmental liability under the provisions in the leases for the Property and this Environmental Indemnity, the provisions of this Environmental Indemnity shall prevail.
- 9.7 To the extent that any Losses arise from:
 - 9.7.1 any wilful admission of liability by any Protected Person or any of their officers where the Sellers have not approved such admission in writing (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed); or
 - 9.7.2 the provision of written information by any Protected Person or any of their officers, employees, or agents to an Environmental Authority unless required by law or provided with the prior consent of the Sellers (such consent not to be unreasonable withheld or delayed);

then the Sellers liability under clause 9.3 shall be limited to only those Losses which would have been suffered had such admission or provision of information not been made.

9.8 Where any Losses arise from any change in law or any new law which comes into force after the Completion Date then the Sellers liability under clause 9.3 shall be limited to those Losses

which would have been suffered had the law not changed from that which was in force at the Completion Date.

9.9 Where any Losses arise from:

- 9.9.1 any change of use or development, closure or temporary or permanent cessation of operation at the Property after the Completion Date;
- 9.9.2 any material change of use of operations at the Property after the Completion Date;
- 9.9.3 any negligent act or negligent omission by or on behalf of any Protected Person after the Completion Date;
- 9.9.4 any activities at the Property which introduce any Hazardous Substances by a pathway to a receptor carried out by or on behalf of any Protected Person after the Completion Date;

then the Sellers liability under clause 9.3 shall be limited to a fair apportionment of the Losses which relate solely to Hazardous Substances that are present in the ground, surface water or ground water at the Property at the Completion Date Provided Always the relevant Protected Person shall be under an obligation to notify the Sellers of any future ground works (unless carried out in an emergency) and shall take proper regard to any reasonable requirements of the Sellers in carrying out such ground works to minimise the Sellers' liability under clause 9.3.

- 9.10 The Sellers shall not be liable under the indemnity in clause 9.3 to the extent that the Losses are recoverable under any insurances held by the Purchaser or any Protected Person.
- 9.11 No Protected Person shall be entitled to bring any Environmental Claim concerning matters which have not been notified to the Sellers before the fifth anniversary of the Completion Date.
- 9.12 The Sellers' aggregate liability under clause 9.3 of this clause shall not exceed £1,000,000.
- 9.13 The Purchaser shall (and shall procure that each other Protected Person shall) take reasonable steps and at no more than reasonable cost to mitigate any Losses under this clause.
- 9.14 The following shall apply in relation to any Environmental Claim:
 - 9.14.1 the Purchaser shall as soon as reasonably practicable upon becoming aware of a matter that may reasonably be expected to give rise to an Environmental Claim give written notice thereof to the Sellers ("Environmental Claims Notice");
 - 9.14.2 on giving an Environmental Claims Notice, the Purchaser shall supply the Sellers with copies of all notices, documents, reports and correspondence in the possession or control of any Protected Person relating to such matter (and thereafter will keep the Sellers reasonably informed of all material developments relating thereto); and

- 9.14.3 the Environmental Claims Notice shall include all material details of any actual or potential Losses, including the Purchaser's reasonable estimate of the Losses, so far as reasonably known and available to the Purchaser as at the date of such written notice.
- 9.15 If an Environmental Claims Notice is received by the Sellers the Purchaser shall at the request and cost of the Sellers take steps which are reasonably necessary at no more than reasonable cost to avoid, dispute, resist, appeal, settle, compromise, contest or defend any claim and any adjudication in respect thereof in respect of any Remedial Works.
- 9.16 The Sellers may at any time at their request assume conduct of any actual or potential claim, action or Remedial Works. Where the Sellers assume such conduct, the Purchaser shall provide all information, assistance and facilities to the Sellers as the Sellers shall reasonable require and shall ensure that no Protected Person takes any action which could conflict with the exercise of conduct by the Sellers. Where the Sellers assume such conduct, the Sellers shall inform and keep informed the Purchaser of progress of any such claim, action or Remedial Works and shall consult with the Purchaser and give due regard to the requirements (and any concerns) the Purchaser may have and shall cause as little inconvenience and disruption to the business of the Purchaser as may be possible in the circumstances.
- 9.17 The Purchaser shall, subject always to the provisions of clauses 9.14 to 9.16 (where applicable) in relation to the relevant matter for which an Environmental Claims Notice has been given:
 - 9.17.1 provide to the Sellers reasonably frequent and detailed reports regarding progress in relation to such matter, copies of all material reports, correspondence and documents;
 - 9.17.2 obtain the Sellers' prior written consent to any material correspondence with the Environmental Authority or in relation to any Remedial Works in relation to such matter, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed; and
 - 9.17.3 allow the Sellers to provide reasonable requests in respect of such matter to which the Purchaser shall have regard.
- 9.18 In the event that the Sellers and the Purchaser are unable to agree:
 - 9.18.1 the standard of Remedial Works which are necessary;
 - 9.18.2 the application of 9.7 to 9.9 and/or
 - 9.18.3 any other factual or technical issue relating to an Environmental Claims Notice (but not any legal matter relating to the interpretation of this clause)

("Unresolved Issue") within 20 Business Days after receipt by either party of notice from the other that the relevant issue is in dispute and that the party giving such notice requires expert determination (unless it is resolved to the satisfaction of that party during that period) then either party shall have the right thereafter to refer the Unresolved Issue for binding determination to an independent expert ("Expert"). If the parties fail to jointly appoint an Expert within 15 Business Days of referral then that independent expert will be appointed upon the application by either party to the President for the time being of the Institute of Civil Engineers in the United Kingdom. Subject to the provisions of clause 9.21, the Expert shall publish his determination within 20 Business Days after his appointment of the Unresolved

Issue in a private and confidential report to the two parties. The Expert shall act as an expert and not as an arbitrator and the parties shall be bound by the conclusions of the Expert which are contained in such report to the extent they relate to the Unresolved Issue.

- 9.19 The costs and expenses of the Expert shall be borne by the parties as determined by the Expert or if not determined shared in equal proportions.
- 9.20 The Expert shall be an independent consultant and shall be required to have at least 10 years' experience in relation to matters of the same general description as the relevant Unresolved Issue.
- 9.21 The Expert shall be instructed to reach his determination within 20 Business Days of his appointment of the Unresolved Issue on the basis of the information provided by the parties, unless the Expert bona fide believes that such information is so incomplete, unrepresentative, unreliable or inconclusive that it would be unreasonable for an expert to reach such a determination of the Unresolved Issue on that basis in which case the Expert shall require such further information as is appropriate to make its determination and in such case the 20 Business Days for determination shall be extended by such period as shall be necessary.
- 9.22 The determination of the Expert shall be final and binding on the parties and shall be conclusive in any proceedings between the parties, save in the case of manifest error.

10. SELLER LIMITATIONS

- The liability of the Sellers under or in respect of any Claim (and, to the extent expressly provided, any other claim or demand under this agreement) shall be limited by, and all Claims and any other such claim or demand shall be dealt with in accordance with, the provisions set out in schedule 5 and part 1 of schedule 4 and shall be subject to the provisions of clause 15.
- Nothing in this clause 10 or schedule 5 shall operate to exclude or limit any liability of any Seller or any remedy available to the Purchaser in relation to any Claim or other claim or demand in respect of or under this agreement against any Seller:
 - in respect of the Individual Warranties or the Title Warranties (save as provided in paragraphs 1.1 and 1.2 of schedule 5); or
 - 10.2.2 under the Environmental Indemnity contained in clause 9; or
 - 10.2.3 in respect of clause 11 (Restrictive covenants); or
 - 10.2.4 under the indemnities contained in clause 7.8 (save as provided in paragraphs 1.1 and 1.2 of schedule 5).
- 10.3 Nothing in this clause 10 or schedule 5 or in part 1 of schedule 4 shall operate to exclude or limit any liability of any Seller or any remedy available to the Purchaser in relation to any Claim against any Seller that arises or is delayed as a result of fraud or wilful concealment on the part of that Seller.
- Notwithstanding any other provision of this clause 10 or of schedule 5 and part 1 of schedule 4, the liability of the Trustee Sellers shall not be personal but the maximum liability of the Trustee Sellers (in their capacity as Trustee Sellers) under the Acquisition Documents shall be limited to whichever is the lower of the aggregate value of the trust assets held by them, directly or indirectly, as trustees of the relevant Trust and the amount of the Consideration received by them as trustee of the relevant Trust, after deduction of:

- any liability for Tax arising from the sale of the Shares by them;
- any liability for Tax arising from any realisation of assets to satisfy any claim for breach of or non-compliance with or under any obligation under any Acquisition Document;
- any liability for costs properly incurred by them in connection with the preparation and negotiation of the Acquisition Documents and matters incidental to them; and
- any liability for costs properly incurred by them in relation to:
 - 10.4.4.1 any claim for breach of or non-compliance with this agreement or any other Acquisition Document; and
 - 10.4.4.2 any realisation of assets to satisfy any such claim.

11. RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS

- 11.1 Each Individual Seller covenants with the Purchaser that it shall not at any time after Completion use or procure the use of any name which includes the words "Alco", "Sub-Tek" or "Hi-Tek" or any word which is confusingly similar in connection with any Competing Business.
- Each Individual Seller covenants with the Purchaser that it shall not for a period of 3 years after the Completion Date, either on its own behalf or jointly with or for any other person, directly or indirectly:
 - 11.2.1 be engaged, concerned or interested in carrying on any Competing Business within the Restricted Area;
 - for the benefit of a Competing Business and to the detriment of any Group Company, solicit, contract with or engage any person who is at Completion, or was at any time during the two years immediately preceding the Completion Date, a supplier of goods or services to any Group Company if such dealings might cause such supplier to cease supplying, or reduce its supply of goods or services to the Purchaser Group or to vary adversely the terms upon which it conducts business with the Purchaser Group;
 - approach, canvass, solicit or accept the custom of any Customer to the detriment of any Group Company or use its knowledge of or influence over any Customer for the benefit of any Competing Business;
 - 11.2.4 for the benefit of a Competing Business, solicit, employ or engage any person who is a Senior Employee.
- 11.3 Each of the covenants contained in clause 11.2 shall constitute a separate and independent restriction on each Individual Seller.
- 11.4 Nothing in clause 11.2 shall prohibit any Seller from:
 - 11.4.1 holding any units of any authorised unit trust;

- holding shares quoted or dealt in on a recognised investment exchange (as defined in the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000) as long as not more than five per cent of the shares of any class of any particular company (other than the Purchaser) is so held;
- 11.4.3 performing his duties as a Representative of the Purchaser Group; and
- employing any person who responds to a recruitment advertisement or whose employment with the Purchaser Group has been terminated, provided that such response or termination was not solicited or induced directly or indirectly by that Seller;
- 11.4.5 dealing with the freehold or leasehold of any Property in his capacity as the owner of such freehold or leasehold title.
- Each Individual Seller, having taken legal advice, agrees and acknowledges that the restrictions contained in this clause 11 are fair and reasonable and necessary to assure to the Purchaser the full value and benefit of the Shares.
- 11.6 The parties agree that any member of the Purchaser Group shall have the right to enforce the terms of this clause 11 in accordance with clause 16.

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

12.1 **Definitions**

In this clause 11.5:

- 12.1.1 **"Announcement"** means the announcement in the Agreed Form to be issued on Completion by the parties;
- **"discloser"** means the person making the announcement or disclosing or using the information; and, for the purposes of clause 12.6.1, includes, when such person is a member of the Purchaser Group, any other member of the Purchaser Group; and
- **"Relevant Party"** means (a) when the discloser is a member of the Purchaser Group, each Seller; or (b) when the discloser is a Seller, the Purchaser and each other Seller.
- Other than the Announcement, no party shall, and the Purchaser shall procure that the Purchaser Group shall not, at any time issue, or procure the issue of, any press release, circular or other publicity relating to the existence or provisions of this agreement or any other Acquisition Document or the sale of the Shares.
- 12.3 No Seller shall disclose to any person, or use for its own benefit, any Confidential Information of any Group Company that it holds at Completion (or which it subsequently receives pursuant to the terms of this agreement).
- Each party shall, and the Purchaser shall procure that the Purchaser Group shall, at all times keep confidential the provisions and subject matter of, and the negotiations relating to, this agreement and any other Acquisition Document.

- 12.5 Clauses 12.2, 12.3 and 12.4 shall not restrict the making of any announcement or the disclosure or use of information:
 - 12.5.1 with the prior written consent of the Relevant Party, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed;
 - 12.5.2 to the extent required by (a) any law or Judgment; or (b) any Authority or securities exchange to which the discloser is subject or submits; provided that, in each case (unless such consultation is prohibited), such announcement is made or disclosure occurs after consultation (so far as reasonably practicable) as to the timing and content of such announcement or disclosure with the Relevant Party; or
 - 12.5.3 that is consistent in all material respects with the Announcement, or any other announcement issued in accordance with this clause 12.5.
- 12.6 Clauses 12.3 and 12.4 shall not restrict the disclosure or use of information if and to the extent:
 - the information is or becomes publicly available (other than as a result of a breach by the discloser of any provision of (a) this agreement or (b) the confidentiality agreement between the Sellers and the Purchaser referred to in clause 12.7);
 - 12.6.2 expressly required or permitted by this agreement or any other Acquisition Document;
 - 12.6.3 required for the benefit of the Purchaser Group;
 - disclosure is made on a strictly confidential and need to know basis by the discloser to (a) (when the discloser is a member of the Purchaser Group) other members of the Purchaser Group; or (b) any of its or their Representatives, insurers, pension trustees, auditors or current or prospective funders;
 - as regards a Seller, is required or is considered necessary by him as part of, or in connection with the discharge by the Seller of his duties or obligations, to any member of the Purchaser Group pursuant to any agreement to which he is party with a member of the Purchaser Group; or (ii) the performance of his service agreement or contract of employment with a member of the Purchaser Group; or
 - 12.6.6 required in connection with any legal action or proceedings (including any Acquisition Dispute).
- 12.7 The confidentiality agreement entered into by, or on behalf of, the Company and the Purchaser and dated 7 May 2014 shall terminate on Completion. Such termination shall not affect either party's accrued rights (including the right to claim any remedy for breach or non-performance), obligations and liabilities under or in relation to the confidentiality agreement as at the date of termination.

13. ACCESS TO INFORMATION

The Purchaser shall procure that:

- all books of account, records, documents and information of any Group Company (in whatever form) relating to the period before Completion ("Group Company Information") are preserved for seven years from the Completion Date and are retained in the UK; and
- 13.2 (on giving reasonable notice to the Purchaser) each Seller and its Representatives are permitted during normal business hours to have access to, and to take copies (at such Seller's own expense) of, such Group Company Information as they reasonably require for tax or accounting purposes or to comply with any law, Judgment or requirement of any Authority or securities exchange to which such Seller is subject or submits, wherever situated, whether or not such requirement has the force of law.

14. SELLERS' REPRESENTATIVE

- 14.1 Subject to clause 14.5, each Seller irrevocably appoints the Sellers' Representative as its agent:
 - 14.1.1 to negotiate and agree and/or deal with the determination of the Consideration in accordance with clause 3 and schedule 7;
 - 14.1.2 to take all actions and exercise all rights in relation to the Escrow Sum and the Escrow Account;
 - 14.1.3 to negotiate, compromise, agree and settle any Acquisition Dispute with the Purchaser on its behalf; and
 - to act on its behalf in relation to any matter which this agreement expressly provides to be agreed or done by the Sellers' Representative.
- Without prejudice to clause 14.1, each Seller irrevocably agrees that any Notice, consent or agreement, election, demand or other action to be given, made or taken by such Seller (whether individually or with others) under or in connection with this agreement may be given, made or taken on its behalf by the Sellers' Representative.
- 14.3 Each Seller irrevocably:
 - (subject to clause 14.5) undertakes to the Purchaser that the Sellers' Representative has and shall retain the authority to bind it in relation to the matters referred to in clauses 14.1 and 14.2 ("Relevant Matters");
 - agrees that the Purchaser shall be entitled to rely on any Notice or communication in writing provided by the Sellers' Representative in relation to any Relevant Matter as binding on it; and
 - agrees that any Notice or communication in writing by the Sellers' Representative to the Purchaser in relation to any Relevant Matter shall be deemed (unless the context requires otherwise) to be provided by the Sellers' Representative as agent for all of the Sellers.

14.4 Each Seller:

- 14.4.1 (subject to clause 14.5) irrevocably appoints the Sellers' Representative as its agent to accept service on its behalf of (a) Notices and (b) process in any legal action or proceedings before the courts of England and Wales or the jurisdiction in which the Purchaser is incorporated relating to any Acquisition Dispute;
- 14.4.2 irrevocably agrees that any Notice to be given to it is deemed to have been properly given if it is given to the Sellers' Representative in accordance with the provisions of clause 28 (whether or not such Notice is forwarded to or received by such Seller); and
- irrevocably agrees that failure by the Sellers' Representative to notify it of the process will not invalidate the legal action or proceedings concerned.
- 14.5 If, for any reason, the Sellers' Representative ceases to be able to act for the purposes of this clause 14 or no longer has a postal address in the United Kingdom, the Sellers shall immediately:
 - 14.5.1 (subject to this clause 14.5) irrevocably appoint a substitute Sellers' Representative with a postal address in the United Kingdom; and
 - 14.5.2 notify the Purchaser of the name, relevant contact (where appropriate) and postal and email addresses of the substitute Sellers' Representative.

Such appointment and notice shall be effective on the fifth Business Day after the date on which the notice given pursuant to clause 14.5.2 is deemed to have been served or delivered in accordance with clause 28.

- 14.6 If, on any occasion, there is no Sellers' Representative:
 - 14.6.1 the Purchaser shall be entitled to deal with the Sellers instead;
 - 14.6.2 (except in clause 1 and in this clause 14) references in this agreement to the Sellers' Representative shall be construed accordingly; and
 - 14.6.3 for the purposes of clause 28.3, the relevant contact (where appropriate) and postal and email addresses of the Sellers shall be as set out in column (2) of schedule 1.

15. SELLERS' LIABILITY

- Unless otherwise expressly provided in this agreement, any covenant, representation, undertaking, warranty, indemnity or other obligation given or assumed by more than one Seller in this agreement is given or assumed by each Seller severally in respect of itself only and not in respect of any other Seller (such that no Seller shall have any liability for any breach of this agreement by any other Seller) except that where there is more than one Trustee Seller of a Trust, any covenant, undertaking, warranty indemnity or other obligations shall be given or assumed jointly and severally by such Trustee Sellers in relation to such Trust.
- 15.2 If a Trustee Seller ceases to be a trustee of any of the Trusts of which he is a trustee, the obligations contained in this agreement shall cease to apply to him and he shall be released from liability for any breach of the terms of this agreement which occurs after the date of his ceasing to be a trustee of the Trust, provided that:

- where the Trustee Seller remains a trustee of one or more Trusts, the obligations contained in this agreement shall continue to apply to him, and he shall retain liability, in respect of such Trust(s); and
- 15.2.2 the Purchaser has consented (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) either:
 - 15.2.2.1 to the appointment of a new trustee, where the new trustee appointed in his place executes a deed of adherence to this agreement in a form satisfactory to the Purchaser agreeing to adhere to and be bound by all the provisions of this agreement expressed to be binding on the new trustee as if he had been named as a Trustee Seller; or
 - when no new trustee is appointed to take the place of the retiring trustee, to the reduction in the number of trustees of the relevant Trust, provided that each of the remaining trustees of the relevant Trust was either an original party to this agreement as trustee of the Trust or has subsequently been appointed as trustee to the Trust and has executed a deed of adherence in the same terms as detailed in clause 15.2.2.1.

16. ASSIGNMENT AND SUCCESSORS

- In this clause 16, any reference to a party's **"rights under this agreement"** includes all or any benefits or rights of that party under this agreement, including, in the case of the Purchaser, the Warranties (together with any cause of action arising out of or in connection with any Warranty).
- Subject to clause 16.3, neither party may assign, transfer, grant any Encumbrance over, declare any trust over or deal in any other way with its rights under this agreement.
- The Purchaser may assign, transfer or grant an Encumbrance over its rights under this agreement to any member of the Purchaser Group, provided that the Sellers shall incur no greater liability to such member than they would have had to the Purchaser if such assignment, transfer or grant of rights had not occurred.
- 16.4 This agreement shall be binding on and continue for the benefit of the successors, estate and personal representatives and assignees (as the case may be) of each party.

17. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS

- 17.1 Except as provided in clauses 7.8.1 and 17.2, a person who is not a party to this agreement shall not have any right under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any term of this agreement. This clause does not affect any right or remedy of any person which exists or is available otherwise than pursuant to that Act.
- The parties agree that any member of the Purchaser Group shall be entitled to enforce, either on its own or together with the Purchaser, the benefits and rights of the Purchaser under clauses 11 (*Restrictive covenants*) and 12 (*Confidentiality and announcements*) as if such member of the Purchaser Group was named as the Purchaser in this agreement, provided that:
 - any member of the Purchaser Group which is entitled to make a claim under this clause 17.2 shall be subject to the limitations contained in this agreement as if it was named as the Purchaser in this agreement;

- 17.2.2 no claim shall be brought by any member of the Purchaser Group without the express approval of the Purchaser; and
- 17.2.3 this clause 17.2 shall not result in the Sellers being liable to pay damages or other compensation or reimbursement more than once in respect of the same loss.

18. COSTS AND EXPENSES

- 18.1 Unless otherwise expressly provided in this agreement, each party shall bear its own costs and expenses incurred in relation to the negotiation, preparation, execution and implementation of this agreement.
- The Purchaser shall pay promptly all stamp duty or other similar transfer Tax payable in connection with this agreement or its execution or on or in respect of the transfers of the Shares.

19. PAYMENTS

- Any payment to be made to any Seller under this agreement shall be effected by transfer of immediately available funds through a UK clearing bank to the client account of the Sellers' Lawyers. The Sellers' Lawyers are irrevocably and unconditionally authorised to receive any sum paid to them in accordance with this clause 19.1, receipt of such sum in their client account shall be an effective discharge of the Purchaser's obligation to pay such sum and the Purchaser shall not be concerned to see to the application of it.
- Save as provided for in this agreement, any payment to be made to any Seller under this agreement or any other Acquisition Document shall be made in full, without any set-off, counterclaim, deduction or withholding whatsoever, except to the extent required by law (in which event, such deduction or withholding shall not exceed the minimum amount required by law, and the Purchaser shall simultaneously pay to that Seller whatever additional amount is required for the net amount received by that Seller to equal what would have been received if no such deduction or withholding had been required).

20. FURTHER ASSURANCE

Each Seller shall, so far as it is reasonably able, from time to time and at the Purchaser's expense, do (or procure to be done) all such other things and/or execute and deliver (or procure to be executed and delivered) all such other documents as the Purchaser may reasonably request to effect the transfer of the Shares held by such Seller to the Purchaser.

21. ENTIRE AGREEMENT

- 21.1 In this clause 21, "Representation" means representation, warranty, statement or assurance (whether contractual or otherwise).
- The Acquisition Documents (as varied in accordance with their terms) constitute the entire agreement and understanding between the parties in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Acquisition Documents. Accordingly, they supersede and extinguish all previous agreements, arrangements and understandings between, and (except to the extent incorporated in the Acquisition Documents) all Representations given by, the parties in connection with such transactions.

- Each party acknowledges that it has not relied on, or been induced to enter into any Acquisition Document by, any Representation given by any person (whether a party to this agreement or not) that is not incorporated in any Acquisition Document.
- No party shall be liable in equity, contract or tort, under the Misrepresentation Act 1967 or in any other way for any Representation that is not incorporated in any Acquisition Document.
- No party shall be liable in tort or under the Misrepresentation Act 1967 for any Representation that is incorporated in any Acquisition Document.
- 21.6 This clause 21 shall not exclude or limit any liability or remedy arising as a result of any fraud or wilful concealment.

22. EFFECT OF COMPLETION

Each provision of this agreement which is not fully performed at Completion (but which remains capable of performance) shall remain in full force and effect after Completion.

23. SEVERANCE

If any provision of this agreement is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect, that shall not affect or impair the legality, validity or enforceability of any other provision of this agreement. If any illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision of this agreement would be legal, valid or enforceable if some part or parts of it were deleted, such provision shall apply with the minimum deletion(s) necessary to make it legal, valid or enforceable.

24. VARIATION

No variation of this agreement shall be valid unless it is in writing and signed by or on behalf of the Sellers' Representative and the Purchaser.

25. WAIVER AND CUMULATIVE REMEDIES

- Unless otherwise expressly provided in this agreement, no right or remedy under or in respect of this agreement shall be precluded, waived or impaired by any failure to exercise or delay in exercising it; any single or partial exercise of it; any earlier waiver of it, whether in whole or in part; or any failure to exercise, delay in exercising, single or partial exercise of or waiver of any other such right or remedy.
- Unless otherwise expressly provided in this agreement, the rights and remedies under this agreement are in addition to, and do not exclude, any rights or remedies provided by law (including equitable remedies).

26. REASONABLENESS

Each party confirms that it has received independent legal advice relating to all of the matters provided for the Acquisition Documents, and agrees for the purposes of the Misrepresentation Act 1967 and the Unfair Contract Terms Act 1977 that the provisions of each Acquisition Document are fair and reasonable.

27. COUNTERPARTS

This agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and by the parties on separate counterparts, but shall not be effective until each party has executed at least one counterpart. Each counterpart shall constitute an original of this agreement, but all the counterparts shall together constitute one and the same agreement.

28. NOTICES

- Any notice or other communication to be given or made to a party under or in connection with this agreement (**"Notice"**) shall be in English, in writing and signed by or on behalf of the party giving it.
- Any Notice shall be sent to the relevant party at the postal or email address and (when relevant) for the attention of the person specified in clause 28.3. Service or delivery of a Notice must be effected:
 - 28.2.1 personally, by hand delivery or by courier (using an internationally recognised courier company);
 - 28.2.2 by prepaid recorded delivery post or equivalent if the address of the party receiving the Notice (**"Recipient"**) is in the same country as the party serving or delivering the Notice (**"Sender"**); or
 - by email, provided that when a Notice is served on or delivered to the Recipient by email, the Sender must deliver a copy of such Notice to the Recipient in accordance with the provisions of clauses 28.2.1 and 28.4.1 or clauses 28.2.2 and 28.4.2 by 5.00 pm on the fifth Business Day after the date on which the original Notice is deemed to have been served or delivered in accordance with clause 28.4.3.
- 28.3 The postal and email addresses and relevant contacts of the parties for the purposes of clause 28.3 are:

Sellers:

For each Seller, the address set out opposite its name in column (2) of schedule 1.

Purchaser:

Graco Inc. 88 – 11th Avenue NE Minneapolis, Minnesota 55413 Attn: General Counsel Facsimile: +1-612-623-6944

E-mail: Karen P Gallivan@graco.com

with a copy to:

Purchaser's Agent: Faegre Baker Daniels LLP For the attention of: Melanie Wadsworth Address: 7 Pilgrim Street, London EC4V 6LB

Facsimile: +44 7450 4545

Email: melanie.wadsworth@faegrebd.com

or, in each case, such other address or contact as a party may notify to the others in accordance with this clause 28 or clause 29.3. Notice of any change shall be effective six Business Days after the date on which it is deemed to have been served or delivered in accordance with this clause 28, or such later date as may be specified in the Notice.

- 28.4 Any Notice which has been served or delivered in accordance with clause 29.3 shall be deemed to have been served or delivered:
 - 28.4.1 if served or delivered personally, by hand or by courier, at the time of service or delivery at the relevant address;
 - 28.4.2 if posted by prepaid recorded delivery post or equivalent, at 10.00 am on the third Business Day after the date of posting; or
 - 28.4.3 if sent by email, at the time the email is sent,

provided that if, under clauses 28.4.1 or 28.4.3, any Notice would be deemed to have been served or delivered after 5.00 pm on a Business Day and before 9.00 am on the next Business Day, such Notice shall be deemed to have been served or delivered at 9.00 am on the second of such Business Days.

- 28.5 In proving service or delivery of a Notice, it shall be sufficient to prove:
 - 28.5.1 that the envelope containing the Notice was properly addressed and either (a) that service or delivery personally, by hand or by courier was made to such address; or (b) posted by prepaid recorded delivery post (or equivalent) and delivered to the address on it; or
 - in the case of email, that the email was properly addressed and sent to the email address of the Recipient for the purposes of clause 28.3.

29. AGENT FOR SERVICE

- 29.1 In this clause 29, **"Agent"** means Faegre Baker Daniels LLP of 7 Pilgrim Street, London EC4V 6LB (or any substitute agent appointed pursuant to clause 29.3).
- 29.2 The Purchaser:
 - 29.2.1 (subject to clause 29.3) irrevocably appoints the Agent as its agent to accept service on its behalf of (a) Notices and (b) process in any legal action or proceedings before the courts of England and Wales relating to any Acquisition Dispute;
 - 29.2.2 irrevocably agrees that any Notice to be given to it is deemed to have been properly given if it is given to the Agent in accordance with the provisions of clause 28 (whether or not such Notice is forwarded to or received by the Purchaser); and
 - 29.2.3 irrevocably agrees that failure by the Agent to notify it of the process will not invalidate the legal action or proceedings concerned.
- 29.3 If, for any reason, the Agent ceases to be able to act as agent or no longer has a postal address in the United Kingdom, the Purchaser shall immediately:

- 29.3.1 (subject to this clause 29.3) irrevocably appoint a substitute agent with a postal address in the United Kingdom; and
- 29.3.2 notify the Sellers of the name, address and relevant contact (where appropriate) of the substitute agent.

Such appointment and notice shall be effective six Business Days after the date on which the notice given pursuant to clause 29.3.2 is deemed to have been served or delivered in accordance with clause 28.

30. GOVERNING LAW, JURISDICTION AND LANGUAGE

- 30.1 This agreement and any Acquisition Dispute are governed by and shall be construed in accordance with English law.
- The Purchaser irrevocably agrees that the courts of England and Wales shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any Acquisition Dispute.
- The Purchaser irrevocably agrees that the courts of England and Wales are the most appropriate and convenient courts to settle Acquisition Disputes and, accordingly, the Purchaser will not argue to the contrary. Further, the Purchaser irrevocably agrees that a Judgment in any legal action or proceedings brought in the courts of England and Wales in relation to an Acquisition Dispute shall be conclusive and binding on it and may be enforced in the courts of any other jurisdiction.
- This clause 30 is for the benefit of the Sellers only. Accordingly, the Sellers shall not be prevented from taking any legal action or proceedings relating to any Acquisition Dispute in the jurisdiction in which the Purchaser is incorporated, nor shall taking any legal action or proceedings in such jurisdiction preclude the Sellers taking legal action or proceedings in England or Wales (or vice versa), whether concurrently or not, to the extent permitted by the law of the other jurisdiction.
- Nothing in this agreement shall affect the right of any party to serve any process in any legal action or proceedings relating to any Acquisition Dispute in any other manner permitted by law.
- 30.6 If this agreement is translated into any language other than English, the English language text shall prevail.

SCHEDULE 1: THE SELLERS, THE SHARES AND THE CONSIDERATION

[Omitted]

SCHEDULE 2: WARRANTED INFORMATION

[Omitted]

32

SCHEDULE 3: GENERAL WARRANTIES

1. Share capital

- 1.1 The Shares together with the EMI Shares constitute the entire issued share capital of the Company, have been properly allotted and are fully paid up.
- Subject to any outstanding registration requirements in relation to the transactions effected by the Minority Acquisition Agreements, the Company or another Group Company is the sole legal and beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital of each of the Subsidiaries. The issued shares of the Subsidiaries have been properly allotted and are fully paid up. There is no Encumbrance affecting any of the shares in the Subsidiaries, nor any agreement to create any such Encumbrance.
- 1.3 Save in relation to the EMI Options, no person has or has claimed any right (whether contingent or otherwise) to require any Group Company:
 - 1.3.1 to allot, or grant rights to subscribe for, shares in any Group Company; or
 - 1.3.2 to convert any existing securities into, or to issue securities that have rights to convert into, shares in any Group Company.

2. Corporate information

- 2.1 The particulars set out in parts 1 and 2 of schedule 2 relating to the Group Companies are accurate.
- 2.2 A copy of the current articles of association or other constitutional documents of each Group Company have been Disclosed.
- 2.3 There are no subsisting shareholder agreements in relation to any Group Company to which any Group Company is a party or by which it is bound.

3. Interests in other companies, partnerships or joint ventures

- 3.1 No Group Company is the legal or beneficial owner of, or has agreed to acquire, any shares, securities or other interests in any body corporate (other than another Group Company).
- 3.2 No Group Company is, or has agreed to become, a member of any partnership, joint venture or consortium.
- 3.3 No Group Company has had any subsidiary other than the Subsidiaries or been the subsidiary of any company or undertaking, other than another Group Company.
- 3.4 No Group Company has any branch, agency, permanent establishment or other place of business outside the United Kingdom, other than the Subsidiaries.

4. Insolvency

4.1 No liquidator, provisional liquidator, administrator, receiver, administrative receiver or similar officer has been appointed in relation to any Group Company or the whole or any material part of its assets or undertaking and, so far as the Sellers are aware, there are no circumstances which are likely to result in such an event.

- 4.2 No resolution has been passed or order made for the winding up of any Group Company. So far as the Sellers are aware, no petition has been presented for the winding up of any Group Company which has not been withdrawn or dismissed.
- 4.3 So far as the Sellers are aware:
 - 4.3.1 no application has been made to court for an administration order in respect of any Group Company;
 - 4.3.2 no notice of intention to appoint an administrator of any Group Company has been given or filed;
 - 4.3.3 no Group Company has entered into any transaction or arrangement which is capable of being set aside, reversed, avoided or otherwise affected, in whole or in part, under any applicable insolvency law;
 - 4.3.4 no Group Company has received any unlawful distribution (as defined in section 829 of the Companies Act 2006).

5. **Statutory books**

- Each Group Company's statutory books are in its possession or under its control and have been properly kept and are up to date in all material respects.
- 5.2 No Group Company has received notice of any application for rectification of its register of members.

6. **Companies House**

6.1 So far as the Sellers are aware, in the last three years, each Group Company has delivered the documents required by law to be delivered to the Registrar of Companies, or similar person, official or authority in any jurisdiction in which Group Company is incorporated and such documents were accurate in all material respects.

7. **Principal Accounts**

The Principal Accounts:

- 7.1 were prepared in accordance with applicable laws and accounting practices generally accepted in the United Kingdom (or in the case of any Group Company (other than Alco Canada and Alco Singapore) incorporated outside the United Kingdom the country of incorporation) as at the date of the audit report on them and otherwise on a basis substantially consistent with the consolidated statutory group accounts of the Group Companies (other than Alco Canada and Alco Singapore) for the previous two financial years; and
- 7.2 gave a true and fair view of the state of affairs as at the Accounts Date, and of the profit or loss for the financial year ended on the Accounts Date, of the Group Companies (other than Alco Canada and Alco Singapore) taken as a whole.

8. Canada Accounts and Singapore Accounts

Each of the Canada Accounts and Singapore Accounts:

- 8.1 were prepared in accordance with applicable laws and accounting practices generally accepted in Canada and Singapore respectively as at the date of the audit report on them and otherwise on a basis substantially consistent with the statutory accounts for Alco Canada and Alco Singapore for the previous two financial years; and
- gave a true and fair view of the state of affairs as at the Accounts Date, and of the profit or loss for the financial year ended on the Accounts Date, of each of Alco Canada and Alco Singapore.

9. **Management Accounts**

The Management Accounts:

- 9.1 were prepared in accordance with the normal practice of the Group Companies and, acknowledging that they have not been prepared on a statutory basis, on a basis substantially consistent with the Accounts; and
- 9.2 acknowledging that they have not been prepared on a statutory basis and have not been reviewed or considered by the Group Companies' auditors, gave a reasonable indication of the aggregate income and expenses of the Group Companies for the period to which they relate.

10. **Accounting records**

Each Group Company's accounting records have been properly kept in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 (or similar applicable legislation in the country in which it is incorporated, if not in the United Kingdom), do not contain any material discrepancy or inaccuracy and are in its possession or under its control.

11. **Period since Accounts Date**

Since the Accounts Date:

- 11.1 no resolution of the members or any class of members of any Group Company has been passed (other than resolutions relating to routine business at annual general meetings);
- 11.2 no Group Company has changed its accounting reference date;
- the Group Companies have operated in all material respects in the ordinary course of business;
- 11.4 no Group Company has acquired or disposed of a business as a going concern;
- 11.5 (other than in the ordinary course of business) no Group Company has acquired or disposed of any fixed asset with a book value in excess of £50,000 or has agreed to do so;

- (other than in the ordinary course of business), and other than for capital expenditure incurred in accordance with their capital expenditure budgets) the Group Companies have not incurred capital expenditure in excess of £50,000 in aggregate;
- 11.7 no dividend or other distribution of profits or assets has been, or has been agreed to be, declared, paid or made by any Group Company;
- 11.8 there has been no material adverse change in the turnover or financial position of any Group Company;
- 11.9 there has been no acceleration of the invoicing and/or collection of any Group Company's debts; and
- 11.10 each Group Company has paid its creditors in accordance with the respective credit terms of that Group Company.

12. Funding

- Full details of all current bank borrowings and facilities available for additional borrowings of each Group Company have been Disclosed and no such funding is dependent on the guarantee or indemnity of, or security provided by any other person (other than another Group Company).
- No Group Company has issued any loan capital (including debentures, loan notes and loan stock) that remains in issue. No Group Company has agreed to issue any such loan capital in the future.
- 12.3 No Group Company has received grants, subsidies, allowances, loan payments, guarantees or other financial assistance from Authorities that will become repayable as a result of Completion.
- Details of all bank, deposit or other accounts of each Group Company have been Disclosed, including copies of the mandates under which such accounts are operated.
- 12.5 No Group Company has given or agreed to give any guarantee, indemnity or other similar security arrangement in respect of the indebtedness of, or the default in the performance of any obligation by, any other person (other than another Group Company).
- 12.6 No Group Company has any bank borrowings other than the Bank Debt.

13. Assets

For the purposes of this paragraph 13 only, a "material asset" means an asset (other than the Property (but including any fixtures) and any IP) with a book value in the Accounts of, or one acquired since then at a purchase price of, more than £100,000.

- 13.1 Each Group Company legally and beneficially owns all material assets, free from any Encumbrance, other than those:
 - 13.1.1 disposed of in the ordinary course of business;
 - 13.1.2 subject to hire purchase or finance lease agreements which have been Disclosed;

- 13.1.3 acquired subject to retention of title clauses contained in written agreements which have been Disclosed; or
- 13.1.4 subject to liens arising by operation of law.
- 13.2 The assets owned or leased by the Group Companies comprise all the material assets reasonably necessary for the continuation of the business of each Group Company as currently carried on (but excluding ordinary course replacement of stock, raw materials and other consumables).
- All material assets are in the possession of or under the control of the Group Companies (save where held by a third party in the ordinary course of business).
- 13.4 No Group Company has received written notice that it is in material breach of its obligations under any hire purchase or finance lease agreement under which any material asset is held by any Group Company, where such breach remains outstanding at the date of this agreement.

14. **Debtors**

- 14.1 No Group Company is owed any sums other than trade debts incurred in the ordinary course of business.
- 14.2 No debt owing to any Group Company as at the Management Accounts Date has been factored, discounted or otherwise agreed to be sold by it or has been or, so far as the Sellers are aware, is likely to be disputed or subject to any set-off or counterclaim.

15. **Relationship with Sellers**

No Group Company is, or has during the past six years been, a party to any agreement or arrangement in which any Seller or person connected with any Seller is or has been interested (other than contracts of employment for Individual Sellers) and no Group Company owes any sums to any person connected with any Seller (other than accrued emoluments for the current month).

16. **Property**

- The Property comprises all the land and premises owned, used or occupied by any Group Company and no Group Company has any right of ownership, option, right of first refusal or contractual obligation to purchase or any other legal or equitable right, estate or interest in or affecting any land or buildings other than the Property.
- 16.2 No Group Company has any actual or contingent liability in respect of land or buildings that have, at any time before the date of this agreement, been owned, occupied and/or used by any Group Company and which are no longer owned, occupied or used by any Group Company.
- 16.3 The particulars set out in part 3 of schedule 2 relating to the Property are accurate.
- 16.4 No Group Company has given any guarantee or indemnity for any liability relating to the Property or any other land and buildings.

	16.5.1	the rents and other monies due and payable under it have been paid;
	16.5.2	the Group Company named in part 3 of schedule 2 as its holder is solely legally and beneficially entitled to such lease;
	16.5.3	no Group Company has received notice from the landlord that it is in breach of its obligations under such lease (which breach remains outstanding at the date of this agreement);
	16.5.4	the rent at the date the lease was granted was the open market rent for the relevant property; and
	16.5.5	so far as the Sellers are aware, all covenants, restrictions and encumbrances affecting the relevant property have been observed and performed in all material respects and no notice of any alleged breach has been received by any Group.
16.6	The Group Companies are the sole occupants of the Property and no right of occupation or any other right has been, or is in the course of being, acquired by or granted to any third party.	
16.7	The Property is not subject to any agreement for sale, option to acquire, right of pre-emption or right of first refusal.	
16.8	So far as the Sellers are aware, there are no material disputes or proceedings relating to the Property or its use, including any dispute with the owner or occupier of any neighbouring land, and the Sellers are not aware of any breach of the landlord's obligations (including insurance obligations) in each lease set out in part 3 of schedule 2.	
16.9	No Group Company has received formal or informal notice from any Authority that the current use of the Property is in breach of planning or zoning laws.	

In relation to each lease under which any part of the Property is held:

16.5

16.10 Landlord's consent has been obtained for all tenant's works requiring landlord's consent at the Property and there are no

So far as the Sellers are aware, the Property is not subject to any matters which are overriding interests under the Land Registration Act 2002.

16.12 So far as the Sellers are aware, the Group Companies have complied with all planning permissions applied for by a Group Company and materially complied with all planning law and all buildings regulations for the time being in force in relation to the Group Companies' interest in the Property.

16.13 All adverse reports on the Property within the possession of any Group Company have been Disclosed.

alterations to the Property which are in the process of being carried out.

All written replies to enquiries given by or on behalf of the Sellers or any Group Company in relation to the Property and replies to Commercial Property Standard Enquiries were complete and accurate at the date they were given and would still be complete and accurate if the replies were instead given on the date of this agreement.

17. Environmental matters

- Each Group Company has obtained and complies with the licences, registrations, consents, permits and authorisations required from any Authority by Environmental Laws to carry on its business in all material respects as currently conducted ("Environmental Licences") and the Sellers have not received written notice stating that any such Environmental Licence will be suspended, varied, revoked or terminated or not be renewed.
- 17.2 In the last three years, no Group Company has received written notice from any Authority that it is in breach of any Environmental Licence.
- 17.3 No Group Company has received any enforcement, prohibition, improvement, remediation, compliance or similar notice from any Authority relating to Environmental Laws and the Sellers are not aware of any breach of or liability under Environmental Laws in respect of any Group Company.
- 17.4 No Group Company is engaged in any civil or criminal proceedings relating to Environmental Laws or subject to any Judgment which relates to Environmental Laws.
- So far as the Sellers are aware and except for circumstances permitted under Environmental Law there have not been and are not currently any Hazardous Substances at, on or under the Property and no Hazardous Substances have been emitted, escaped or migrated from any Property.
- 17.6 No Group Company has any outstanding liability under Environmental Laws by reason of their having owned, occupied or used any property other than the Property.
- 17.7 No Group Company has given or received any warranties or indemnities or agreed any apportionment of liability in respect of any liabilities duties or obligations that arise under Environmental Laws.

18. **Insurance**

- Summary details of the insurance policies maintained by any Group Company have been Disclosed (**"Insurance Policies"**). The premiums due in respect of such policies have been paid when due.
- So far as the Sellers are aware, each of the Insurance Policies is in full force and effect and there are no circumstances which are likely to make any of such policies void or voidable.
- Details of all insurance claims made by any Group Company in the last 12 months have been Disclosed. No insurer has disputed or refused or given any indication that it intends to dispute or refuse any outstanding insurance claim.
- 18.4 No Group Company has any individual insurance claims in excess of £50,000 outstanding.

19. **IP**

- 19.1 Each Group Company owns, or has licensed to it, the IP necessary to carry on its business in all material respects as currently conducted.
- Details of the IP which is registered, or the subject of an application to register it, in the name of any Group Company ("Registered IP") have been Disclosed.
- 19.3 The registration and renewal fees relating to the Registered IP that have fallen due have been paid.
- 19.4 No Group Company has received any written notice challenging the validity or ownership of any Registered IP and no Group Company is on notice that any Registered IP or material IP used under licence is likely to be subject to challenge, opposition or attack or any ownership claim.
- Details of any licences granted to third parties for use of the Registered IP have been Disclosed. So far as the Sellers are aware, no Group Company or any counterparty is in material breach of any such licence.
- So far as the Sellers are aware no third party has infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated any IP of any Group Company.
- So far as the Sellers are aware (having made no enquiries of any licensee of the IP of any Group Company), the activities of the Group Companies and of any licensee of their IP have not infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated and are not likely to infringe, misappropriate or violate the IP of any third party.
- 19.8 Details of the licences (other than software licences) granted to any Group Company relating to the IP used in, and which is material to, the business of any Group Company (**"Material IP Licences"**) have been Disclosed.
- 19.9 No Group Company has received written notice from any counterparty to any Material IP Licence that it is in material breach of such licence (which breach remains outstanding at the date of this agreement).
- 19.10 All source code relating to any proprietary software owned by any Group Company is in the exclusive possession or under the direct control of the Company.

20. **Computer Systems**

- 20.1 Details of the Group Companies' disaster recovery plans for the Computer Systems have been Disclosed.
- In the last 12 months, there has been no failure, breakdown or security breach of the Computer Systems which had a material adverse effect on the Group Companies taken as a whole and the Sellers are not aware of any such circumstances that are likely to give rise to such effect.

21. **Data protection**

21.1 Each Group Company has complied in all material respects with all applicable data protection laws (including the Data Protection Act 1998).

- 21.2 No Group Company has received any notice from any Authority alleging non-compliance with applicable laws relating to processing of personal data and, so far as the Sellers are aware, there are no circumstances which are likely to give rise to any such notice.
- 21.3 So far as the Sellers are aware, no Group Company has received any complaint from any individual about its use of his personal data.

22. **Confidential Information**

So far as the Sellers are aware, there has been no material misuse of any 'Confidential Information that has had a material adverse effect on the Group Companies taken as a whole.

23. Key Contracts

- Details of the principal terms of each contract with each Key Supplier (**"Key Supplier Contract"**) and any other contract which is material to the Group taken as a whole (**"Material Contract"**) have been Disclosed.
- 23.2 No Key Supplier Contract and no Material Contract was entered into other than in the ordinary course of business.
- 23.3 No Group Company is in material breach of any Key Supplier Contract or any Material Contract, nor has it received written notice from any counterparty that it is in material breach of such contract (being a breach that would entitle the counterparty to terminate it and which would, if terminated, have a material adverse effect on any Group Company).
- So far as the Sellers are aware, no counterparty to any Key Supplier Contract or any Material Contract is in material breach of it (being a breach that would have a material adverse effect on any Group Company).
- No Group Company has received notice from any counterparty to a Key Supplier Contract or any Material Contract that it intends to terminate it and the Sellers are not aware of any circumstances which lead them to believe that any such notice is likely to be given.
- 23.6 No Group Company is party to or bound by or liable under any Material Contract which:
 - 23.6.1 involves expenditure or other liability on its part in the next 12 months of more than £50,000 in aggregate or payment to it of more than £50,000 in aggregate; or
 - 23.6.2 involves or may involve expenditure by or other liability for the Group Companies of £50,000 or more per annum and cannot be terminated on less than 12 months' notice.

24. **Products and Customer Complaints**

24.1 Copies of each Group Company's current standard terms and conditions of sale have been Disclosed.

- Each Group Company contracts with its customers using such standard terms and conditions and details of any material variations to such standard terms and conditions are contained in the Data Room.
- Details of each material customer claim in the last five years which resulted in a payment or refund to the customer and had a material adverse effect on a Group Company have been Disclosed.
- 24.4 So far as the Sellers are aware, there has not been any recall of products manufactured or sold by any Group Company.
- Save as set out in its standard terms and conditions of sale Disclosed or as implied by law, no Group Company has given any guarantee or warranty in respect of goods or services that have been or will be sold, supplied or provided by it.

25. Licences

- Each Group Company has obtained the licences, registrations, consents, permits and authorisations required from any Authority (other than pursuant to Environmental Laws) to carry on its business in all material respects as currently conducted, including any export licences, ("Licences") and such licences are in full force and effect.
- No Group Company has received notice from any Authority that it is in breach of any Licence (which breach remains outstanding at the date of this agreement) and so far as the Sellers are aware, there are no circumstances which are likely to result in any Licence being suspended, varied, revoked or terminated or not being renewed.

26. **Competition**

- No Group Company has given any formal written assurance or undertaking to any Authority in relation to competition laws in any jurisdiction in which it carries on business ("Competition Laws") which materially affects its ability to carry on its business as currently conducted.
- So far as the Sellers are aware, no Group Company is or has been party to or involved in any agreement, understanding, arrangement, practice or conduct which may infringe or has infringed Competition Laws.
- So far as the Sellers are aware, no Group Company is or has been the subject of any formal investigation by any Authority in relation to Competition Laws.

27. **Powers of attorney**

So far as the Sellers are aware, no Group Company has given any power of attorney which remains in force (other than those given to its officers and employees in the ordinary course of business or to the holder of an Encumbrance solely to facilitate its enforcement).

28. Employees and terms of employment

- 28.1 The following have been Disclosed:
 - 28.1.1 a schedule of the employees of the Group Companies which includes their names, employing entity, remuneration (including basic salary, bonuses and

commission), benefits (including any car allowance, sick pay, private health insurance, life assurance, permanent health insurance, pension and other benefits) and which type of employment contract they are employed under;

- 28.1.2 copies of the signed contracts of employment of the Senior Employees;
- 28.1.3 copies of the standard terms and conditions, staff handbooks and employment policies which apply to each Group Company's employees; and
- 28.1.4 copies of the share incentive schemes, share option schemes or profit sharing, bonus or other incentive schemes applicable to any of the Group Companies' employees and confirmation of which schemes apply to which employees.
- No Group Company is under any obligation to make any material change in the basis of remuneration or other benefits paid or provided to any of its employees.
- 28.3 Each contract of employment between a Group Company and its employees can be terminated, in accordance with its terms, by that Group Company giving three months' notice or less at any time.
- No Group Company owes anything to any employee other than remuneration for the current pay period, accrued holiday pay for the current holiday year, accrued bonuses for the current bonus period and expenses claims.
- Every employee who requires permission to work in the country in which they are based has current and lawful permission to work in such country.
- No Group Company operates, or has ever operated, a permanent health insurance or similar scheme for its employees.
- No Group Company has any current or anticipated disciplinary or grievance proceedings or appeals in respect of any employee.
- Within the past two years (i) no Group Company has implemented any redundancies and no redundancies are currently planned or envisaged by any Group Company; and (ii) there has been no relevant transfer as defined in the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 affecting any Group Company or any employees.
- In respect of its employees and workers, each Group Company has (i) performed all material obligations and duties it is required to perform (and settled all outstanding claims), whether arising under contract, statute, at common law or in equity or under any treaties including the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Laws or laws of the European Union or otherwise; and (ii) complied with the material terms of any relevant agreement or arrangement with any employee representative or board of employees or their representatives, whether or not legally binding.
- 28.10 No Group Company operates any enhanced or contractual redundancy policy or any other scheme which provides enhanced benefits on termination of employment.

- No Group Company uses the services of any atypical workers, including contractors, self-employed consultants, agency workers, casual workers, part-time or fixed term workers or employees.
- The Group Companies have correctly classified the legal status of atypical workers (to the extent engaged by any Group Company).

29. **Senior Employees**

- 29.1 No Group Company has given notice of termination, or received notice of resignation from, any Senior Employee.
- 29.2 No Group Company has made any offer of employment to any person who, if employed, would have a basic salary of £30,000 which has either been accepted or remains open for acceptance.
- No Senior Employee will become entitled to any payment or change in terms of employment or other benefit, or be entitled to give notice to terminate his employment, solely as a result of Completion.

30. Trade unions, etc

No Group Company has any agreement or arrangement with, or recognises, any trade union, works council, staff association or other body representing any of its employees and no Group Company is, or has been in the past two years, involved in any discussion or negotiation for recognition of the same.

31. Employment disputes and proceedings

- 31.1 No Group Company is involved in any industrial dispute and, so far as the Sellers are aware, no such dispute is pending or threatened.
- There is no current or outstanding claim against any Group Company from any of its employees or former employees and, so far as the Sellers are aware, none is pending or threatened.

32. **Pension obligations**

- No Group Company has any obligation or liability to provide Pension Benefits, or to contribute or provide access to any arrangement which provides Pension Benefits, other than under the Pension Scheme.
- 32.2 No Group Company has received a contribution notice or financial support direction from The Pensions Regulator.
- 32.3 Each Group Company has complied in all respects with the Pensions Act 2008.

33. **Pension Schemes**

- 33.1 Copies of the governing documentation in relation to the Pension Scheme have been Disclosed.
- 33.2 So far as the Sellers are aware, the Pension Scheme is operated in compliance with the provisions of its governing documentation and applicable laws.

- 33.3 All contributions which have fallen due for payment in relation to the Pension Scheme have been paid.
- 33.4 The Pension Scheme is a registered pension scheme for the purposes of the Finance Act 2004.
- All benefits (other than lump sum benefits on death in service) payable under the Pension Scheme are money purchase benefits (as defined in section 181 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993).
- 33.6 There is no litigation against any Group Company in relation to the Pension Scheme.

34. **Compliance with laws**

Each Group Company conducts its business in all material respects in accordance with all applicable laws, including any applicable anti-corruption laws.

35. **Effect of the transaction**

- 35.1 The entry into and performance of obligations under the Acquisition Documents will not breach or require the consent of any person under any contract with a Customer, Key Supplier Contract, Material Contract, Insurance Policy, Licence, Environmental Licence or Material IP Licence nor will it result in the automatic termination of, or enable any person to terminate or alter the terms of, any such contract.
- No Group Company has paid or is liable for any finder's fee, brokerage or other commission or advisers' fees, costs or expenses in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Acquisition Documents.

36. Litigation

- No Group Company is engaged in any civil, criminal, regulatory or arbitration proceedings or any other form of alternative dispute resolution that are likely to have a material adverse effect on any of the Group Companies ("Proceedings").
- 36.2 So far as the Sellers are aware there are no Proceedings pending or threatened by or against any Group Company, nor are there any circumstances which are likely to give rise to any Proceedings.

37. **Judgments**

There is no outstanding Judgment against any Group Company.

SCHEDULE 4: TAX

Part 1: Tax Covenant

1. **Definitions and Interpretation**

1.1 In this schedule:

- "Accounts Relief" means (a) a Relief which has been treated as an asset in the Completion Statements; or (b) a Relief which has been taken into account in computing a provision for Tax which appears in the Completion Statements or has resulted in no provision for Tax being made in the Completion Statements;
- "Actual Tax Liability" means a liability of the Company to make a payment of Tax;
- "Assessment" means any claim, notice, demand, assessment, self-assessment, letter or other document issued or any action taken by or on behalf of any person (including a Tax Authority) from which it appears that the Company has or may have a Tax Liability;
- "Corresponding Relief" has the meaning given to it in paragraph 7.1;
- "CTA 2009" means the Corporation Tax Act 2009;
- **"Effective Tax Liability"** means (a) the unavailability of any Accounts Relief or (b) the set-off against any Tax or against income, profit or gains of any Accounts Relief or any Post-Completion Relief in circumstances where, but for such set-off, an Actual Tax Liability would have arisen for which the Sellers would have been liable to the Purchaser under the Tax Covenant;

"EMI Options" means the enterprise management incentive share options granted over an aggregate of 3,970 ordinary shares of £0.10 shares in the capital of the Company at an exercise price of £28.29 per ordinary share to the following individuals on 29 January 2014:

Name of optionholder	Number of shares under option				
[Omitted]	1,234				
	1,213				
	355				
	242				
	176				
	79				
	103				
	82				
	81				
	88				
	106				

Number of shares under option

70

141

"Event" means any act, omission, event or transaction;

"HMRC" means HM Revenue and Customs and any predecessor or successor bodies;

"Post-Completion Relief" means a Relief to the extent that it arises after Completion;

"Relevant Amount" means in relation to an over-provision, under-stated right to repayment of Tax (including any interest or repayment supplement) or Corresponding Relief referred to in paragraph 7.1, an amount equal to such over-provision, under-stated right to repayment of Tax or the Tax saved by the Corresponding Relief at the date such Corresponding Relief is utilised by the Company;

"Relevant Company" means each company falling within the definition of "Group Company" together with any other company which is, or has at any time been, treated for the purposes of any Tax as being a member of the same group of companies as the Purchaser or as being associated with the Purchaser for Tax purposes;

"Relevant Periods" means all accounting periods of the Company ended on or prior to Completion;

"Relief" means any loss, relief, allowance, credit, deduction, exemption or set-off in respect of Tax or any right to repayment of Tax, and in the case of a right to repayment of Tax includes any interest or repayment supplement;

"Sellers' Relief" means any Relief other than an Accounts Relief or a Post-Completion Relief or any Relief that arises at any time in a member of the Purchaser Group which is not a Group Company;

"Straddle Period" means the accounting period of the Company current at Completion;

"Tax" means any form of tax and any duty, levy, impost or tariff in the nature of tax but excluding uniform business rates, council tax, water rates and other local authority rates or charges;

"Tax Authority" means any Authority or body competent to impose, assess, collect or administer any Tax;

"Tax Liability" means any Actual Tax Liability, Effective Tax Liability or other liability of the Company which gives or may give rise to a Tax Claim;

"unavailable" or "unavailability" means not available for any reason; and

"VAT" means value added tax.

- The provisions of this paragraph 1 and paragraphs 3 to 8 of part 1 of this schedule shall apply for the purposes of any Tax Claim (regardless of whether it is a claim by the Purchaser under the Tax Covenant or in respect of a breach of a Tax Warranty), except where expressly provided otherwise.
- 1.3 In this schedule, references to **"Company"** shall in addition to the Company include every Subsidiary to the intent and effect that the provisions of this schedule shall apply to, and be given in respect of, each Subsidiary as well as the Company.
- 1.4 The value of an Effective Tax Liability is:
 - 1.4.1 if the Accounts Relief which is unavailable is a right to repayment of Tax, the amount of the repayment which is unavailable; and
 - 1.4.2 if the Accounts Relief which is unavailable is not a right to repayment of Tax, the amount of additional Tax which the Company is liable to pay which it would not have been liable to pay had the Accounts Relief been available.
- 1.5 In this schedule, references to a Tax Liability in respect of income, profits or gains earned, accrued or received shall include a Tax Liability in respect of income, profits or gains treated for the purposes of the relevant Tax as having been earned, accrued or received.
- In this schedule, references to a Tax Liability arising by reference to any Event shall include a Tax Liability where the Event is treated for the purposes of the relevant Tax as having occurred.
- 1.7 In this schedule, references to paragraphs and sub-paragraphs are to the appropriate provisions in this part 1 (Tax Covenant).

Tax Covenant

- 2.1 Subject to the provisions of this schedule and subject also to the provisions of schedule 5 of this Agreement, each Seller jointly and severally covenants to pay to the Purchaser (so far as legally possible by way of repayment of the Consideration) an amount equal to:
 - 2.1.1 any Actual Tax Liability arising as a result of any Event which occurred or any income, profits or gains which were earned, accrued or received on or before Completion;
 - 2.1.2 the value of any Effective Tax Liability;
 - 2.1.3 any Actual Tax Liability of the Company arising by reference to the non-payment of Tax by the Sellers or any person (other than the Company) which is at Completion or has before Completion been connected with the Sellers for Tax purposes;

- 2.1.4 any liability for inheritance tax which:
 - 2.1.4.1 is a liability of the Company and arises as a result of a transfer of value occurring or being deemed to occur on or before Completion (whether or not in conjunction with the death of any person whenever occurring);
 - 2.1.4.2 has at Completion given rise to a charge on any of the Shares or assets of the Company or given rise to a power to sell, mortgage or charge any of the Shares or assets of the Company; or
 - 2.1.4.3 after Completion gives rise to a charge on any of the Shares or assets of the Company or gives rise to a power to sell, mortgage or charge any of the Shares or assets of the Company and which arises as a result of a transfer of value occurring or being deemed to occur on or before Completion (whether or not in conjunction with the death of any person whenever occurring),

provided that any right to pay tax by instalments shall be disregarded and the provisions of section 213 Inheritance Tax Act 1984 shall not apply to any payment falling to be made under this schedule;

- 2.1.5 any Actual Tax Liability of the Company which consists of a liability to account for income tax and/or national insurance contributions in respect of an option or other right to acquire shares or securities granted by the Company prior to Completion; and
- 2.1.6 the reasonable out-of-pocket costs properly incurred by the Purchaser in connection with a successful claim under this paragraph 2.

3. **Limitations**

- 3.1 The Sellers shall not be liable in respect of any Tax Claim to the extent that:
 - 3.1.1 the Consideration has been reduced as a result of provision, reserve or allowance having been made in the Completion Statements in respect of the matter of thing giving rise to such Tax Claim or the payment or discharge of the matter or thing giving rise to such Tax Claim having been taken into account in the Completion Statements; or
 - 3.1.2 the matter or thing giving rise to such Tax Claim has been discharged prior to Completion at no cost or loss to a Group Company; or
 - 3.1.3 the matter or thing giving rise to such Tax Claim results from any change in law (including any increase in the rate of Tax or variation in the method of applying or calculating the rate of Tax), generally accepted accounting practice or the published practice of a Tax Authority occurring after Completion; or
 - 3.1.4 the matter or thing giving rise to such Tax Claim results from any voluntary act, transaction or omission of any member of the Purchaser Group (at any time) or

the Company (after Completion) other than, in the case of the Company, any such act, transaction or omission:

- 3.1.4.1 carried out under a legally binding obligation created on or before Completion; or
- 3.1.4.2 carried out in the ordinary course of the business of the Company as at Completion; or
- 3.1.4.3 carried out at the specific written request of the Seller;
- 3.1.5 the matter or thing giving rise to such Tax Claim arises by reason of a voluntary disclaimer, revocation or revision by the Company after Completion of any Relief validly claimed by the Company on or before Completion or the entitlement to which was taken into account in preparing the Completion Statements other than in one of the circumstances set out in paragraph 3.1.4.1 or paragraph 3.1.4.3; or
- 3.1.6 the matter or thing giving rise to such Tax Claim would not have arisen but for a failure by the Purchaser or the Company after Completion to make any election, give any notice or claim any Relief, the making, giving or claiming of which was taken into account in determining the amount of any provision or reserve for Tax in the Completion Statements other than in one of the circumstances set out in paragraph 3.1.4.1 or paragraph 3.1.4.3; or
- 3.1.7 the matter or thing giving rise to such Tax Claim arises by virtue of any change after Completion in the bases, methods or policies of accounting of the Purchaser or the Company except, in the case of the Company, where such change is necessary to comply with the law or generally accepted accounting practice in force at Completion; or
- 3.1.8 the matter or thing giving rise to such Tax Claim arises in respect of an amount of income, profit or gain actually earned, accrued or received by the Company before Completion, and retained by the Company at Completion, but not reflected in the Completion Statements; or
- 3.1.9 the matter or thing giving rise to such Tax Claim is a liability of the Company to pay Tax in circumstances where the Company has collected, invoiced or deducted an amount on account of such Tax and is holding that amount in preparation for making payment to the relevant Tax Authority on the relevant due date save to the extent that any such amount is included in the Completion Statements and has increased the Consideration; or
- 3.1.10 the matter or thing giving rise to such Tax Claim arises due to the fact that any instalment of corporation tax paid prior to Completion pursuant to the Corporation Tax (Instalment Payments) Regulations 1998 (SI 1998/3175) is insufficient, insofar as such underpayment would not have been an underpayment but for a bona fide estimate made prior to Completion of the amount of income, profits or gains to be earned, accrued or received after

Completion proving to be incorrect, or but for any other Event (including a change in law) occurring after Completion; or

- 3.1.11 the matter or thing giving rise to such Tax Claim would not have arisen but for a cessation of, or any change in the nature or conduct of, any trade carried on by the Company, being a cessation or change occurring on or after Completion; or
- 3.1.12 the matter or thing giving rise to such Tax Claim results from the Company becoming associated with any company or companies at or following Completion (provided that this limitation shall not apply to any Tax Claim arising as a result of the transactions effected by the Minority Acquisition Agreements); or
- 3.1.13 the Purchaser or the Company is compensated for the matter or thing giving rise to such Tax Claim by insurers or the matter or thing giving rise to such Tax Claim is otherwise discharged without cost to the Purchaser or the Company; or
- 3.1.14 any Sellers' Relief is available or is made available (at no cost) to the Company or any member of the Purchaser Group to set against or otherwise mitigate or reduce the liability of or in respect of Tax in question, or would have been so available but for the failure of the Company or the relevant member of the Purchaser Group to claim such Reliefs or to take other reasonable steps to obtain such Reliefs where such Reliefs were taken into account in the Completion Statements and the Purchaser was given full details of them; or
- 3.1.15 the matter or thing giving rise to such Tax Claim arises by virtue of the Purchaser failing to discharge its obligations under this Agreement.
- 3.2 The Sellers shall not be liable in respect of any Tax Claim unless details of the Tax Claim have been notified in writing to the Sellers within seven years of Completion.
- 3.3 The Sellers shall not be liable more than once in respect of the same loss under this Agreement.

4. Conduct in relation to Assessments

- 4.1 If the Purchaser or the Company becomes aware of any Assessment which gives or may give rise to a Tax Claim, the Purchaser shall, or shall procure that the Company shall, as soon as reasonably practicable notify the Sellers' Representative of the Assessment, but such notification shall not be a condition precedent to the liability of the Sellers in respect of any Tax Claim.
- 4.2 Subject to paragraphs 4.4 and 4.5, the Purchaser shall, and shall procure that the Company shall, take such action and give such information and assistance in connection with the affairs of the Company as the Sellers' Representative may reasonably request by notice in writing to avoid, resist, appeal or compromise the Assessment, subject to the Sellers having first indemnified the Company and the Purchaser to the Purchaser's reasonable satisfaction against all reasonable costs which may be incurred in taking action and giving information and assistance pursuant to this paragraph 4.2 and paragraph 4.3.

- 4.3 The Purchaser shall keep the Sellers' Representative informed of any progress in settling the Assessment, and shall procure that copies of all material correspondence sent to or received from a Tax Authority pertaining to it are sent to the Sellers' Representative as soon as reasonably practicable (having afforded the Sellers' Representative a reasonable opportunity to comment on any correspondence sent to any Tax Authority).
- 4.4 The actions which the Sellers' Representative may reasonably request under paragraph 4.2 shall not include:
 - 4.4.1 allowing the Sellers' Representative or their professional advisers to take on or take over the conduct of any action or proceedings of any nature arising in connection with the Assessment;
 - 4.4.2 agreeing to the settlement or compromise of any Assessment which is likely to adversely affect the future liability to Tax of the Purchaser or any member of the Purchaser Group; and
 - 4.4.3 contesting any Assessment before any court, tribunal or other appellate body unless, at the expense of the Sellers, the Sellers' Representative obtains the written opinion of Tax counsel of at least seven years' call that, after the disclosure of all relevant information and having regard to all relevant circumstances, on the balance of probabilities the action will succeed.
- 4.5 The Purchaser and any Group Company shall be free without reference to the Sellers to deal with any Assessment in their absolute discretion if:
 - 4.5.1 the Sellers' Representative confirms in writing that the Sellers accept the Assessment;
 - 4.5.2 the Sellers' Representative has not, within 30 Business Days of receipt of notice of Assessment under paragraph 4.1, requested that the Purchaser or any Group Company take any action pursuant to paragraph 4.2; or
 - 4.5.3 the Assessment involves any written allegation made by a Tax Authority of any fraud on the part of a Group Company before Completion in respect of that Assessment, unless that written allegation is proven to have been mistaken; or
 - 4.5.4 the Sellers fails to indemnify the Purchaser or any Group Company as required by paragraph 4.2 within 10 Business Days of the request to do so.

5. **Payment and Due Date**

- Where the Sellers become liable to make a payment in respect of a Tax Claim or otherwise under this schedule, the due date for the making of that payment shall be:
 - 5.1.1 in the case of an Actual Tax Liability, the later of:
 - 5.1.1.1 the fifth Business Day after the Purchaser makes a demand for payment; and

- 5.1.1.2 the fifth Business Day before the date on which the Tax is due or payable;
- 5.1.2 in the case of an Effective Tax Liability, the later of the fifth Business Day after the Purchaser makes a demand for payment and:
 - 5.1.2.1 where the Accounts Relief which is unavailable was a right to repayment of Tax, the first date on which the Company otherwise would have received such repayment had it been available; or
 - 5.1.2.2 where the Accounts Relief which is unavailable was not a right to repayment of Tax, the fifth Business Day before the date on which the Company first becomes liable to make a payment of Tax which it otherwise would not have had to make but for the unavailability of such Accounts Relief; and
- 5.1.3 in any other case, the fifth Business Day after the Purchaser makes a demand for payment.
- All payments made by the Sellers in respect of a Tax Claim shall be paid without any deduction or withholding unless a deduction or withholding is required by law. If a deduction or withholding is required by law, the Sellers shall pay such additional amount as is required to ensure that the net amount received by the Purchaser will equal the amount which the Purchaser otherwise would have received had no such deduction or withholding been required.
- If any additional amount is paid by the Sellers pursuant to paragraph 5.2 and the Purchaser receives a Relief by reason of the deduction or withholding in respect of which the Sellers have paid the additional amount, the Purchaser shall promptly repay to the Sellers such amount as will leave the Purchaser (after payment) in the same after-Tax position it would have been in had the Sellers not been required to make an additional payment pursuant to paragraph 5.2.
- 5.4 If the Purchaser is subject to Tax in respect of any payment made by the Sellers in respect of a Tax Claim and such Tax arises other than as a result of any voluntary act of the Purchaser, the amount payable shall be increased by such amount as will ensure that after reduction by the Tax in question, the Purchaser shall retain an amount equal to the amount it otherwise would have retained had no such Tax arisen.
- 5.5 If the Purchaser assigns the benefit of any of its rights arising under this schedule or this Agreement, the Sellers shall not be liable pursuant to paragraph 5.2 or 5.4 other than to the extent that the Sellers would have been so liable had no such assignment occurred.

6. Tax Returns

- 6.1 The Sellers' Representative or their agent shall at the cost and expense of the Company:
 - prepare the Tax returns of the Company for all Relevant Periods (to the extent not prepared and submitted before Completion);

- prepare all documentation and deal with all other matters (including correspondence) relating to the Tax returns of the Company for the Relevant Periods; and
- 6.1.3 at least 20 Business Days prior to submission to the relevant Tax Authority, deliver to the Purchaser for comment any Tax return and/or related documentation for the Relevant Periods and make such amendments to them as the Purchaser may reasonably request in writing.

6.2 The Purchaser shall:

- 6.2.1 procure that the Company causes the Tax returns and other documentation and matters mentioned in paragraphs 6.1.1 and 6.1.2, except to the extent that in the Purchaser's opinion (acting reasonably) they are not true and accurate in all material respects, to be authorised, signed and submitted to the appropriate Tax Authority without amendment or with such amendments as the Sellers' Representative shall agree (such agreement not to be unreasonably withheld); and
- 6.2.2 give and procure that the Company gives the Sellers' Representative or their agent all such assistance as may be required to prepare the Tax returns and documentation mentioned in paragraphs 6.1.1 and 6.1.2 and conduct matters relating to them in accordance with the Sellers' Representative's rights under paragraph 6.1.
- 6.3 The Purchaser or its duly authorised agent shall prepare the Tax returns and related documents of the Company and deal with all other matters relating to those Tax returns for all accounting periods ending after Completion. In relation only to the Straddle Period the Purchaser shall or shall procure that the Company:
 - 6.3.1 at least 20 Business Days prior to submission to the relevant Tax Authority, delivers to the Sellers' Representative for comment any Tax return and/or related documentation for the Straddle Period and make such amendments to them as the Sellers' Representative may reasonably request in writing; and
 - 6.3.2 gives the Sellers' Representative or their agent all such assistance as may be reasonably required to exercise their right to comment under sub-paragraph 6.3.1.

7. Over-Provisions and Corresponding Benefit

- 7.1 If before the fifth anniversary of the date of this Agreement:
 - 7.1.1 any provision for Tax in the Completion Statements (excluding any provision for deferred tax) proves to be an over-provision (applying the accounting policies adopted for the purposes of the Completion Statements); or
 - 7.1.2 any right to repayment of Tax (including any interest or repayment supplement) which has been treated (or, in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice, could have been treated) as an asset in the Completion Statements

proves to have been understated (applying the accounting policies adopted for the purposes of the Completion Statements); or

7.1.3 a payment by the Sellers in respect of any Tax Claim, or matter or thing giving rise to such Tax Claim, gives rise to a Relief (other than an Accounts Relief or a Post-Completion Relief) for the Company which would not have otherwise arisen (a "Corresponding Relief"),

then the Relevant Amount shall be dealt with in accordance with paragraph 7.2.

7.2 The Relevant Amount:

- 7.2.1 shall first be set off against any payment then due from the Sellers under a Tax Claim;
- 7.2.2 to the extent there is an excess of the Relevant Amount after any application of it under sub-paragraph 7.2.1, a refund shall be made to the Sellers of any previous payment or payments made by the Sellers in respect of any Tax Claim and not previously refunded under this sub-paragraph up to the amount of such excess; and
- 7.2.3 to the extent that the excess referred to in sub-paragraph 7.2.2 is not exhausted under that paragraph, the remainder of that excess shall be carried forward and set off against any future payment or payments which become due from the Sellers under a Tax Claim.
- 7.3 If the Purchaser or the Company becomes aware of any circumstances which give rise or may give rise to the application of paragraph 7.1, the Purchaser shall or shall procure that the Company shall as soon as reasonably practicable give written notice of the same to the Sellers.
- 7.4 The Sellers may (at their own cost) require the auditors for the time being of the Company to certify the existence and quantum of any Relevant Amount and the date on which the Corresponding Relief is utilised and, in the absence of manifest error, their decision shall be final and binding on the parties. The Purchaser shall use its reasonable endeavours to procure the assistance of the auditors for this purpose.
- 7.5 If there has been a repayment of Tax to the Company that relates to an Event occurring, or to any income, profits or gains earned, accrued or received, on or before Completion then, to the extent that the right to the repayment of such Tax is not accounted for in the Completion Statements, an amount equal to that repayment shall be paid to the Sellers by the Purchaser as an adjustment to the Consideration.

8. Third Party Claims

8.1 If payment in full has been made by the Sellers in respect of a Tax Claim, and the Company is entitled at the due date for the making of such payment to recover from any other person (excluding any member of the Purchaser Group) any sum in respect of the matter or thing giving rise to the Tax Claim, or at some later date (but no later than

five years from the date of this Agreement) becomes entitled to make such a recovery, the Purchaser shall procure that the Company:

- 8.1.1 promptly notifies the Sellers' Representative of the Sellers' entitlement; and
- 8.1.2 if required by the Sellers' Representative, and at the Sellers' expense, take all appropriate steps to enforce that recovery and keep the Sellers' Representative fully informed of the progress of any action taken.
- 8.2 If the Sellers are due to make (but have not yet made) a payment in respect of a Tax Claim and the Company recovers any sum referred to in paragraph 8.1, the liability of the Sellers in respect of the Tax Claim shall be treated as reduced by an amount equal to the sum recovered (including any interest or repayment supplement) less any Tax on the sum and the costs and expenses of recovering it to the extent not already met by the Sellers.
- 8.3 If the Sellers have made a payment in respect of a Tax Claim and the Company recovers any sum referred to in paragraph 8.1, the Purchaser shall promptly account to the Sellers for the lesser of:
 - 8.3.1 the sum recovered (including any interest or repayment supplement) less any Tax on the sum and the costs and expenses of recovering it to the extent not already met by the Sellers; and
 - the amount paid by the Sellers in respect of the Tax Claim plus any expenses which the Sellers have met under sub-paragraph 8.1.2.

9. **Purchaser's Covenant**

- 9.1 The Purchaser covenants with the Sellers to pay to the Sellers an amount equal to any of the following:
 - 9.1.1 any liability or increased liability to Tax of the Sellers arising in connection with any of the following events occurring or being deemed to occur at any time after Completion:
 - 9.1.1.1 any Group Company ceasing to be resident in the country in which it is resident at Completion for the purposes of any Tax; or
 - 9.1.1.2 any Group Company failing to pay Tax at any time save that this sub-paragraph shall not apply in respect of any Tax for which the Sellers are liable to make (but have not yet made) payment under a Tax Claim; and
 - 9.1.2 the reasonable costs and expenses of the Sellers properly incurred in connection with any liability referred to or in successfully taking any action under this paragraph.
- 9.2 For the purposes of this paragraph, any reference to a liability to Tax shall include any liability to make a payment of Tax which would have arisen but for the utilisation of any Relief.

- 9.3 Paragraphs 4 and 5 shall apply to this paragraph (with all necessary changes) as if:
 - 9.3.1 (except in paragraph 4.4) references to the Sellers were references to the Purchaser and vice versa; and
 - 9.3.2 references to the Company in the definition of Assessment were references to the Sellers.

10. **General**

Each Seller's liability under this schedule and for breach of any Tax Warranty shall, where and to the extent stated, be limited by the provisions of clause 10 and schedule 5 of this Agreement.

Part 2: Tax Warranties

1. Tax Compliance

- Each Group Company has in the previous seven years submitted all relevant Tax returns to the relevant Tax Authorities by the requisite dates required by law or the published practice of the applicable Tax Authority and all such returns were made on a proper basis and were materially correct and no such return is or, so far as the Sellers are aware is likely to be, the subject of any material dispute with any Tax Authority.
- Each Group Company has in the previous seven years duly and punctually discharged all Tax which has fallen due for payment and has not since the Accounts Date been liable to pay any penalty, fine or interest in connection with Tax.
- 1.3 Each Group Company has in the previous seven years properly made all deductions and withholdings on account of Tax required to be made in respect of any payment made or benefit provided on or before Completion and has to the extent required by law or the published practice of the applicable Tax Authority properly accounted for all such deductions and withholdings.
- 1.4 Each Group Company has in the previous seven years maintained and has in its possession or under its control all records and documentation that it is required to maintain for the purposes of any Tax.
- 1.5 Each Group Company has not in the previous four years been and, so far as the Sellers are aware is not likely to be, subject to any non-routine investigation or audit or visit by any Tax Authority.
- 1.6 Neither the entry into nor performance of obligations under the Acquisition Documents, nor the satisfaction of any condition to which this Agreement is subject will give rise to the deemed disposal of any asset, an obligation to pay any Tax which was previously deferred or any other Tax charge other than in respect of actual sale proceeds received by any Group Company.
- 1.7 No Group Company has in the previous seven years disposed of or acquired any asset otherwise than by way of a bargain made at arm's length or for a consideration that cannot be valued.
- 1.8 The amount of Tax chargeable on any Group Company during any accounting period ending on or within seven years of the Accounts Date has not depended upon any concession, agreement or other arrangement with any Tax Authority (other than concessions, agreements or arrangements that are the subject of the published practice or guidance of a Tax Authority).
- 1.9 Details of all applications made by or on behalf of any Group Company for any statutory consent or clearance relating to Tax in the past four years have been Disclosed. All particulars furnished to any Tax Authority in connection with such applications were accurate and any transaction for which such consent or clearance was obtained has been carried into effect in accordance with the terms of the relevant consent or clearance.

2. **Overseas matters**

2.1 Each Group Company is and has always been resident for Tax purposes only in the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated.

2.2 Each Group Company has made all appropriate claims for Relief under double taxation relief conventions, orders or other arrangements current at the date of this Agreement.

3. Close Companies

- 3.1 The Company is a close company within the meaning of section 439 CTA 2010.
- 3.2 The Company is not and has not at any time within the previous four years been a close-investment holding company as defined by section 34 CTA 2010.

4. Stamp Taxes

- 4.1 Each document under the control of a Group Company, or to the production of which a Group Company is entitled, and on which a Group Company relies or may rely to prove title to any asset or to establish or defend any right, has been duly stamped.
- 4.2 Each Group Company has in the previous seven years duly paid all stamp duty reserve tax and stamp duty land tax for which it has been liable.
- 4.3 Each Group Company has in the previous seven years complied in all material respects with the provisions of part 4 of and schedules 3 to 20 to the Finance Act 2003 (stamp duty land tax) and any regulations made thereunder.

5. Value Added Tax

- 5.1 Each Group Company has in the previous seven years complied in all material respects with all laws relevant to VAT and has made and obtained correct and up-to-date records and invoices and other documents appropriate or requisite for the purposes of such laws.
- 5.2 No Group Company has in the previous four years been required to give any security for VAT.

6. **Inheritance Tax**

Neither the assets nor the shares of any Group Company are, or may be, subject to any charge by virtue of section 237 of the Inheritance Tax Act 1984 and no person has or may have power under section 212 of the Inheritance Tax Act 1984 to raise any capital transfer tax or inheritance tax by sale or mortgage of, or a charge on any of the assets or shares of any Group Company.

7. Chargeable Gains

- 7.1 No Group Company has joined in making, or incurred an obligation to join in making, any election under section 171A or section 179A TCGA.
- 7.2 No Group Company has made any claim under section 152 or 153 TCGA to which section 154 TCGA applies in relation to any assets owned by it.

8. Miscellaneous

8.1 Other than the EMI Options, no person has held any security (as defined in section 420 ITEPA), any interest in such security or any securities option (as defined in that section), where the right or opportunity to acquire the security, interest in a security or securities option

was made available by reason of t	the employment of that person o	or any other person with a G	Froup Company.
-----------------------------------	---------------------------------	------------------------------	----------------

- 8.2 In respect of the EMI Options, no disqualifying event has occurred for the purposes of chapter 9 of part 7 of ITEPA.
- 8.3 No Event has been carried out as a result of which a Group Company is or may be held liable for any Tax primarily chargeable against or attributable to any person other than the Company.
- 8.4 No Group Company is or has been a party to any transaction or arrangement under which it has been or is or may be required to (i) pay any person for any asset, services or facilities of any kind in an amount which is materially in excess of the market value of such asset, services or facilities or (ii) provide any asset or services or facilities to any person for a consideration which is materially less than the market value of such asset, services or facilities.
- 8.5 No Group Company has disposed of or acquired any asset falling within section 17 or 19 TCGA or given or agreed to give any consideration which may be disregarded by virtue of section 123(2) TCGA.
- 8.6 No allowable loss has accrued to any Group Company to which section 18(3) TCGA will apply.
- 8.7 All claims for group relief made by any Group Company were valid when made and have been allowed in full and no Group Company is liable to make any payment in respect of the surrender of any group relief (other than to another Group Company).
- 8.8 No Group Company is or has been a member of any group of companies for the purpose of section 43 VATA (other than with another Group Company).

SCHEDULE 5: SELLER LIMITATIONS

1. Maximum aggregate liability

- 1.1 The aggregate liability of each Seller in respect of all Claims and any other demand or claim against any Seller, whether in contract or otherwise, under or in relation to this agreement (including interest and costs), other than in respect of Claims in relation to the Title Warranties, shall not exceed an amount equal to 50 per cent of its Sale Proceeds.
- 1.2 The aggregate liability of each Seller in respect of all Claims and any other demand or claim against any Seller, whether in contract or otherwise, under or in relation to this agreement (including Claims in relation to the Title Warranties) shall not exceed an amount equal to 100 per cent of its Sale Proceeds.

2. Small Claims

The Sellers shall not be liable for any individual Warranty Claim unless the liability of the Sellers in respect of such Warranty Claim (calculated after applying the other provisions of this schedule and part 1 of schedule 4, and excluding interest and costs) exceeds £25,000. All Warranty Claims arising from substantially the same matter or thing shall be treated as one individual Warranty Claim.

3. Claims Threshold

The Sellers shall not be liable for any Warranty Claim unless and until the aggregate liability of the Sellers in respect of all such Warranty Claims or (calculated after applying the other provisions of this schedule and part 1 of schedule 4) exceeds £500,000 (excluding interest and costs), in which case the Sellers shall (subject to paragraphs 1 and 14) be liable for both the initial £500,000 and the excess.

4. Notice and time limits for Non-Tax Claims

- 4.1 The Purchaser shall give notice to the Sellers of any claim or demand under this agreement other than a Tax Claim, setting out reasonable details of such claim or demand, including the grounds on which it is based and the Purchaser's good faith estimate of the amount of such claim or demand (detailing the Purchaser's calculation of the loss, liability or damage alleged to have been suffered or incurred), as soon as reasonably practicable after the Purchaser Group becomes aware that the Purchaser has or is likely to have such claim or demand, and in any event on or before:
 - 4.1.1 in the case of any General Warranty Claim (other than in relation to or under the Title Warranties), 18 months following Completion;
 - 4.1.2 in the case of any other such claim or demand (other than in relation to or under clause 9), the first anniversary of the date on which the matter or thing giving rise to such claim or demand first occurred or, if later, the first anniversary of the date on which the Purchaser became aware of such matter or thing,

and no Seller shall be liable for any such claim or demand unless notice has been given in accordance with such time limits.

4.2 No Seller shall be liable for any claim or demand under this agreement (other than a Tax Claim or any such claim or demand which has been previously satisfied or settled) unless legal proceedings in respect of such claim or demand have been commenced by being both

properly issued and validly served on that Seller within six months of the date that Seller was first notified of such claim or demand.

5. **Purchaser's Knowledge**

No Seller shall be liable for any Warranty Claim to the extent that the Purchaser had actual knowledge of any matter or thing which it knew would or was likely to give rise to an actionable Claim.

6. **Disclosure and Information**

No Seller shall be liable for any Warranty Claim to the extent that the matter or thing giving rise to such Claim has been Disclosed.

7. Accounts

No Seller shall be liable for any General Warranty Claim to the extent that specific provision, reserve or allowance has been (i) Disclosed in the Accounts or (ii) included in the Completion Accounts, in respect of the matter or thing giving rise to such Claim

8. Other exclusions and limitations

- 8.1 No Seller shall be liable in respect of any General Warranty Claim to the extent that such Claim arises from or is otherwise attributable to, or the amount of such Claim is increased as a result of any change in legislation or law, administrative or regulatory practice or in the generally accepted interpretation or application of any legislation or law, in each case occurring after the date of this agreement;
- 8.2 No Seller shall be liable in respect of any claim or demand under this agreement:
 - 8.2.1 to the extent that the matter or thing giving rise to such Claim has been or is made good or is otherwise compensated for without cost to the Purchaser or any member of the Purchaser Group;
 - 8.2.2 to the extent that the amount claimed has been recovered (after deduction of all costs, charges and expenses incurred in the recovery of such sum) by the Purchaser Group under any insurance policy, or would have been so recoverable but for any change effected by the Purchaser Group on or after Completion to the terms, amount and/or scope of any applicable insurance policy.

9. **No double recovery**

The Sellers shall not be liable to pay damages or other compensation or reimbursement more than once in respect of the same loss or liability.

10. Calculation of liability

In calculating the liability of the Sellers in relation to any Warranty Claim, there shall be taken into account any benefit accruing to and received by the Purchaser Group as a result of the matter or thing giving rise to the Claim (including the amount of any reduction in, or relief from, Tax).

11. Right to remedy

If and to the extent that the matter or thing giving rise to any Claim is capable of remedy, the Purchaser shall procure that the Sellers are given a 60 day period from the date that notice of such Claim is given to the Sellers to remedy the relevant matter or thing and shall provide, and shall procure that each relevant Group Company provides, all reasonable assistance to the Sellers to remedy the relevant matter or thing, provided that the Sellers shall be afforded no such opportunity to remedy if the Purchaser (acting reasonably) believes that it would materially prejudice the business interests of the Purchaser Group.

12. Claims handling: information and access

- The Purchaser shall, as soon as reasonably practicable, give notice to the Sellers containing reasonable details of any matter or thing of which the Purchaser Group becomes aware that indicates that:
 - 12.1.1 any Defendant Claim has been, will or is likely to be made; or
 - 12.1.2 any Recovery Claim exists or is likely to exist.

Such notice shall not be a condition precedent to the liability of any Seller in relation to any Non-Tax Claim, provided that such Claim is notified in accordance with paragraph 4.1.

- Subject to the requirements (if any) of the Purchaser Group's insurers, the Purchaser shall, and shall procure that the Purchaser Group shall:
 - keep each Seller fully and promptly informed of all material developments in relation to any matter or thing required to be notified pursuant to paragraph 12.1;
 - 12.2.2 preserve all documents, records, correspondence, accounts and other information whatsoever (in whatever form held) which are or may be relevant to any actual or potential Non-Tax Claim, Defendant Claim or Recovery Claim ("Retained Information");
 - 12.2.3 during normal business hours and on reasonable notice, and as any Seller may reasonably require:
 - 12.2.4 allow such Seller and its Representatives to have access to the Retained Information, its premises and assets, and to take copies (at such Claim Seller's own expense) of the Retained Information or any part of it and photographs of any premises or assets; and
 - make available to such Seller and its Representatives such of its personnel who are in possession of the Retained Information or any part of it (such personnel to be available at the premises at which the relevant individual is employed and to attend legal proceedings),

provided that nothing in this paragraph 12.2 shall require the Purchaser Group to provide or allow access to any Retained Information (a) to the extent such provision or access would contravene any applicable law or would breach any duty of confidentiality owed to any third party; or (b) that is reasonably regarded by the Purchaser and its legal advisers as legally privileged in relation to any actual or potential Non-Tax Claim.

13. **Defendant Claims**

- 13.1 The Purchaser shall, and shall procure that the Purchaser Group shall:
 - 13.1.1 consult with the Sellers and take all such actions as the Sellers may reasonably request in writing to assess, defend, mitigate, settle or compromise any Defendant Claim or to appeal against any judgment or other adjudication made in relation to any Defendant Claim (including using professional advisers nominated by the Sellers and delegating to the Sellers the sole conduct of any legal action or proceedings in respect of any Defendant Claim);
 - 13.1.2 otherwise take all reasonable steps to minimise its liability in relation to any Defendant Claim; and
 - 13.1.3 not admit liability in relation to, nor cease to defend, settle or compromise, any Defendant Claim without the prior written consent of the Sellers, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed.
- 13.2 No member of the Purchaser Group shall be required to take any action or to omit to do anything which, on a reasonable view, would or is likely to have a material adverse effect on the business of, or be materially onerous or prejudicial to, the Purchaser Group as a whole.

14. **Recovery Claims**

- 14.1 In this paragraph 14:
 - **"Recovery Sum"**, in relation to a Recovery Claim, means the sum recovered from the third party by the Purchaser Group, less all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by the Purchaser Group in obtaining such recovery; and
 - **"Relevant Recovery Proportion"**, in relation to a Seller, means the proportion which the amount payable or paid by that Seller in respect of its corresponding Non-Tax Claim bears to the aggregate amount payable or paid by all Sellers in respect of all corresponding Non-Tax Claims.
- 14.2 The Purchaser shall, and shall procure that the Purchaser Group shall:
 - 14.2.1 consult with the Sellers and take all such actions as the Sellers may reasonably request in writing to pursue any Recovery Claim (including the institution of any legal action or proceedings and any appeal against any judgment or other adjudication made in relation to them);
 - 14.2.2 otherwise take all reasonable steps to maximise any recovery in relation to any Recovery Claim; and
 - 14.2.3 not withdraw, settle or compromise any Recovery Claim without the prior written consent of the Sellers, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed.
- 14.3 No member of the Purchaser Group shall be required under paragraph 14.2 to take any action or to omit to do anything which, on a reasonable view, would or is likely to have a material adverse effect on the business of, or be materially onerous or prejudicial to, the Purchaser Group as a whole.

- 14.4 If the Purchaser Group recovers any sum pursuant to a Recovery Claim after any corresponding Non-Tax Claim has been agreed or finally determined but before the Sellers make a payment in respect of it, then the amount payable by the Sellers shall be reduced by an amount equal to the Recovery Sum.
- If any Seller has made a payment in respect of a Non-Tax Claim ("Claim Payment") and the Purchaser Group subsequently recovers from a third party any sum in respect of any corresponding Recovery Claim, the Purchaser shall repay promptly to such Seller an amount equal to the lesser of (a) its Relevant Recovery Proportion of the Recovery Sum; and (b) the amount of the Claim Payment.
- If any repayment is made to any Seller pursuant to paragraph 14.5, an amount equal to such repayment shall be deemed never to have been paid by the relevant Seller for the purposes of calculating the liability of the relevant Seller under paragraphs 1 and 3.

14.7 The Sellers shall:

- 14.7.1 indemnify the Purchaser Group against all losses, liabilities and damages and reasonable costs and expenses for which it may become liable; and
- 14.7.2 reimburse the Purchaser Group on demand all out-of-pocket costs and expenses reasonably incurred by it,

in complying with its obligations under this paragraph 14.

14.8 The Purchaser shall repay promptly to each Seller any amount reimbursed by such Seller pursuant to paragraph 14.7 to the extent that the costs and expenses which were the subject of such reimbursement have been taken into account in determining the Recovery Sum.

15. **Mitigation**

Nothing in the Acquisition Documents shall, or shall be deemed to, affect the Purchaser's general legal obligation to take reasonable steps to mitigate any loss, liability or damage which it may suffer or incur.

16. Claim to be reduction of Consideration

Any payment made by or on behalf of a Seller in respect of any Claim shall, to the extent legally possible, be deemed to reduce the Consideration received by that Seller.

SCHEDULE 6: COMPLETION OBLIGATIONS

Part 1: Sellers' obligations on Completion

1. **Documents, etc to be delivered**

The Sellers shall deliver or procure to be delivered to the Purchaser:

Sellers' authorities

- a copy of the executed power of attorney in the Agreed Form under which any Acquisition Document has been or is to be executed by any Seller, certified as a true copy of the original by the Sellers' Lawyers.
- 1.2 Shares
- duly executed transfers in respect of the Shares set out opposite their respective names in column (3) of schedule 1 in favour of the Purchaser;
- 1.4 the share certificates for such Shares;
- duly executed powers of attorney in the Agreed Form from each Seller in favour of the Purchaser to enable the Purchaser to exercise all rights attaching to the Shares until the Purchaser becomes the registered holder of them;

EMI Shares

an EMI Shares Sale Agreement signed by each Employee Optionholder together with copies of completed exercise notices in relation to such Employee Optionholders' EMI Option;

Alco Canada

- evidence of the transfer of the entire issued share capital of Alco Canada to the Company together with share certificates for such shares;
- 1.8 written consent from HSBC plc to the declaration of a pre-closing dividend by Alco Canada;

Alcovalves Singapore

evidence of the transfer of the entire issued share capital of Alcovalves Singapore to the Company together with share certificates for such shares;

Alco Process Valves Limited

1.10 evidence of the transfer by [Omitted] of 2,500 ordinary shares in Alco Process Valves Limited to the Company together with the share certificates for such shares;

Security Interests and other claims

1.11 copies of the duly completed forms MR04 registering the satisfaction and discharge in full of (i) the legal charge in favour of Lloyds Bank plc registered against Alco Valves

Limited on 15 April 1986 and (ii) the mortgage in favour of Lloyds TSB Bank plc dated 12 October 1999;

1.12 a duly executed acknowledgement and waiver in the Agreed Form from each Seller in relation to any outstanding claims against any Group Company by, and any sums owed by any Group Company to, such Seller or any person connected with it;

Records

- the statutory books, including registers and share certificate books, of each Group Company made up to the Completion Date (save that the statutory registers (or equivalent) of Alco Canada, Alco Singapore and Alco Valves (US) Inc will continue to be held by local counsel to such companies);
- 1.14 duly executed forms to amend the banking mandates given by each Group Company;
- to the extent not in the possession or under the control of a Group Company, all books of account and other records relating to its business, including all insurance policies;
- the security and authentication codes for the Companies House WebFiling service and Protected Online Filing Scheme for each Group Company;

Auditors and officers

- 1.17 a copy of the written resignation of the auditors of each Group Company with effect from Completion;
- 1.18 written resignations in the Agreed Form of all directors and the secretary of each Group Company (other than Stuart Lomax in respect of the Company);
- 1.19 a written resignation in the Agreed Form of Stuart Lomax from his directorship of the Company;

Lomax Employment Agreement

1.20 the Lomax Employment Agreement executed by Stuart Lomax and the Company; and

Deeds of Variation

1.21 The duly executed Deeds of Variation, provided that the SIPP Deed shall not, at Completion, be executed by Investaac Pension Trustees Limited whose signature shall follow in accordance with clause 7.9.

2. Board meetings of the Group Companies

The Sellers shall procure that a meeting of the board of directors of each Group Company is held at which:

- in relation to the Company only, the transfers of the Shares are approved for registration (subject only to being duly stamped);
- such persons as the Purchaser nominates are appointed as directors and the secretary with effect from the end of the meeting;

- 2.3 the bank mandates be revised in such manner as the Purchaser requires; and
- 2.4 the execution of each of the agreements and other documents in this part to which such Group Company is party be approved and authorised.

3. Escrow Account

The Sellers shall deliver to the Purchaser and each of the Escrow Agents a duly executed Escrow Agreement.

Part 2: Purchaser's obligations on Completion

1. **Documents, etc to be delivered**

The Purchaser shall execute each of the EMI Shares Sale Agreements and deliver or procure to be delivered to the Sellers:

- 1.1 a copy of the resolution of the board of directors of the Purchaser in the Agreed Form (authorising the execution of any Acquisition Document to which the Purchaser is party, and appointing the relevant signatory or signatories to sign such Acquisition Document(s) on the Purchaser's behalf); and
- a copy of the executed power of attorney in the Agreed Form under which any Acquisition Document has been or is to be executed by the Purchaser.

2. **Payment of the Consideration**

The Purchaser shall:

- pay the sum of £62,072,684 in respect of the Initial Cash Consideration less the amount of the Escrow Sum to the Sellers;
- pay the Escrow Sum in immediately available funds through a UK clearing bank to the client account of the Purchaser's Lawyers for payment into the Escrow Account (or provide a solicitors undertaking from the Purchaser's solicitors in form agreed with the Sellers' Solicitors in relation to the Escrow Sum);
- pay the sum of £437,873 in respect of the sums due from it to the Employee Optionholders under the EMI Shares Sale Agreements;
- pay the sum of £112,311 to the Company in respect of the exercise price due from Employee Optionholders as required under the EMI Shares Sale Agreements;
- 2.5 procure that the Company pays the sum of £2,355,882 in relation to the sums due under the Minority Acquisition Arrangements;
- 2.6 procure that the Company repays the Bank Debt (if any).

3. Escrow Account

The Purchaser shall deliver to the Sellers and each of the Escrow Agents a duly executed Escrow Agreement.

SCHEDULE 7: COMPLETION STATEMENTS

Part 1: General

1. Contents

The Completion Statements shall comprise (i) the consolidated balance sheet of the Group Companies ("Completion Accounts") and (ii) a statement of the Cash, the Debt and the Completion Working Capital ("Adjustment Statement") as at close of business on the Completion Date, in the form and including the items set out in part 3.

2. **Bases of preparation**

The Completion Statements shall be prepared:

- 2.1 in accordance with the specific accounting treatments set out in Part 4 of this schedule; and subject thereto;
- adopting the same accounting policies, principles, estimation techniques, measurement bases, practices and procedures used by the Company in the preparation of the Principal Accounts as there applied except for Alco Canada and Alco Singapore which shall adopt the same accounting policies, principles, estimation techniques, measurement bases, practices and procedures used in the preparation of the Canada Accounts and Singapore Accounts respectively, as there applied; and subject thereto;
- 2.3 in accordance with the Accounting Standards in force and mandatory in the United Kingdom at the Accounts Date.

3. Stock take

The Purchaser shall procure that the Purchaser's representatives carry out in the presence of the Sellers' representatives in accordance with the procedures set out in paragraph 2.2 above:

- on the day after the Completion Date, a full physical stock take of the stock and work in progress of the Group Companies, in the US, Canada and Singapore;
- 3.2 within five Business Days after the Completion Date, a full physical stock take of finished goods and work in progress of the Group Companies in the UK; and
- 3.3 within four weeks of the Completion Date, cycle counts on raw materials and components of the Group Companies in the UK,

in each case as at close of business on the Completion Date.

The Purchaser shall procure that the results of the physical stock take and any resulting amendments to physical stock records will be produced and a copy delivered to the Sellers within 10 Business Days of Completion and the results of the cycle counts and any resulting amendments to the cycle counts records will be produced and a copy delivered to the Sellers within 25 Business Days of Completion.

4. Submission of Draft Completion Statements

- The Purchaser shall procure the preparation and submission to the Sellers' Representative of a draft of the Completion Statements ("**Draft Completion Statements**") within 40 Business Days of Completion.
- 4.2 The Sellers shall provide the Purchaser with all reasonable assistance to enable the Purchaser to comply with paragraph 4.1 above.

5. **Response to Draft Completion Statements**

- 5.1 Within 20 Business Days of receipt of the Draft Completion Statements ("**Response Period**"), the Sellers' Representative shall give notice to the Purchaser ("**Response Notice**") stating whether or not the Sellers agree with the Draft Completion Statements.
- 5.2 If the Sellers disagree with the Draft Completion Statements, the Response Notice shall also state:
 - 5.2.1 the item or items in dispute;
 - 5.2.2 the reasons for such dispute; and
 - 5.2.3 (to the extent then reasonably practicable) details of its proposed adjustments to the Draft Completion Statements.

6. **No Response Notice**

If the Sellers' Representative does not give the Response Notice within the Response Period, then the Sellers shall be deemed to have agreed the Draft Completion Statements, and such statements shall constitute the Completion Statements.

7. **Positive Response Notice**

If the Response Notice is given within the Response Period and states that the Sellers agree with the Draft Completion Statements, then such statements shall constitute the Completion Statements.

8. **Negative Response Notice**

If the Response Notice is given within the Response Period and states that the Sellers disagree with the Draft Completion Statements, then:

- the Purchaser and the Sellers shall enter into negotiations and endeavour to agree the items disputed by the Sellers in the Response Notice in good faith;
- only those items detailed as disputed in the Response Notice that remain in dispute after the negotiation between the Purchaser and Sellers pursuant to paragraph 8.1 above ("**Disputed Items**") shall be treated as being in dispute, and the Purchaser and Sellers shall be deemed to have agreed all other items in the Draft Completion Statements;

- if, within 20 Business Days of receipt of the Response Notice, all the Disputed Items are resolved by agreement between them, the Purchaser and the Sellers shall promptly sign a joint statement which:
 - 8.3.1 appends a copy of the Draft Completion Statements, adjusted to reflect all the Disputed Items as so agreed; and
 - 8.3.2 confirms that such accounts constitute the Completion Statements;
- if, within 20 Business Days of receipt of the Response Notice, the Purchaser and the Sellers have not agreed the Completion Statements in accordance with paragraph 8.3:
 - 8.4.1 where relevant, the Purchaser and the Sellers shall promptly sign a joint statement which:
 - 8.4.1.1 sets out the Disputed Items (if any) that have been agreed between them; and
 - 8.4.1.2 appends a copy of the Draft Completion Statements, adjusted to reflect any Disputed Item as so agreed; and
 - 8.4.2 the remaining Disputed Items shall be referred for determination by an Expert in accordance with the provisions of part 2 upon the written request of either the Purchaser or the Sellers' Representative; and
- 8.5 if the Purchaser and the Sellers do not agree the Completion Statements in accordance with paragraph 8.3, then the Draft Completion Statements adjusted to reflect:
 - 8.5.1 the Disputed Items (if any) that are agreed between the Sellers' Representative and the Purchaser in writing (whether in accordance with paragraph 8.4.1 or subsequently); and
 - 8.5.2 the Expert's determination made pursuant to part 2,

shall constitute the Completion Statements.

9. **Records and access, etc**

From Completion until the agreement, deemed agreement or determination of the Completion Statements, each of the Purchaser and the Sellers shall:

- 9.1 retain any relevant records, documents and information within its possession or under its or their control (which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall not include auditors' working papers) relating to the assets, liabilities and other matters which are the subject of the Completion Statements ("Completion Statements Information"); and
- 9.2 provide to the others and their representatives such access to:
 - 9.2.1 any assets of the Group Companies within its possession or under its control; and
 - 9.2.2 its Completion Statements Information and its personnel to obtain all relevant facts and information within their knowledge (except any document and/or information that was prepared by another party or its advisers with a view to

assessing the merits of any argument on any Disputed Item or that is otherwise legally privileged),

as is reasonably required by the others to undertake the stock take and prepare, review, agree or otherwise determine the Completion Statements (as appropriate).

Part 2: Expert determination

10. **Appointment of Expert**

- An **"Expert"** is an individual with suitable experience in dealing with such types of dispute at a firm of chartered accountants in the United Kingdom (who and which are independent of the parties):
 - 10.1.1 agreed by the Purchaser and the Sellers' Representative in writing; or
 - in default of agreement within 10 Business Days of the date of either the Purchaser or the Sellers' Representative serving on the other details of its suggested Expert or Experts, nominated by the President for the time being of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales upon the application at any time of either the Purchaser or the Sellers' Representative.
- Any firm proposed or nominated to provide an Expert shall be required to declare in writing any current and past associations of such firm and its proposed Expert with any party before appointment to establish their independence.
- 10.3 Each of the Purchaser and the Sellers agrees to:
 - 10.3.1 use its reasonable endeavours to appoint an Expert expeditiously following a written request to do so from the other and to agree the terms of engagement for the Expert within 10 Business Days of the Expert's selection or nomination; and
 - 10.3.2 not unreasonably (having regard to the provisions of this part 2) refuse its agreement to any terms of engagement proposed by the Expert (which may include a limitation on his liability at a level consistent with market practice at the relevant time) or the other party.

11. **Procedure**

- The Purchaser and the Sellers shall each supply the other with a copy of any written submission provided by it or on its behalf to the Expert pursuant to this part 2 at the same time as it is provided to the Expert.
- Within 5 Business Days of the appointment of the Expert, the Sellers' Representative shall provide the Expert with the following:
 - 11.2.1 a copy of the Draft Completion Statements (adjusted to reflect the Disputed Items (if any) then agreed between the Purchaser and the Sellers' Representative in writing) ("Adjusted Draft Completion Statements"); and
 - a written statement of the Disputed Items referred to the Expert as referred to in paragraph 8.4.2 above.

- Each of the Purchaser and the Sellers shall provide (or, to the extent it is reasonably able, procure that others provide) the Expert with such documents, information and assistance (including the right to inspect the Completion Statements Information) as the Expert reasonably requires for the purpose of making his determination.
- 11.4 All matters in relation to any determination under this part 2 shall be kept confidential by the parties and the Expert.
- To the extent not provided for in or inconsistent with this part 2, the Expert shall determine the procedure to be followed in making his determination and shall be entitled to obtain such independent legal or other professional advice as he may reasonably require in making his determination.

12. Role of Expert

- 12.1 The Expert shall:
 - 12.1.1 act as an expert and not as an arbitrator;
 - determine on the basis of all information, documents and materials before him what adjustments (if any) are in his opinion necessary to the amounts shown by the Adjusted Draft Completion Statements in respect of each of the Disputed Items referred to him in order to comply with the provisions of this agreement; and
 - 12.1.3 notify the parties of his determination in writing (without reasons) as soon as reasonably practicable and in any event within [40] Business Days of his appointment.
- Any nomination fee and the Expert's fees and expenses (including any fees and expenses of any professional advisers appointed by him) shall be borne as determined by the Expert (having regard to the merits of each party's submissions in relation to the Disputed Items referred to him), failing which, borne half by the Sellers and half by the Purchaser.
- 12.3 The Expert's determination shall be final and binding on the parties except where there is fraud or manifest error.

13. Substitute or replacement Expert

If the Expert dies or becomes unwilling to act or incapable of acting, then the Sellers and the Purchaser shall:

- accept any substitute Expert reasonably nominated by the firm engaged by them following a written request to such firm to do so from either the Purchaser or the Sellers' Representative; or
- if no substitute is nominated within 20 Business Days of such request, promptly discharge the original Expert and appoint a replacement following the process set out in paragraph 10 above, and this part 2 shall apply to the replacement Expert as if he were the first Expert appointed.

Part 3: Pro formas
Estimated Cash, Debt and Working Capital

£	Xamol	Sub Tek	Components	Process	Valves	Hi-Tek	US	Aggregated	Consol. adjustments	Legacy consolidated	Canada	Singapore	Interco. adjustments	Completion Accounts
Goodwill	X	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x		x
Fixed assets	x	x	x	x	x	x	X	x	x	x	x	x		x
Investments	x	x	x	x	x	x	X	x	x	x	x	x		x
Intangibles	X	X	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x		x
Stock	x	х	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x		x
Trade debtors	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	(x)	x
Prepayments	x	x	x	X	X	x	x	x	x	x	x	X	()	x
Other debtors	x	x	x	x	x	x	X	x	x	x	x	x		x
Intercompany loans - Xamol	x	x	x	x	x	x	X	x	x	x	x	x	x	x
Intercompany loans - Canada	x	x	x	x	x	x	X	x	x	x	x	x	x	x
Intercompany loans - Singapore	x	x	x	x	x	x	X	x	x	x	x	x	x	x
Trade creditors	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	x	(x)	(x)	(x)		(x)
Accruals	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	x	(x)	(x)	(x)		(x)
Other creditors	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	x	(x)	(x)	(x)		(x)
Tax and social security	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	x	(x)	(x)	(x)		(x)
Cash	x	х	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x		x
Corporation tax	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	x	(x)	(x)	(x)		(x)
Directors loan accounts	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x		x
Dividend account	X	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x		x
Employee loan account	x	X	x	X	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x		x
Deferred tax	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	(x)	x	(x)	(x)	(x)		(x)
Net assets	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	x	x	x	х		x

			6 14 77 11		
	2	Completion Statements	Completion Working Capital	Net Cash / (Net Debt)	Other
	Goodwill	x			x
	Fixed assets	X X			X
	Investments	X			X
	Intangibles	X			X
	Stock	X	X		
	Trade debtors	X	X		
	Prepayments	X	X		
	Other debtors	X	X		
	Intercompany loans - Xamol	X			X
	Intercompany loans - Canada	X			X
	Intercompany loans - Singapore	X			X
	Trade creditors	(x)	(x)		
	Accruals Other creditors	(x)	(X)		
	Tax and social security	(x) (x)	(x) (x) (x)		
	rax and social security	(A)	(A)		
	Cash	X		X	
	Corporation tax	(x)		(x)	
	Directors loan accounts	X		X	
	Dividend account	X		X	
	Employee loan account	X		X	
	Deferred tax	(x)			(x)
	Net assets	X			
ause 3.1.2	Completion Working Capita	l	X		
	Target Working Capita	l	[•]		
	Excess/(Shortfall))	X		
ause 3.1.3	Net Cash or (Net Debt)			X or (X)	

Part 4: Specific accounting treatments

- 1. The balance sheets of Alco Canada and Alco Singapore shall be consolidated into the Completion Statements in a manner consistent with the consolidation method adopted and applied in the preparation of the Principal Accounts.
- 2. The Completion Statements shall not re-appraise the value of any of the assets or liabilities as a result of the change in ownership (or any changes in the business of the Group Companies since Completion following such change in ownership except as specifically set out in this schedule 7.
- 3. In preparing the Completion Statements, insofar as it relates to conditions that existed at Completion, no account is to be taken of any event arising, or information received, more than 40 Business Days after the Completion Date.
- 4. There shall be no double counting in the Completion Statements and to that end, no item is to be included more than once in the Completion Statements.
- 5. Corporation tax:
 - a) A provision for current period corporation tax shall be included in the Completion Statements as if the period commencing on the day after the Accounts Date and ending on the Completion Date was an accounting period for tax purposes.
 - b) For this purpose, corporation tax refers to the tax levied on profits of the Group Companies and is referred to in their relevant jurisdictions as follows:
 - Canada Corporation Income Tax
 - Singapore Corporate Income Tax
 - USA Federal Corporate Income Tax
 - UK Corporation Tax
 - c) The provision for current period corporation tax shall take account of any relief to which the Group is entitled including Research and Development Relief.
- 6. In preparing the Completion Statements, and in a manner consistent with the accounting policies and consolidation method adopted and applied in the preparation of the Principal Accounts, no adjustment or provision shall be made to eliminate from closing stock any unrealised profit arising from sales between any of the Group Companies.
- 7. Cash shall include the subscription monies payable to the Company on exercise of the EMI Options.
- 8. The sums payable by the Company (including stamp duty) pursuant to the Minority Acquisition Arrangements shall not be treated as debt and shall be excluded from the Completion Statements. Professional fees to be invoiced to the Company on or around Completion in relation to matters arising in connection with the transactions contemplated by this agreement will be treated as debt (where such fees relate to advice or services provided prior to the Completion Date).

SCHEDULE 8: ESCROW PROVISIONS

1. Release from the Retention

- 1.1 Upon a Retention Claim or part of it becoming a Settled Retention Claim, an amount equal to the lower of:
 - 1.1.1 the sum due to the Purchaser in respect of that Settled Retention Claim; and
 - 1.1.2 the Escrow Sum,

shall be released as soon as reasonably practicable from the Escrow Account to the Purchaser in complete or partial satisfaction (as the case may be) of that Settled Retention Claim.

- 1.2 If there is no Disputed Retention Claim on the Release Date, then, subject to satisfaction of all Settled Retention Claims, the Escrow Sum (if any) shall be released as soon as reasonably practicable from the Escrow Account to the Sellers.
- 1.3 If there is a Disputed Retention Claim on the Release Date, then the provisions of paragraph 2 shall apply.

2. Retention after Release Date

- Promptly after the Release Date, the Purchaser shall notify the Sellers of its bona fide reasonable estimate of the value (including costs and interest) of each Disputed Retention Claim (taking account of the limitations and exclusions of the liability of the Sellers contained in this agreement) (each an "Estimate"). If any Disputed Retention Claim is wholly or partly contingent or the Purchaser reasonably considers that it is not readily quantifiable, then, for the purposes of this paragraph, the Purchaser may notify its Estimate for that Disputed Retention Claim as a sum in excess of the Escrow Sum as at the Release Date.
- 2.2 If, at any time after notification of the Estimates for all Disputed Retention Claims pursuant to paragraph 2.1, the Escrow Sum exceeds the aggregate of:
 - 2.2.1 the Estimates for all Disputed Retention Claims then outstanding; and
 - 2.2.2 the value of all Settled Retention Claims to the extent that they then remain unsatisfied,

then a sum equal to the excess shall be released immediately from the Escrow Account to the Sellers.

2.3 Upon all Disputed Retention Claims becoming Settled Retention Claims and subject to satisfaction of all Settled Retention Claims, the Escrow Sum (if any) shall be released immediately from the Escrow Account to the Sellers.

3. **Counsel's opinion**

3.1 If required by notice from the Sellers' Representative at any time after the Release Date (but on one occasion only), the Purchaser shall promptly instruct Queen's Counsel to give an opinion on whether (based on the information provided in his instructions) on a strike out application being made by the Sellers in relation to each of the Disputed Retention Claims as are detailed in the Sellers' Representative's notice ("Referred Disputed Retention Claims"), the Purchaser would on the balance of probabilities successfully defend each such application.

- 3.2 The Purchaser shall have the sole right, after reasonable consultation with the Sellers, to select the counsel to be instructed. Counsel shall be instructed to give his opinion in writing within 30 Business Days of receipt of his instructions. The Purchaser shall promptly provide a copy of the instructions to the Sellers.
- 3.3 If counsel advises that, on a strike out application being made by the Sellers in relation to any Referred Disputed Retention Claim, the Purchaser would on the balance of probabilities not successfully defend such application, then:
 - 3.3.1 for the purposes of paragraphs 2.2 and 2.3 only, that Referred Disputed Retention Claim shall be deemed to be a Settled Retention Claim with a value of nil; and
 - 3.3.2 the provisions of paragraph 2.2 shall be re-applied.
- 3.4 Counsel's fees (including VAT) shall be borne as to 50% by the Purchaser and as to 50% by the Sellers. The Sellers shall indemnify the Purchaser immediately on demand against any fees that the Purchaser pays that, in accordance with this paragraph 3.4, should be borne by the Sellers.

4. Interest on the Retention

Interest which accrues on the amount held in the Escrow Account shall be credited to the Escrow Account (but shall not form part of the Escrow Sum) and any payment of principal out of the Escrow Account shall include a payment of the interest earned on such principal amount while in the Escrow Account. The liability to Tax on any such interest shall be borne by the party ultimately entitled to such interest.

5. **Bank charges**

- 5.1 Each payment from the Escrow Account shall be made after the deduction of all charges to be levied by the Bank for making such payment.
- 5.2 All charges, fees, costs and expenses levied by the Bank arising out of or in connection with the Escrow Account shall be debited to the Escrow Account.

6. **Apportionment between Sellers**

Any payment out of the Escrow Account to the Sellers, any liability to Tax on any interest accrued on the Escrow Sum and any other liability or payment to be borne or made by the Sellers arising out of or in connection with the Escrow or the Escrow Account shall be apportioned between them in the Relevant Proportions.

7. Instructions to Escrow Agents

The Purchaser and the Sellers shall promptly give all necessary written instructions to the Escrow Agents to effect releases from the Escrow Account in accordance with this schedule and the terms of the Escrow Agreement.

8. **Effect of Retention**

8.1 The provisions of the Escrow Agreement and of this agreement relating to the Escrow Sum and the Escrow Account (including the provisions relating to the Estimates) shall not prejudice the rights of the Purchaser to make any Retention Claim or limit the amount of any Retention Claim.

8.2 If any Settled Retention Claim is not satisfied in full from the Escrow Account, that Settled Retention Claim shall, to the extent not so satisfied and subject to the other provisions of this agreement, remain fully enforceable against the Sellers.

9. **No set-off**

Save as required by law, any sum payable to the Sellers from the Retention Account pursuant to this schedule shall be paid in full without any deduction or withholding, and the Purchaser shall not be entitled to assert any credit, set-off or counterclaim against the Sellers in order to justify withholding all or any part of such sum.

SCHEDULE 9: SENIOR EMPLOYEES

[Omitted]

91

Signed as a deed, but not delivered until the)	STUART ANDREW LOMAX
first date specified or	n page 1, by STUART)	
ANDREW LOMAX)	
	_) Signature	/s/ Stuart Andrew Lomax
Witness signature	/s/ Paul Routledge		
Witness name	PAUL ROUTLEDGE		
(block capitals)			
-	DLA PIPER UK LLP		
Witness address	PRINCES EXCHANGE		
	PRINCES SQUARE		
	LEEDS		
	LS1 4BY, UNITED		
	KINGDOM		
•	not delivered until the name appear page 1, by RACHEL ence of:)))) Signature	RACHEL LOMAX /s/ Rachel Lomax
Witness signature	/s/ Paul Routledge		
Witness name	PAUL ROUTLEDGE		
(block capitals)			
	DLA PIPER UK LLP		
Witness address	PRINCES EXCHANGE		
	PRINCES SQUARE		
	LEEDS		
	LS1 4BY, UNITED		
	KINGDOM		

Signed as a deed, but not delivered until the first date specified on page 1, by PAULINE LOMAX acting by her duly authorised attorney STUART ANDREW LOMAX in the presence of:)))	STUART ANDREW LOMAX AS ATTORNEY FOR PAULINE LOMAX					
		Signature	/s/ Stuart Andrew Lomax					
Witness signature	/s/ Paul Routledge							
Witness name	PAUL ROUTLEDGE							
(block capitals)								
	DLA PIPER UK LLP							
Witness address	PRINCES EXCHANGE							
	PRINCES SQUARE							
	LEEDS							
	LS1 4BY, UNITED KINGDOM							
	KINGDOM							
Signed as a deed, bu	nt not delivered until the)	STUART ANDREW LOMAX AS					
	on page 1, by ALAN)	ATTORNEY FOR PAULINE LOMAX					
JOSEPH LOMAX)						
	STUART ANDREW)						
LOMAX in the pres	sence of:							
		Signature .	/s/ Stuart Andrew Lomax					
Witness signature	/s/ Paul Routledge	_						
Witness name	PAUL ROUTLEDGE							
(block capitals)								
	DLA PIPER UK LLP							
Witness address	PRINCES EXCHANGE							
	PRINCES SQUARE	-						
	LEEDS	_						
	LS1 4BY, UNITED	-						
	KINGDOM	_						

first date specified of ANDREW LOMA	ut not delivered until the on page 1, by STUART X in his capacity as Lomax Settlement in the) STUART ANDREW))	LOMAX
Witness signature	/s/ Paul Routledge	Signature /s/ Stuart Andrew Lomax	
Witness name (block capitals)	PAUL ROUTLEDGE		
(broch capitals)	DLA PIPER UK LLP		
Witness address	PRINCES EXCHANGE PRINCES SQUARE LEEDS, LS1 4BY UNITED KINGDOM		
first date specified o	ut not delivered until the on page 1, by RACHEL pacity as trustee of the) RACHEL LOM)	IAX
S&G Lomax Settle	ement in the presence of:)	
Witness signature	/s/ Paul Routledge	Signature /s/ Rachel Lomax	
Witness name (block capitals)	PAUL ROUTLEDGE		
	DLA PIPER UK LLP		
Witness address	PRINCES EXCHANGE		
	PRINCES SQUARE		
	LEEDS, LS1 4BY UNITED KINGDOM		
	OMITED KINGDOM		

first date specified of ANDREW LOMA	ut not delivered until the on page 1, by STUART X in his capacity as omax 1998 Settlement in)))		STUART ANDREW LOMAX
Witness signature	/s/ Paul Routledge		Signature	/s/ Stuart Andrew Lomax
Witness name (block capitals)	PAUL ROUTLEDGE			
(DIOCK Capitals)	DLA PIPER UK LLP			
Witness address	PRINCES EXCHANGE			
	PRINCES SQUARE			
	LEEDS, LS1 4BY UNITED KINGDOM			
Signed as a deed, but not delivered until the first date specified on page 1, by RACHEL LOMAX in her capacity as trustee of the A Lomax 1998 Settlement in the presence of:)))		RACHEL LOMAX
Witness signature	/s/ Paul Routledge		Signature	/s/ Rachel Lomax
Witness name	PAUL ROUTLEDGE			
(block capitals)				
Witness address	DLA PIPER UK LLP PRINCES EXCHANGE			
winiess address	PRINCES EXCHANGE PRINCES SQUARE			
	LEEDS, LS1 4BY			
	UNITED KINGDOM			

by STUART)	STUART ANDREW LOMAX /s/ Stuart Andrew Lomax
Witness signature	/s/ Paul Routledge		
Witness name (block capitals)	PAUL ROUTLEDGE		
	DLA PIPER UK LLP		
Witness address	PRINCES EXCHANGE		
	PRINCES SQUARE LEEDS, LS1 4BY		
	UNITED KINGDOM		
by RACHEL LOM	nt not delivered until the first date specified on page 1, (AX in her capacity as trustee of the A Lomax ent in the presence of:)	RACHEL LOMAX /s/ Rachel Lomax
Witness signature	/s/ Paul Routledge		
Witness name (block capitals)	PAUL ROUTLEDGE		
()	DLA PIPER UK LLP		
Witness address	PRINCES EXCHANGE		
	PRINCES SQUARE		
	LEEDS, LS1 4BY UNITED KINGDOM		

Executed as a deed, but not delivered until the)		CHARLES L. RESCORLA
first date specified on page 1, on behalf of)		
GRACO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS)		
S.A.R.L, a company incorporated in Grand-)		
Duchy of Luxembourg, by CHARLES L.)		
RESCORLA , being a person who, in)		
accordance with the laws of that territory, is)		
acting under the authority of the company:)		
)	Signature	/s/ Charles L. Rescorla
	,	J	Authorised signatory
WITNESSED BY: /s/ Melanie Wadsworth			g ,
MELANIE WADSWORTH, SOLICITOR			
7 PILGRIM STREET, LONDON			

CERTIFICATION

I, Patrick J. McHale, certify that:

- I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Graco Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
- a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
- Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
- c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
- d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors:
- All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
- b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date:	October 22, 2014	/s/ Patrick J. McHale
		Patrick J. McHale
		President and Chief Executive Officer

CERTIFICATION

I, James A. Graner, certify that:

- I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Graco Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
- a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
- Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
- Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
- d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors:
- a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
- b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: October 22, 2014	/s/ James A. Graner
	James A. Graner
	Chief Financial Officer

CERTIFICATION UNDER SECTION 1350

Pursuant to Section 1350 of Title 18 of the United States Code, each of the undersigned certifies that this periodic report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in this periodic report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Graco Inc.

Date: October 22, 2014 /s/ Patrick J. McHale

Patrick J. McHale

President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: October 22, 2014 /s/ James A. Graner

James A. Graner Chief Financial Officer **News Release**

P.O. Box 1441 Minneapolis, MN 55440-1441 NYSE: GGG

GRACO INC.



FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE: Wednesday, October 22, 2014

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION:

Financial Contact: James A. Graner (612) 623-6635 Media Contact: Bryce Hallowell (612) 623-6679 bhallowell@graco.com

Graco Reports Record Third Quarter Sales and Earnings Operating Earnings for Quarter Up 13 Percent on 9 Percent Sales Growth

MINNEAPOLIS, MN (October 22, 2014) - Graco Inc. (NYSE: GGG) today announced results for the quarter and nine months ended September 26, 2014.

Summary

\$ in millions except per share amounts

		Thirteen Weeks Ended					Thirty-nine Weeks Ended					
	Sep 26, 2014		Sep 27, 2013		% Change	Sep 26, 2014		Sep 27, 2013		% Change		
Net Sales	\$	302.6	\$	277.0	9 %	\$	915.1	\$	832.1	10 %		
Operating Earnings		78.9		69.7	13 %		239.5		216.4	11 %		
Net Earnings		59.6		56.1	6 %		176.5		166.1	6 %		
Diluted Net Earnings per Common Share	\$	0.97	\$	0.89	9 %	\$	2.85	\$	2.65	8 %		

- Sales increased in all reportable segments and regions for both the quarter and the year-to-date.
- Gross margin rate for the quarter was up slightly from last year. Year-to-date gross margin rate was slightly lower than last year due to purchase accounting, lower margins from acquired operations and changes in product mix.
- Operating earnings for the guarter increased 13 percent on a 9 percent increase in sales.
- Effective income tax rates were higher than last year, reflecting the federal R&D credit in 2013 that was not renewed for 2014 and additional benefit from U.S. business credits in 2013.
- In the first 9 months of the year, the Company returned \$142 million to investors through Company stock repurchases, acquired a business for \$65 million and paid dividends of \$50 million.
- In October, subsequent to third quarter-end, the Company announced:
 - The acquisition of Alco Valves Group, a U.K. based manufacturer of high quality, high pressure valves used in the oil and natural gas industry, for £72 million cash.
 - A final order from the FTC to divest Liquid Finishing business assets that were acquired in 2012.
 - A definitive agreement to sell its investment in Liquid Finishing businesses for \$590 million cash, subject to regulatory approval and other customary closing conditions.

"Growth in all regions and reportable segments led to Graco's thirteenth consecutive quarter of achieving record quarterly sales," said Patrick J. McHale, Graco's President and CEO. "Our strongest performing region remains the Americas, both for the quarter and year-to-date, driven by double-digit organic sales growth in the Contractor and Lubrication segments. In Asia Pacific, double-digit quarterly sales growth from the Industrial segment pushed the region to positive growth year-to-date. While the EMEA region posted organic growth in the low single digits in the third quarter, the pace of growth has slowed from the first half of the year, reflecting softening macroeconomic conditions in the region as well as geopolitical concerns."

Page 2 GRACO

Consolidated Results

Sales for the quarter increased 9 percent, including increases of 12 percent in the Americas, 4 percent in EMEA (3 percent at consistent translation rates) and 7 percent in Asia Pacific (6 percent at consistent translation rates). Year-to-date sales increased 10 percent, including increases of 14 percent in the Americas, 8 percent in EMEA (5 percent at consistent translation rates) and 2 percent in Asia Pacific. Sales from operations acquired in the fourth quarter of 2013 and the first quarter of 2014 totaled \$9 million for the quarter and \$26 million year-to-date, contributing 3 percentage points of growth in each of those periods.

Gross profit margin rate for the quarter was 55 percent, up slightly from the comparable period last year. Year-to-date gross margin rate was also 55 percent, slightly lower than last year due to the effects of purchase accounting, lower margins from acquired operations and changes in product mix.

Total operating expenses for the quarter were \$6 million (7 percent) higher than third quarter last year. Year-to-date operating expenses were \$19 million (8 percent) higher than last year. Increases for both the quarter and year-to-date are mostly due to expenses of acquired operations and spending on regional and product growth initiatives. As a percentage of sales, total operating expenses for both the quarter and year-to-date were down by one-half percentage point compared to comparable periods of last year.

Other expense (income) included dividends received from the Liquid Finishing businesses that are held separate from the Company's other businesses. Such dividends totaled \$9 million for the quarter and \$24 million year-to-date, consistent with the comparable periods of last year.

The effective income tax rate of 28 percent for the quarter was 4 percentage points higher than the comparable period last year. The increase resulted from the impacts of the federal R&D credit that was not renewed for 2014 and the additional benefit from U.S. business credits in 2013. The effective year-to-date income tax rate of 29 percent was 2 percentage points higher than last year. Last year's rate included the favorable impact of the R&D credit that was renewed in 2013 retroactive to the beginning of 2012.

Segment Results

Certain measurements of segment operations are summarized below:

	Thirteen Weeks				Thirty-nine Weeks							
	Industrial		Contractor		Lubrication		Industrial		Contractor		Lubrication	
Net sales (in millions)	\$	174.3	\$	99.4	\$	28.9	\$	532.4	\$	295.4	\$	87.2
Percentage change from last year												
Sales		11 %		7 %		6 %		11 %		10 %		6 %
Operating earnings		11 %		9 %		16 %		7 %		12 %		15 %
Operating earnings as a percentage of sales												
2014		32 %		23 %		22 %		32 %		24 %		23 %
2013		32 %		23 %		20 %		33 %		23 %		21 %

Page 3 GRACO

Industrial segment sales for the quarter increased 11 percent, with increases of 14 percent in the Americas, 5 percent in EMEA (3 percent at consistent translation rates) and 15 percent in Asia Pacific. Year-to-date sales increased 11 percent, with increases of 17 percent in the Americas, 8 percent in EMEA (5 percent at consistent translation rates) and 4 percent in Asia Pacific. Results for 2014 included the operations of QED Environmental Systems, acquired at the beginning of fiscal 2014, and EcoQuip, acquired at the end of fiscal 2013. Acquired operations contributed \$9 million to sales in this segment for the quarter and \$26 million year-to-date (6 percentage points of growth for the quarter and 5 percentage points for the year-to-date). Year-to-date operations margin rate for the Industrial segment decreased slightly compared to last year due to lower margins on acquired operations, including the impact of non-recurring acquisition-related inventory valuation adjustments, and other investments in regional and product expansion.

Contractor segment sales for the quarter increased 7 percent, primarily from increases in the Americas. Year-to-date sales increased 10 percent with increases in the Americas and EMEA. Year-to-date operating margin rate in the Contractor segment was slightly higher than the rate last year. The favorable effects of higher sales volume and expense leverage were partially offset by unfavorable effects of product mix.

Lubrication segment sales increased 6 percent for both the quarter and year-to-date, mostly from increases in the Americas. Higher sales volume, improved gross margin rate and expense leverage led to a higher year-to-date operating margin rate in the Lubrication segment.

Subsequent Events

In April 2012, the Company completed the purchase of the finishing businesses of Illinois Tool Works Inc. The acquisition included Powder Finishing and Liquid Finishing equipment operations, technologies and brands. Results of the Powder Finishing business have been included in the Industrial segment since the date of acquisition. Pursuant to a March 2012 order, the Liquid Finishing businesses were to be held separate from the rest of Graco's businesses while the United States Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") considered a settlement with Graco and determined which portions of the Liquid Finishing business Graco must divest.

Subsequent to the end of the third quarter, the FTC approved a final decision and order that became effective on October 9, 2014. Pursuant to the final order, Graco must sell the Liquid Finishing business assets within 180 days of the effective date. Graco will continue to hold the Liquid Finishing businesses separate and maintain them as viable and competitive until a sale process is complete. The Liquid Finishing business assets are held as a cost-method investment on Graco's balance sheet, and income is recognized based on dividends received from current earnings. Once the Company completes the sale of its investment, there will be no further dividends from Liquid Finishing.

On October 8, 2014, the Company announced it had signed a definitive agreement to sell the Liquid Finishing business assets for \$590 million cash, subject to regulatory approval and other customary closing conditions. The sale transaction is expected to close no later than the first quarter of 2015, in compliance with the FTC's final decision and order.

On October 1, 2014, the Company acquired the stock of Alco Valves Group (Alco) for £72 million cash, subject to normal postclosing purchase price adjustments. Alco is a United Kingdom (U.K.) based manufacturer of high quality, high pressure valves used in the oil and natural gas industry and in other industrial processes. Alco's products and business relationships will enhance Graco's position in the oil and natural gas industry and complement Graco's core competencies of designing and manufacturing advanced flow control technologies. Alco revenues for the most recent trailing twelve months were approximately £19 million. Results of Alco operations will be included in the Company's Industrial segment starting from the date of acquisition.

Page 4 GRACO

Outlook

"We expect mid-single digit organic growth in the fourth quarter, consistent with the second half outlook announced previously" said Mr. McHale. "With the benefit of the three acquisitions that Graco has closed in the last year, including Alco Valves that was acquired in October, total company sales should grow at a double-digit pace in the final quarter of the year. We remain positive on the U.S. housing market and the U.S. economy, while macroeconomic conditions, ongoing geopolitical concerns and currency are expected to be a headwind in the EMEA region."

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The Company desires to take advantage of the "safe harbor" provisions regarding forward-looking statements of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and is filing this Cautionary Statement in order to do so. From time to time various forms filed by our Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including our Form 10-K, our Form 10-Qs and Form 8-Ks, and other disclosures, including our 2013 Overview report, press releases, earnings releases, analyst briefings, conference calls and other written documents or oral statements released by our Company, may contain forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements generally use words such as "expect," "foresee," "anticipate," "believe," "project," "should," "estimate," "will," and similar expressions, and reflect our Company's expectations concerning the future. All forecasts and projections are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are based upon currently available information, but various risks and uncertainties may cause our Company's actual results to differ materially from those expressed in these statements. The Company undertakes no obligation to update these statements in light of new information or future events.

Future results could differ materially from those expressed, due to the impact of changes in various factors. These risk factors include, but are not limited to: changes in laws and regulations; economic conditions in the United States and other major world economies; our Company's growth strategies, which include making acquisitions, investing in new products, expanding geographically and targeting new industries; whether we are able to effectively and timely complete a divestiture of the acquired Liquid Finishing businesses, which has not been completed and remains subject to FTC approval; political instability; new entrants who copy our products or infringe on our intellectual property; supply interruptions or delays; risks incident to conducting business internationally; the ability to meet our customers' needs and changes in product demand; results of and costs associated with, litigation, administrative proceedings and regulatory reviews incident to our business; compliance with anti-corruption laws; the possibility of decline in purchases from few large customers of the Contractor segment; variations in activity in the construction and automotive industries; security breaches and natural disasters. Please refer to Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year 2013 (and most recent Form 10-Q) for a more comprehensive discussion of these and other risk factors. These reports are available on the Company's website at www.sec.gov. Shareholders, potential investors and other readers are urged to consider these factors in evaluating forward-looking statements and are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.

Investors should realize that factors other than those identified above and in Item 1A might prove important to the Company's future results. It is not possible for management to identify each and every factor that may have an impact on the Company's operations in the future as new factors can develop from time to time.

Page 5 GRACO

Conference Call

Graco management will hold a conference call, including slides via webcast, with analysts and institutional investors on Thursday, October 23, 2014, at 10:00 a.m. CT, 11:00 a.m. ET, to discuss Graco's third quarter results.

A real-time webcast of the conference call will be broadcast live over the Internet. Individuals wanting to listen and view slides can access the call at the Company's website at www.graco.com/ir. Listeners should go to the website at least 15 minutes prior to the live conference call to install any necessary audio software.

For those unable to listen to the live event, a replay will be available soon after the conference call at Graco's website, or by telephone beginning at approximately 1:00 p.m. CT on October 23, 2014, by dialing 888-203-1112, Conference ID #9078737, if calling within the U.S. or Canada. The dial-in number for international participants is 719-457-0820, with the same Conference ID #. The replay by telephone will be available through October 27, 2014.

Graco Inc. supplies technology and expertise for the management of fluids and coatings in both industrial and commercial applications. It designs, manufactures and markets systems and equipment to move, measure, control, dispense and spray fluid and powder materials. A recognized leader in its specialties, Minneapolis-based Graco serves customers around the world in the manufacturing, processing, construction and maintenance industries. For additional information about Graco Inc., please visit us at www.graco.com/ir.

Total

GRACO INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES Consolidated Statement of Earnings (Unaudited)

		Thirteen W	eeks E		Thirty-nine Weeks Ended				
(in thousands, except per share amounts)		Sep 26, Sep 27				Sep 26,	Sep 27,		
		2014 2013		2013	2014			2013	
Net Sales	\$	302,614	\$	277,035	\$	915,125	\$	832,101	
Cost of products sold		136,800		126,162		413,149		371,845	
Gross Profit		165,814		150,873		501,976		460,256	
Product development		13,785		12,508		40,349		37,396	
Selling, marketing and distribution		47,466		44,297		143,311		132,207	
General and administrative		25,656		24,342		78,856		74,213	
Operating Earnings		78,907		69,726		239,460		216,440	
Interest expense		4,566		4,450		13,830		13,837	
Other expense (income), net		(8,210)		(8,425)		(22,402)		(23,671)	
Earnings Before Income Taxes		82,551		73,701		248,032		226,274	
Income taxes		23,000		17,600		71,500		60,200	
Net Earnings	\$	59,551	\$	56,101	\$	176,532	\$	166,074	
Net Earnings per Common Share									
Basic	\$	0.99	\$	0.91	\$	2.92	\$	2.71	
Diluted	\$	0.97	\$	0.89	\$	2.85	\$	2.65	
Weighted Average Number of Shares									
Basic		59,928		61,333		60,401		61,222	
Diluted		61,542		62,996		62,003		62,748	
Segm	ent Informa	ation (Unau	dited)						
		Thirteen W	eeks E	Ended	Thirty-nine Weeks Ended				
		Sep 26,	(Sep 27,		Sep 26,	Sep 27,		
		2014		2013		2014		2013	
Net Sales									
Industrial	\$	174,251	\$	156,654	\$	532,440	\$	480,500	
Contractor		99,414		92,942		295,441		269,068	
Lubrication		28,949		27,439		87,244		82,533	
Total	<u>\$</u>	302,614	\$	277,035	\$	915,125	\$	832,101	
Operating Earnings									
Industrial	\$	54,959	\$	49,429	\$	167,737	\$	156,178	
Contractor		23,358		21,459		69,897		62,370	
Lubrication		6,369		5,497		19,803		17,285	
Unallocated corporate (expense)		(5,779)		(6,659)		(17,977 <u>)</u>		(19,393)	

All figures are subject to audit and adjustment at the end of the fiscal year.

The consolidated Balance Sheets, Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and Management's Discussion and Analysis are available in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q on our website at www.graco.com/ir.

78,907

69,726

239,460

216,440